# Evaluation of the Pan American Health Organization Response to COVID-19 2020–2022

**Volume I** Final Report





World Health Organization

# **Evaluation of the Pan American Health Organization Response to COVID-19** 2020-2022

Volume I Final Report

Washington, D.C., 2023





Evaluation of the Pan American Health Organization Response to COVID-19 2020–2022. Volume I. Final Report ISBN: 978-92-75-12742-1 (PDF) ISBN: 978-92-75-12743-8 (Print version)

© Pan American Health Organization, 2023

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO license (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO).



Under the terms of this license, this work may be copied, redistributed, and adapted for non-commercial purposes, provided the new work is issued using the same or equivalent Creative Commons license and it is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO) endorses any specific organization, product, or service. Use of the PAHO logo is not permitted.

**Adaptations:** If this work is adapted, the following disclaimer should be added along with the suggested citation: "This is an adaptation of an original work by the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO). Views and opinions expressed in the adaptation are the sole responsibility of the author(s) of the adaptation and are not endorsed by PAHO."

**Translations:** If this work is translated, the following disclaimer should be added along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO). PAHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation."

**Suggested citation:** Pan American Health Organization. Evaluation of the Pan American Health Organization Response to COVID-19 2020–2022. Volume I. Final Report. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2023. Available from: https://doi.org/10.37774/9789275127421.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data: Available at http://iris.paho.org.

**Sales, rights, and licensing:** To purchase PAHO publications, email: sales@paho.org. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, visit: https://www.paho.org/en/publications/permissions-and-licensing.

**Third-party materials:** If material that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures, or images, is reused from this work, it is the user's responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned material or component from this work rests solely with the user.

**General disclaimers:** The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of PAHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city, or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by PAHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by PAHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall PAHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

The opinions expressed in this report are those of the external evaluation team and do not necessarily reflect those of the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO). Responsibility for the opinions expressed in this report rests solely with the authors. Publication of this document and the opinions expressed within does not imply endorsement by PAHO.

PBE/2023

Design: Prographics Cover images: © Shutterstock Photos: © PAHO

### Contents

Ac	knov	vledgments	V		
Ac	ronyı	ms and abbreviations	vi		
Ex	ecuti	ve summary	x		
1.	. Background				
	1.1	Context			
	1.2	Purpose, scope, and objectives of the evaluation	5		
	1.3	Methodology, limitations, and ethical considerations	6		
2.	Evaluation findings		10		
	2.1	Relevance and coherence	10		
	2.2	Effectiveness	24		
	2.3	Efficiency	44		
	2.4	Coordination	55		
	2.5	Sustainability	60		
	2.6	Added value	65		
	2.7	Lessons learned	69		
3.	Conclusions		72		
4.	Rec	Recommendations 79			
Re	References 84				

#### **Figures**

1.	Pandemic response in a challenging context from December 2019 to October 2022	.3
2.	Extent to which PAHO supported Member States to define needs and priorities to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic (perceptions of PAHO personnel)	13
3.	Perceptions of PAHO personnel regarding the level of PAHO assistance provided across its areas of cooperation (cooperation modalities)	20
4.	PAHO's performance during different stages of the pandemic	
5.	Extent to which PAHO cooperation areas have the potential to strengthen health systems beyond the COVID-19 pandemic	28
6.	Breakdown of PAHO expenses, differentiating Program Budget and procurement on behalf of Member State expenses (2018–2021)	48
7.	Extent to which PAHO coordinated its response well to ensure timely and cost-effective response and avoid duplications	56
8.	Perceptions of PAHO personnel regarding Member States adoption of PAHO's recommendations	52
9.	Perceptions of PAHO personnel regarding the level of PAHO assistance during the COVID-19 pandemic to help achieve equitable, resilient, and sustainable health systems	54
10.	PAHO's unique contributions during the response to the COVID-19 pandemic6	57
11.	Actions that have made a difference to Member States through PAHO technical support	58
Tables		
1.	Summary of what worked well and less well in PAHO's response	36
2.	Summary of facilitating and hindering factors of PAHO's response	14
3.	Coordination and transformation of selected partnerships during the pandemic response	57

## Acknowledgments

The external evaluation team is grateful for the management by the Department of Planning, Budget and Evaluation, the Evaluation Reference Group, the EPRC senior advisors, and Pan American Health Organization personnel from Headquarters, country offices, and suboffices who contributed their time and advice. We also acknowledge the participation in this evaluation of ministries of health, national counterparts, partners, donors, United Nations agencies, nongovernmental organizations, and other key stakeholders who shared their insights with the evaluation team.

The report was prepared by: Enric Grau, Team Leader; Robina Shaheen, Co-Team Leader (Quality Assurance/Methodologist); Héctor Gómez Dantés, Senior Evaluation and Subject Specialist; Juan Pablo Sarmiento, Senior Evaluation and Subject Specialist; Ximena Aguilera, Senior Evaluation and Subject Specialist (part of the external evaluation team until 5 September 2022); Elvira Carrió, Research Assistant; Michelle Ferreira Brito, Research Assistant; and Luisa Toro-Alzate, Research Assistant.

Independent senior public health advisors: Ronald St. John, Senior Public Health Advisor; and Marceline Dahl-Regis, Senior Public Health Advisor. Supported by: Rony Maza, Director, Department of Planning, Budget, and Evaluation (PBE); Roberto La Rovere, Senior Advisor, Evaluation, PBE, EPRC Evaluation Manager, and internal Quality Assurance and Coordination. PBE senior consultants: Guillermo Mendoza, Public Health and Evaluation Senior Advisor, Consultant; Maria Kobbe, Senior Evaluation Consultant.

PBE administrative assistants team: Deborah Radcliffe, Maevy Glaeser, Francia Betanzos, Administrative Assistants.

# Acronyms and abbreviations

ACT	access to COVID-19 tools
Ag-RDT	antigen-based rapid detection test
AIDS	acquired immune deficiency syndrome
AMC	advance market commitment
Aol	area of inquiry
CAM	Central America
СО	country office
COVAX	COVID-19 Vaccines Global Access
COVID-19	coronavirus disease 2019
CSO	civil society organization
CRB	Caribbean
DAC	development assistance committee
ECLAC	Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean
EGC	equity, gender, and cultural diversity
EMT	emergency medical team
EOC	emergency operations center
EPRC	evaluation of PAHO's response to COVID-19
ERC	ethical review committee
ERG	evaluation reference group
ERP	enterprise resource planning solution
ET	evaluation team
GDP	gross domestic product
HIC	high-income country
HIV	human immunodeficiency virus
HQ	headquarters
HR	human resource
HRH	human resources for health
HSS	health systems and services
ICU	intensive care unit
IHR	International Health Regulations
IMS	incident management system
IMST	incident management support team

IOM	International Organization for Migration
IPC	infection prevention and control
LAC	Latin America and the Caribbean
LGBTQ+	lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer+
LMICs	low- and middle-income countries
MCIF	master capital investment fund
МоН	ministry of health
mpox	monkeypox
MS	Member State
NAM	North America
NAP	national action plan
NCD	noncommunicable disease
NGO	nongovernmental organization
NGS	next-generation sequencing
NHP	national health plan
NIC	National Influenza Center
NID	neglected infectious disease
NIP	national immunization program
NPHL	national public health laboratory
NPI	nonpharmaceutical intervention
NRP	national response plan
NVDP	national vaccine deployment plan
OAS	Organization of American States
OCR	outbreak and crisis response
OECD	Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development
ООР	out-of-pocket
PAHO	Pan American Health Organization
PASB	Pan American Sanitary Bureau
PBE	PAHO's Department of Planning, Budget, and Evaluation
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PHAC	Public Health Agency of Canada
PHE	PAHO's Department of Health Emergencies
PHEIC	public health emergency of international concern
PPE	personal protective equipment
PWR	PAHO-WHO representative
RRF	Regional Revolving Funds
SAM	South America

SARS-CoV-2	severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2
SERP	socioeconomic response plan
SPRP	Strategic Preparedness and Response Plan
UHC	universal health coverage
UNCT	United Nations country team
UNDP	United Nations Development Programme
UNEG	United Nations Evaluation Group
UNETT	United Nations Emergency Technical Team
UNHCR	United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees
UNHRD	United Nations Humanitarian Response Depot
UNICEF	United Nations Children's Fund
USAID	United States Agency for International Development
VCPH	Virtual Campus for Public Health
VIRAT	vaccine introduction readiness assessment tool
VOC	variants of concern
WASH	water, sanitation, and hygiene
WFP	World Food Programme
WHO	World Health Organization



# **Executive summary**

#### Background

#### Overview of the impact of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) in the Americas

The Americas was one of the regions most affected by COVID-19. As of 25 October 2022, severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) has infected over 624 235 272 people and caused 6 555 270 deaths worldwide. Of these, 28.7% of infected cases (179 348 497 people) and 43.4% of deaths (2 848 030 people) occurred in the Americas. The United States of America, Brazil, Mexico, and Peru were among the top 10 countries in the world with the highest COVID-19-related deaths and the highest number of cumulative cases (United States 53.2%, Brazil 19.3%, and Argentina 5.38%). Most deaths occurred in the United States (36.92%), Brazil (23.96%), and Mexico (11.51%). These three countries are also the most populated in the Region.

The COVID-19 pandemic had an important demographic impact in Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC), with a loss of 3 years of life expectancy at birth (from 75.1 years in 2019 to 72.1 years in 2021). Central America was the subregion with the greatest loss in life expectancy, with 3.6 years. This demographic impact makes the Americas the region of the world that lost the most years of life expectancy due to the pandemic.

Health systems and health workers were under enormous pressure and were not prepared for the prolonged crisis caused by COVID-19. The Americas had the highest percentage of essential health services disrupted (55% average of health services disrupted in 27 countries compared to 28% in 23 countries in Europe), and the biggest disruption was in primary care services (70%).

#### Overview of the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO) response to COVID-19

By mid-January 2020, the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO) activated an Organization-wide response to support all its Member States in accordance with the World Health Organization (WHO) COVID-19 Strategic Preparedness and Response Plan (SPRP). On 5 March 2020, PAHO launched its COVID-19 Response Strategy and Donor Appeal to support COVID-19 preparedness and response efforts in the Americas, followed by its Regional COVID-19 Response Strategy (2021). PAHO's COVID-19 Response Strategy was regularly updated to reflect the evolution of the pandemic and changes in regional needs. The SPRP was initially structured around nine pillars, but this was revised in 2021 to include Pillar 10 (vaccination). In 2022, the updated response plan set out the actions needed to end the pandemic in the Region.

#### Purpose, scope, and objectives of the evaluation

The purpose of this evaluation was to provide an objective and independent assessment of PAHO's overall performance, in terms of its preparedness for and response to the COVID-19 pandemic from January 2020 to August 2022. It was intended to serve both as an accountability and organizational learning function. The evaluation included the response operations undertaken by the entire

Organization across its four subregions – the Caribbean (CRB), Central America (CAM), South America (SAM), and North America (NAM) – and all 35 Member States.

This was a strategic rather than a technical evaluation; therefore, it did not evaluate PAHO's specific departments, units, or programs. The evaluation assessed the overall performance of the Organization during the COVID-19 pandemic and used cases, situations, and examples to illustrate the findings. However, and relatedly, this was not a technical evaluation of the 10 pillars of the COVID-19 SPRP and the large number of actions implemented in support of Member States. The evaluation focused on PAHO as an organization, and it did not assess Member States' responses to the pandemic.

#### **Evaluation criteria and questions**

The evaluation questions were structured according to evaluation criteria based on PAHO's 2021 Evaluation Policy and in line with the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) Development Assistance Committee (DAC) evaluation criteria. The evaluation assessed PAHO's COVID-19 response in terms of its relevance, effectiveness, coherence, coordination, efficiency, and sustainability. The analysis of PAHO's added value was also incorporated into the analytical framework to reinforce the strategic level of analysis and identify areas where PAHO's support to Member States made a difference.

#### Methodology

The evaluation design combined two major areas of inquiry (Aol). The first Aol corresponded to the assessment of PAHO's efforts in working with Member States and partners to attenuate the effect of the pandemic. The second Aol aimed to assess PAHO's internal adaptive capacity to operate within a pandemic. The evaluation also assessed internal perceptions about PAHO's performance (PAHO personnel). In addition, the evaluation considered three different (but interrelated) levels of analysis: strategic, operational, and organizational.

The evaluation used mixed methods to collect data from multiple sources, using desk review (about 100 documents), semi-structured key informant interviews (112), and online surveys with PAHO personnel (1363 females and 927 males). Finally, an in-depth country/subregion analysis was conducted in six country offices (Barbados, Brazil, Guatemala, Haiti, Mexico, and Peru), Panama's regional logistic hub, and Barbados as a subregional office.

#### Limitations

The most significant limitation was the short timeline to complete the evaluation, given its large scope. Other challenges included government and PAHO personnel turnover; timely availability of key informants; ongoing operational pressure due to mpox and polio outbreaks; difficulties in gaining access to personnel within ministries of health (MoH); and the absence of a specific organizational emergency response monitoring framework to the COVID-19 pandemic. The evaluation team was only able to interview one key informant from WHO, which affected the evaluation team's understanding of WHO's views.

#### **Ethical considerations**

The evaluation team followed PAHO rules and regulations and the United Nations Evaluation Group's (UNEG) Ethical Guidelines for Evaluation (2020) to fulfill obligations to respondents participating in this

evaluation. In particular, the evaluation adhered to relevant ethical considerations. The data collection instruments underwent review and clearance by PAHO's Ethical Review Committee (ERC) prior to their use.

#### **Key findings**

#### **Relevance and coherence**

Alignment with national response plans (NRPs). PAHO's mandate, close collaboration with most of the MoHs in the Region, experience and technical expertise in emergency preparedness and response, early activation of the Incident Management System (IMS), and integration into national emergency operations centers ensured alignment with national response and vaccination plans.

Determination of needs. The needs generated by the pandemic were determined using routine health information systems, ad hoc research, surveys, and epidemiological predictive modeling in close coordination between MoHs and PAHO. However, the lack of quality and disaggregated indicators needed for targeted and effective priority-setting hindered a more accurate assessment of national needs. As the pandemic evolved, recommendations from international bodies, improved knowledge of the virus and its behavior, greater availability of epidemiological data, and more precise information about the socioeconomic impact of COVID-19 provided more robust data to facilitate decisionmaking and prioritize actions. PAHO's participation in the national emergency operations centers and preparation of the PAHO-supported country readiness assessments were instrumental in providing an initial estimation of needs and an indication of national capacities required for the response. PAHO also supported needs assessments and country readiness for COVID-19 National Vaccination Deployment Plans (NVDPs).

Equity in Member States' national responses. PAHO planned for an equitable response and advocated for actions aimed at reducing barriers to access for vulnerable groups or underserved areas, and for distributing COVID-19 vaccination to those most in need. However, PAHO's advocacy and actions to ensure an equitable response were challenged by the overwhelming health situation, the protracted inequities in the Region, and the limited access to resources, especially vaccines.

Relevance of cooperation modalities. The cooperation modality that ranked highest in terms of relevance was technical assistance, and its quality has been acknowledged by external informants. Logistics and supply chain, and then education and training, were part of the highest-ranked cooperation modalities. In contrast, South–South and triangular cooperation was ranked lowest, which probably reflects the dilution of regional solidarity and cooperation during the pandemic.

**PAHO** adaptation. PAHO adapted its response at programmatic and organizational levels during the various phases of the response. This enabled the Organization to operate in an unprecedented context with evolving health challenges and urgent emerging needs.

At the programmatic level, considerable restructuring of most health programs was needed, including reallocation of human resources, new approaches to risk communication, and innovative vaccination strategies. At the organizational level, the IMS was activated, its structure progressively adapted, and

PAHO personnel had to assume new (and additional) roles. The Virtual Campus for Public Health (VCPH) was expanded to also train PAHO personnel. New relations were established with donors, and new partnerships were formed. The digital transformation was accelerated, and some internal procedures were changed.

#### Effectiveness

PAHO's most and least effective activities. PAHO adjusted its response as the pandemic evolved in the Region and implemented actions to support the MoHs in all pillars of the COVID-19 SPRP, although with varying intensity and in consideration of the national contexts and resources allocated to each pillar. PAHO personnel had a largely positive view of PAHO's performance during the pandemic. However, opinions varied across national counterparts and partners regarding key aspects of PAHO's performance (e.g., administrative, logistical, decisionmaking delays, operational capacity at country level, policy dialogue, communication management, reporting).

The most highly rated pillars of PAHO's COVID-19 SPRP were: (i) vaccination; (ii) operation support, logistics, and supply chains; (iii) coordination, planning, financing, and monitoring; (iv) surveillance, rapid response teams, and case investigation; and (v) infection prevention and control, and protection of health workforce. External stakeholders were, however, critical about vaccination due to the difficulties experienced in getting timely and widespread access to the COVID-19 vaccine.

The COVID-19 SPRP monitoring framework was primarily intended to support the monitoring of national response actions; enable aggregation at subregional, regional, and global levels; and inform analysis and decisionmaking. However, it was not intended to be used to assess PAHO's performance in the Organization's role of providing technical support to countries.

There is broad recognition of PAHO's work in supporting government counterparts, including MoHs, to develop national crisis management plans and emergency response mechanisms. One of the most successful activities implemented by PAHO was the immediate actions taken to strengthen the regional capacity of surveillance systems and adopt innovative tools for outbreak investigation.

Health authorities implemented risk communication campaigns to disseminate accessible and reliable information on COVID-19 and public health advice on how to protect from the virus with PAHO's support. PAHO provided support and guidance to prepare the COVID-19 NVDPs and strategies related to financing the procurement of vaccines, although the delays and unpredictability of vaccine procurement impacted the relationships between PAHO and some MoHs.

Internal and external factors affecting PAHO's response. Internally, PAHO's response to COVID-19 was affected by the critical financial and human resource situation, and the shortcomings in communication between PAHO Headquarters (HQ) and country offices (COs). PAHO's personnel contracting policy during the pandemic limited operational response capacity in some COs and led to PAHO's personnel assuming new and additional roles. More broadly, factors that affected PAHO's capacity to respond in key areas included the excessive centralization of decisions in Geneva (WHO), and the dependence on COVID-19 Vaccines Global Access (COVAX) for vaccine purchase and distribution.

Major external challenges in responding to COVID-19 included the politicization of the response, the infodemic, the heterogeneous health systems (making it difficult to implement a unique strategy suited to the Region's diverse needs and national capabilities), and low International Health Regulations (IHR) compliance. In terms of logistics, the disruption of supply chains delayed and made the procurement of medical supplies more complex and expensive.

In addition to the pandemic, PAHO had to confront overlapping natural disasters and support health systems suffering from chronic underfunding and understaffing of health professionals. At country level, it was challenging for Member States to adhere to PAHO's recommendations due to insufficient financing, inadequate equipment, and lack of medical and specialized personnel trained for emergencies, especially for those countries coping with concurrent crises.

#### Efficiency

Repurposing. PAHO made remarkable efforts and took exceptional measures to repurpose resources, organizational structures, and key processes to be able to respond to the pandemic, especially given its weak financial situation at the onset of the pandemic. PAHO simplified and expedited some administrative and financial processes, as well as developed new ones, balancing flexibility with control mechanisms to ensure accountability.

Despite efforts made at all levels within PAHO, the resource constraints during the first year of the pandemic resulting from the nonpayment of quota contributions from some Member States and internal bureaucracy (complicated or unsuitable administrative procedures) left the Organization in a dichotomy of the "want to do" (will) and the "be able to do" (resources).

PAHO's institutional response, the activation of the IMS, and the adaptation and innovation in procurement processes were timely, but response in other operational areas was generally perceived to be slow or insufficiently adapted to a large-scale crisis. Administrative rigidity affected the efficiency of service delivery to Member States and resulted in missed funding opportunities, dissatisfaction among some donors and partners, difficulties in recruitment of personnel, and delays in signing agreements. In addition, the dual management through COVAX and bilateral agreements added complexity to procurement.

PAHO's ability to rapidly mobilize support. PAHO's unique and specialized regional mandate was in itself a key factor for obtaining financial, political, and institutional support. The strategic relations between the United States, Canada, and PAHO were key in mobilizing technical cooperation, obtaining financial resources, providing technical expertise, and donating vaccines to other MoHs in the Region (once domestic needs were covered). In addition, PAHO's funds and logistical capabilities attracted the interest of donors and partners. With additional COVID-19-related funding, PAHO's procurement function significantly evolved to play a strategic role within the Organization and provide critical support to Member States.

PAHO's regular programs were affected during the pandemic by operational, human resource, and financial constraints. Internally, PAHO personnel from regular programs were assigned to support the pandemic response.



Health and well-being of PAHO's personnel and continuity of operations. There is broad recognition that PAHO's achievements during the pandemic were due to the commitment and professionalism of its personnel, although at a high personal cost. PAHO expanded its employee assistance program, including its counseling services and its existing remote working modality, as part of the duty-of-care policy.

Teleworking did not negatively impact work productivity, but it had an impact on PAHO personnel's ability to deliver technical cooperation and interact with some national counterparts. Achieving a satisfactory work–life balance while working from home was challenging for PAHO personnel. There was a significant increase in workload, and many worked long hours, especially during the first year of the pandemic. The hiring of personnel was initially frozen (due to existing cost-containment measures), and the measures provided by PAHO to support health and well-being were neither available to all personnel nor adequate to support their mental health and well-being.

#### Coordination

Overall, PAHO's coordination role within United Nations Country Teams (UNCTs) was considered to be useful. In particular, the joint work through the United Nations Humanitarian Response Depot (UNHRD)

in Panama significantly reinforced regional logistical and distribution capacities. In addition, PAHO contributed to setting up roundtable discussions with donors and providing guidance to the Member States on funding and support opportunities. PAHO worked with existing partners during the response to COVID-19, considering their experience and regional and national capabilities, and established new partnerships with more and different types of organizations to mobilize resources in order to increase the reach and coverage of its programs and foster cooperation.

#### **Sustainability**

Measures supported by PAHO with potential to strengthen health systems and to be applied to nonemergency periods and programs. Decades of joint work in preparedness and the response to the influenza H1N1 pandemic provided MoHs with a relevant background to deal with COVID-19, due to the airborne nature of its transmission and the establishment of influenza-like illness surveillance systems. PAHO's and MoHs' long-standing investments in laboratory support were particularly important in facilitating an evidence-based response to COVID-19. In turn, these investments contributed to strengthening some essential functions of national health systems and can be applied to non-pandemic periods.

From an organizational perspective, the exceptional funding raised for the emergency response has mitigated PAHO's difficult financial situation; however, the termination of emergency funds in the short term will pose new challenges that could have organizational and programmatic implications.

Member States' uptake of PAHO's technical cooperation. Overall, MoHs adopted PAHO recommendations, although at some points in time and in relation to essential public health decisions, some Member States made decisions not aligned with the scientific evidence provided by PAHO. In several cases, changes in administration and rotations in national institutions caused discontinuity in public health approaches and interventions.

#### Added value

PAHO was the only regional organization with the mandate, institutional capacity, and technical expertise to encourage a regional response at the highest political level to a health crisis that transcended borders and remits of national health systems. PAHO contributed not only to supporting health systems but also to facilitating the continuity of Member States' essential functions beyond the health sector ("whole-of-government" approach). Furthermore, PAHO's Revolving Fund was instrumental in expanding access to vaccines in the region and may serve as a benchmark for other regions.

PAHO excelled in its technical support of Member States by rapidly strengthening capacity in laboratory diagnosis and epidemiological surveillance (the implementation of SARS-CoV-2 laboratory detection in 28 Member States took in place in 25 days), expanding human resources for health (HRH) training, deploying the Incident Management Support Team (IMST), and developing a massive logistical capacity to meet the needs at the country level.

#### **Key conclusions**

#### **Strategic dimension**

PAHO consolidated its position as the reference agency and preferred partner in health in the Region at a time when health and global health security have become a priority. PAHO provided consistent and sustained technical and logistical support to MoHs and significantly strengthened the procurement function (through the Revolving and Strategic Funds), despite the internal and external factors that constrained PAHO's operations and risked trust in the Organization, particularly at the onset and during key moments of the COVID-19 response.

#### **Operational dimension**

PAHO's institutional response at the onset of the pandemic was timely, but bureaucracy (with slow and unsuitable procedures for a large-scale, protracted pandemic response in some areas) and limited resources affected the Organization's implementation capacity and efficiency in some areas. PAHO's performance during the pandemic yielded mixed results, with an overall positive balance in technical cooperation to Member States and more limited results in institutional and social spheres.

PAHO had the ability to innovate and integrate the learnings acquired throughout the response to the pandemic ("learning by doing") in key areas to adapt and transform the way it works institutionally and technically, and to evolve as an organization.

PAHO contributed to address the digital gaps in the Region, exacerbated by the pandemic, supporting the digital transformation of the health sector at the country level and strengthening its own digital transformation policy.

The equity principle was at the center of PAHO's strategic preparedness and response plan for the COVID-19 pandemic. However, its practical application was limited due to the protracted and preexisting barriers that hampered access to COVID-19 diagnoses, treatment, and vaccines at national or subnational levels. In many cases, efforts were insufficient to mitigate the differential impact of the pandemic on women and vulnerable groups.

The planning and monitoring systems for the response to COVID-19 (SPRP, PAHO Strategic Plan 2020–2025) were not designed to assess organizational performance during the pandemic. PAHO's contribution to the pandemic response at the regional, subregional, and national levels has been extensively documented, but the assessment of its broader effects is challenging and seems to vary significantly depending on the modalities of cooperation, the pillars of the SPRP, and the different subregional and national realities.

#### **Organizational dimension**

The early activation of PAHO's IMS effectively provided support and strategic guidance to the region and Member States, and it contributed to the coordination of national response activities. However, co-optation of professionals from other units and the long-term operation of the IMS generated organizational unbalances. PAHO expanded the existing remote working modality as part of the duty-of-care policy enabling the continuity of operations while aiming to protect its personnel and their families. However, this decision put PAHO personnel in COs in a difficult situation, as they needed to continue working face-to-face in the facilities of their national counterparts to ensure full support and consistent technical cooperation in an acute crisis context ("teleworking paradox").

PAHO's achievements during the pandemic were due to the commitment and professionalism of its personnel who, despite PAHO's investments in duty of care, experienced mental health issues, a decline in their well-being, and difficulty in maintaining work–family life balance. Some PAHO personnel did not consider emergency response as part of their contractual responsibilities, which generated unequal workloads and internal imbalances.

#### **Key recommendations**

#### Strategic level

PAHO's governance and engagement with member states. PAHO should review and update its governance for use during a crisis and engage Member States in conceiving the "PAHO of the future" in a post-COVID-19 era.

Scientific-based platforms and tools to address public health emergencies. PAHO should encourage the creation of a specialized regional mechanism for convening an independent scientific advisory group for responding to complex public health emergencies.

Funding model. PAHO should diversify its funding model that is fit for purpose during normal times and crisis periods, building on the successful strategies employed during the pandemic. The PAHO-reviewed funding model should ensure adequate means to consistently support MoHs in emergency preparedness and response for large-scale crises (but also stabilize technical cooperation at regular times).

#### **Operational level**

Gender and equity. PAHO should mainstream evidence-based gender and equity approaches into pandemic preparedness, response, and recovery actions.

IMS and the continuous operation strategy. PAHO should conceive a specific organizational model to allow the Organization to operate on a sustained basis during long-term public health emergencies, based on the vast experience of the IMS.

Digitalization and innovation. PAHO should capitalize on new technologies and approaches (e.g., artificial intelligence, use of social media, strategies to tackle vaccine hesitancy, e-health, new health technologies) adopted during the pandemic to develop new ways of increasing cooperation with the MoHs (e.g., technical cooperation, training, research and analysis), address the digital gap, and promote technological transformation.

#### **Organizational level**

Corporate management during public health emergencies. PAHO should comprehensively review management procedures and tools as well as internal communication mechanisms for use during times of crisis.

Human resource policies and adjusting duty-of-care processes. PAHO should reinforce the organizational capacity to deploy specialized personnel for emergency response, and review and update the hiring policy, duty-of-care policy, and renumeration schemes (based on performance and extra workload) during public health emergencies.



### CHAPTER 1 Background

#### 1.1 Context<sup>1</sup>

#### Key aspects of the health situation in the Americas before COVID-19

The Region of the Americas represents a broad spectrum of economically, socially, and culturally diverse countries. The health systems in the Region are trying to adapt to the epidemiological transition. Endemic diseases – including dengue, yellow fever, Zika, chikungunya, malaria, and tuberculosis – remain an ongoing burden on the healthcare infrastructure, either acting as endemic infections or as major epidemics spreading rapidly throughout the region (1, 2).

Noncommunicable diseases (NCDs) represent the largest proportion of the health burden in the Region due to the rapid demographic and epidemiological changes (double burden of disease). This is especially the case in the Caribbean area, with 78% of all deaths attributable to NCDs (global average 74%) (*3*, *4*). Premature mortality due to cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, cancer, and chronic respiratory diseases is higher in the Caribbean (18.8%) than in the whole Latin America and Caribbean (LAC) region (14.8%) (*5*).

Prior to the outbreak of COVID-19, the Region of the Americas was experiencing improved access to health care and better health outcomes although disparities and protracted inequalities persisted. While mortality rates for many major diseases, such as human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)/acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS), malaria, and diarrheal diseases, were decreasing, life expectancy increased by five years between 2000 and 2019. Infant mortality and under-five mortality decreased by 52% and 50%, respectively, during the same period, indicating improvements in health system effectiveness and the overall well-being among the LAC population (6-8).

To achieve universal health coverage (UHC), many countries in Latin America implemented various health systems reforms. This is reflected in the increase in spending on health (an average increase of 1.43% of gross domestic product [GDP] between 2000 and 2019) and reaching an overall index of essential coverage of 76%–77%, in countries such as Argentina, Brazil, Colombia, and Mexico (*9, 10*). However, public health expenditure, as a proportion of GDP, remained low (3.5% of GDP on average) compared to the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) countries' average (6.6% of GDP), being more dependent on private spending (*11*).

Equitable access and the quality of health services are challenged due to the significant disparities and inequalities that persist across the Region of the Americas and within the countries (*11, 12*). Most countries in Latin America still struggle to meet their population's health needs and continue to face

<sup>1</sup> The extended background section is in Annex 2. In: Pan American Health Organization. Evaluation of the Pan American Health Organization Response to COVID-19 2020–2022. Volume II. Annexes. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2023. Available from: https:// doi.org/10.37774/9789275127476.

rising healthcare costs – unequal access to and distribution of health services; large, informal economies; and high out-of-pocket expenditure (OOP) (*13*). At the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Region was working toward achieving goals within different health priorities and struggling to provide universal coverage and health for all by focusing on the most vulnerable populations. No country or health system in the Region was prepared to deal with COVID-19, a sanitary crisis that overwhelmed the health sector.

#### Overview of the impact of COVID-19 in the Americas

In December 2019, the Wuhan Municipal Health Commission reported an outbreak of respiratory disease (COVID-19) caused by a novel coronavirus, SARS-CoV-2 (*14*). In the Americas, governments were able to anticipate the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and hence imposed strict lockdowns when the number of cases was still low. As COVID-19 spread, severely challenged health systems failed to cope, impacting the population's health. However, since the global launch of the COVID-19 vaccination campaign in December 2020 and due to increased vaccination coverage, mortality due to COVID-19 has gradually decreased (see Figure 1) (*15*).

The Americas was one of the regions most affected by COVID-19. As of 25 October 2022, SARS-CoV-2 has infected over 624 235 272 people and caused 6 555 270 deaths worldwide (*15*). Of these, 28.7% of infected cases (179 348 497 people) and 43.4% of deaths (2 848 030 people) occurred in the Americas (*15*). The United States of America, Brazil, Mexico, and Peru were among the top 10 countries in the world with the highest COVID-19-related deaths and the highest number of cumulative cases:<sup>2</sup> most of the deaths occurred in the United States (36.92%), Brazil (23.96%), and Mexico (11.51%) (*15*).

The COVID-19 pandemic had an important demographic impact in the Latin America and Caribbean (LAC) region, with a loss of 2.9 years of life expectancy at birth (from 75.1 years in 2019 to 72.1 years in 2021) (*16*). Central America was the subregion with greatest loss in life expectancy with 3.6 years. This demographic impact makes the Americas the region of the world that lost the most years of life expectancy due to the pandemic (*16*).

Health systems and health workers were under enormous pressure and were not prepared for the prolonged crisis caused by COVID-19 (*17, 18*). The Americas had the highest percentage of essential health services disrupted (55% average of health services disrupted in 27 countries compared to 28% in 23 countries in Europe); the biggest disruption was in primary care services (70%) (*19*).

Mass COVID-19 vaccination efforts led to 718 862 834 people being fully vaccinated in the Americas by October 2022 (76% in North America and 65% in South America) (*20*). However, the strains placed on health services by the pandemic affected regular immunization programs, resulting in 2.5 million children not receiving their scheduled vaccines in 2020 (*20*).

Additionally, on 26 October 2022, there were 49 935 confirmed cases of mpox and 16 deaths reported in the Americas (*21*). Also, on 21 July 2022, the New York State Department of Health in the United

<sup>2</sup> The United States of America, Brazil, and Mexico are the three most populated countries in the region.

FIGURE 1



#### Pandemic response in a challenging context from December 2019 to October 2022

Source: Developed by the evaluation team for the evaluation of PAHO's response to COVID-19 based on data from the PAHO portal and review documents.

States reported a case of paralytic polio (22). The vaccination rate with all three doses of the polio vaccine stood at 82% in 2020, the lowest since 1994, when the Americas were certified free of the disease (23). Considering this, the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO) has called on countries to urgently strengthen epidemiological surveillance and routine vaccination campaigns (23).

#### **Overview of Member States' response to COVID-19**

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, all 35 PAHO Member States activated intersectoral coordination mechanisms involving the highest political leadership and triggering management plans and emergency response mechanisms. Twenty-three Member States declared a State of Emergency. Contrary to the World Health Organization's (WHO) travel advice, 33 of the 35 Member States drastically limited the inflow of international travelers, and 16 adopted traffic-related measures even before the first case of SARS-CoV-2 infection was confirmed (*24*).

Responses varied across countries, with decisions depending on political and economic factors and past experiences of managing pandemics and epidemics. This heterogeneity was due to public health measures adopted, the population size, the country's development status, structure, and organization of health systems (25).

In response to management challenges posed by COVID-19 in the Region, many countries made active leadership changes within their ministry of health (MoH), reaching more than 50 changes (Figure 1).

Countries were able to access vaccines through the COVID-19 Global Vaccines Access (COVAX) Facility, donations, and bilateral negotiations. Most countries in the Region joined WHO's COVAX mechanism except for Cuba and the territories of Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, Aruba, Curaçao, and Sint Maarten (26).

#### PAHO's response to COVID-19 (object of the evaluation)

On 30 January 2020, WHO declared the COVID-19 outbreak a public health emergency of international concern (PHEIC) and by 12 March 2020 identified it as a pandemic (*27*). By mid-January 2020, PAHO had already activated an Organization-wide response to support all its Member States in accordance with the WHO COVID-19 Strategic Preparedness and Response Plan (SPRP) (*28*). On 5 March 2020, PAHO launched its COVID-19 Response Strategy and Donor Appeal to support COVID-19 preparedness and response efforts in the Americas, followed by its Regional COVID-19 Response Strategy (2021). See the PAHO COVID-19 timeline website for the detailed sequence of key PAHO actions.



PAHO's COVID-19 Response Strategy was regularly updated (three times in 2020, once in 2021, and once in 2022) to reflect the evolution of the pandemic and changes in regional needs. The SPRP was initially structured around nine pillars, but this was revised in 2021 to include Pillar 10 (vaccination), reflecting the availability of COVID-19 vaccines. In 2022, the updated response plan set out the actions needed to end the pandemic in the Region.

PAHO's COVID-19 strategy and response plan documents were intended to guide and support the Member States responses to COVID-19. These documents, therefore, served as a reference for the evaluation, but the focus of the analysis was on PAHO's organizational performance and its contribution to the response (see Section 1.3, Methodology).

#### **1.2** Purpose, scope, and objectives of the evaluation

#### **Evaluation purpose**

The purpose of this evaluation was to provide an objective and independent assessment of PAHO's overall performance during the response to the COVID-19 pandemic from January 2020 to August 2022. It was intended to serve both as an accountability and organizational learning function.

#### Evaluation scope<sup>3</sup>

Geographic scope: The evaluation included the response operations undertaken by the entire Organization across its four subregions, the Caribbean (CRB), Central America (CAM), South America (SAM), North America (NAM), and all 35 Member States.

Time scope: The time frame covered was from January 2020 to August 2022.

Out of scope: This was a strategic rather than a technical evaluation and therefore did not evaluate PAHO's specific departments, units, or programs. The evaluation assessed the overall performance of the Organization during the COVID-19 pandemic and used cases, situations, and examples to illustrate the findings. However, this was not a technical evaluation of the 10 pillars of the COVID-19 SPRP and the large number of actions implemented in support of Member States. The evaluation focused on PAHO as an organization, and it did not assess Member States' response to the pandemic. Rather, it examined how PAHO collaborated with and supported Member States during the response.

#### **Evaluation objectives**

The specific objectives of the evaluation were to:

• Assess PAHO's preparation, internal organization, and implementation of the COVID-19 pandemic response strategy and document key achievements as well as challenges, gaps, and areas for improvement.

<sup>3</sup> It is important to clarify that this evaluation serves a different purpose than the audits and other internal surveys that PAHO commissions, with a specific focus on learning as well as accountability.

- Examine key enabling and limiting factors responsible for achievements and gaps, including the implications for how PAHO delivers its regular programs outside the emergency context of the COVID-19 response.
- Provide evidence-based recommendations for corrective actions to strengthen the pandemic response while building a resilient recovery as per the Terms of Reference.<sup>4</sup>

#### Evaluation approach, criteria, and questions

The evaluation approach was utility-driven, participatory, and collaborative, aiming to ensure the participation of PAHO personnel, relevant stakeholders, and key informants (Member States, partners, and donors). This approach was taken to ensure that there is shared understanding and ownership of the evaluation findings, conclusions, and recommendations. Moreover, the evaluation incorporated methodological flexibility to adjust data collection, analysis tools, and processes given the time constraints. This approach ensured that the evaluation met given timelines, as well as PAHO's learning and accountability needs, serving both summative and formative purposes.

#### **Evaluation criteria**

The evaluation questions were structured according to evaluation criteria based on PAHO's 2021 Evaluation Policy and in line with the OECD Development Assistance Committee (DAC) evaluation criteria.

The analysis of PAHO's added value was also incorporated into the analytical framework to reinforce the strategic level of analysis and identify areas where PAHO's support to Member States made a difference.

#### **Evaluation questions and framework**

The evaluation questions and framework guided the evaluation, including data collection and analytical methods. The evaluation assessed PAHO's COVID-19 response in terms of its relevance, effectiveness, coherence, coordination, efficiency, and sustainability.<sup>5</sup>

During the analysis and drafting process, the evaluation team has slightly rephrased or merged some of the evaluation sub-questions to avoid duplication and improve the logical flow of the document.

#### 1.3 Methodology, limitations, and ethical considerations<sup>6</sup>

#### Methodology

The evaluation was commissioned and managed by the evaluation function within PAHO's Department of Planning, Budget, and Evaluation (PBE). The evaluation was conducted between May 2022 and December 2022 by an external independent team.

<sup>4</sup> For the Terms of Reference, please refer to Annex 1. Pan American Health Organization. Evaluation of the Pan American Health Organization Response to COVID-19 2020–2022. Volume II. Annexes. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2023. Available from: https://doi.org/10.37774/9789275127476.

<sup>5</sup> The evaluation questions are given in Annex 3.4. Pan American Health Organization. Evaluation of the Pan American Health Organization Response to COVID-19 2020–2022. Volume II. Annexes. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2023. Available from: https://doi.org/10.37774/9789275127476.

<sup>6</sup> The extended evaluation methodology, limitations, and ethical considerations are presented in Annex 3. Pan American Health Organization. Evaluation of the Pan American Health Organization Response to COVID-19 2020–2022. Volume II. Annexes. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2023. Available from: https://doi.org/10.37774/9789275127476.

The evaluation design combined two major areas of inquiry (Aol). The first Aol corresponded to the assessment of PAHO's efforts in working with Member States and partners to attenuate the effect of the pandemic. The second Aol was related to the efficiency evaluation criteria and aimed to assess PAHO's internal adaptive capacity to operate within a pandemic (in terms of human resources, systems, procedures, tools, and financial resources). The evaluation also assessed internal perceptions about PAHO's performance (PAHO personnel). In addition, the evaluation considered three different but interrelated levels of analysis: strategic, operational, and organizational.<sup>7</sup>

The evaluation used mixed methods to collect data from multiple sources as follows:

- 1. Desk review of internal and external documentation (approximately 100 documents).<sup>8</sup>
- Semi-structured key informant interviews with internal and external stakeholders and national counterparts. The evaluation team conducted 112 key interviews with 124 participants (58% males and 42% females). This consisted of PAHO personnel and counterparts/partners working with PAHO.<sup>9</sup>
- 3. Online surveys were conducted with PAHO personnel at all levels of the Organization. The online survey was sent to all 2290 PAHO personnel<sup>10</sup> (1363 females and 927 males) and 27 respondents provided responses through Kobo.<sup>11</sup>
- 4. In-depth country/subregion analysis was conducted to explore key issues. This included six country offices (Barbados, Brazil, Guatemala, Haiti, Mexico, and Peru), Panama's regional logistic hub, and Barbados as a subregional office.<sup>12</sup> A summary of the in-depth country studies and timelines of important events during the COVID-19 pandemic was developed for each in-depth country analysis.<sup>13</sup>

<sup>7</sup> Refer to Annex 3.5. Pan American Health Organization. Evaluation of the Pan American Health Organization Response to COVID-19 2020–2022. Volume II. Annexes. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2023. Available from: https://doi. org/10.37774/9789275127476.

<sup>8</sup> Refer to Annex 3.6. Pan American Health Organization. Evaluation of the Pan American Health Organization Response to COVID-19 2020–2022. Volume II. Annexes. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2023. Available from: https://doi. org/10.37774/9789275127476.

<sup>9</sup> Refer to Annex 3.6 for detail of key informants interviewed and Annex 4.1 for the interview protocols. Pan American Health Organization. Evaluation of the Pan American Health Organization Response to COVID-19 2020–2022. Volume II. Annexes. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2023. Available from: https://doi.org/10.37774/9789275127476.

<sup>10</sup> Except interns, outside providers, volunteer-local, and volunteer-United Nations.

<sup>11</sup> Refer to Annex 3.6 for detailed response data, Annex 4.3 for the survey questionnaire, and Annex 6 for survey results. Pan American Health Organization. Evaluation of the Pan American Health Organization Response to COVID-19 2020–2022. Volume II. Annexes. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2023. Available from: https://doi.org/10.37774/9789275127476.

<sup>12</sup> Refer to Annex 3.6 for more detailed information on the country/subregion selection criteria. Pan American Health Organization. Evaluation of the Pan American Health Organization Response to COVID-19 2020–2022. Volume II. Annexes. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2023. Available from: https://doi.org/10.37774/9789275127476.

<sup>13</sup> Refer to Annex 7. Pan American Health Organization. Evaluation of the Pan American Health Organization Response to COVID-19 2020–2022. Volume II. Annexes. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2023. Available from: https://doi. org/10.37774/9789275127476.

#### Limitations

The most significant limitation was the short timeline to complete the evaluation, given its large scope. Other challenges included governments and PAHO personnel turnover,<sup>14</sup> which partially limited responses from key informants who were engaged during the early stages of the pandemic; timely availability of key informants for interviews; additional ongoing operational pressures for PAHO teams (mpox and polio outbreak emergency responses); difficulties in gaining access to personnel within MoHs; and the absence of a specific organizational emergency response monitoring framework to the COVID-19 pandemic despite the large volume of information about PAHO's actions. The month of August was a holiday period for many PAHO personnel, affecting the data collection process, particularly for survey responses.

The evaluation team was unable to conduct a survey with as many representatives from MoHs as initially envisioned in the inception report. There were difficulties in accessing public officials and, due to time constraints, the perspectives of government counterparts were gathered from the six countries selected for in-depth analysis using key informant interviews.

The evaluation team was only able to interview one WHO key informant, which has affected understanding of WHO's views in general and specifically in relation to coordination with PAHO during the response.

#### **Ethical considerations**

**Evaluation principles**. The evaluation embraced the key principles of PAHO's Evaluation Policy and is aligned with UNEG Norms and Standards for Evaluation (2016). The evaluation process followed the principles of impartiality, independence, transparency, credibility, beneficence, and professionalism to ensure that a high-quality evaluation was delivered.

Ethical considerations. The evaluation team followed PAHO rules and regulations, and United Nations Evaluation Group (UNEG) Ethical Guidelines for Evaluation (2020) to fulfill obligations to respondents participating in this evaluation. In particular, the evaluation ensured adherence to relevant ethical considerations, and the data collection instruments underwent review and clearance by PAHO's ethical review committee (ERC) prior to their use.

<sup>14</sup> Interviews with several country offices pointed to increasing personnel turnover during the pandemic, although no quantitative data are available to assess its intensity.



### CHAPTER 2 Evaluation findings

#### 2.1 Relevance and coherence

### **2.1.1** To what extent has PAHO's COVID-19 response addressed Member States' overall priorities and been aligned with national response plans (NRPs)?

**Summary of key findings:** PAHO's mandate, close collaboration with the majority of the MoHs in the Region, experience and technical expertise in emergency preparedness and response, early activation of the incident management system (IMS), and integration into national emergency operations centers ensured its alignment with national response and vaccination plans.

The very nature of PAHO's work and its mandate ensures alignment with national priorities and strategies, both in response to public health emergencies and during regular times. PAHO and each Member State regularly define and agree on Country Cooperation Strategies that have systematically included a component on preparedness and response to public health emergencies.<sup>15</sup> MoHs and PAHO have long-standing cooperation aimed precisely at strengthening national preparedness and response capacities, including adherence to International Health Regulations 2005 (IHR 2005) (*29, 30*). In January 2020, the IMS started supporting MoHs to conduct country readiness assessments and preparedness and response plans, which ensured PAHO's alignment with national health authorities.

At the onset of the pandemic, when PAHO country offices (COs) began supporting national emergency responses, the dissemination of PAHO's Response Strategy and Donor Appeal provided a common emergency response framework for the Region. It also served as a reference for incorporating the health pillar in the broader United Nations Socio-Economic Response Plans (SERPs) developed by the 25 United Nations Country Teams in the Region in 2020.

The NRPs were aligned with PAHO's Response Strategy and Donor Appeal, using WHO/PAHO pillars as a framework.<sup>16</sup> In general, the reviewed national emergency response plans included functions related to early pandemic response, coordination, national laboratories, infection prevention and control (IPC) and protection of the health workforce, case management, and vaccination. COVID-19 NRPs and

<sup>15</sup> Such as cholera, dengue, Zika, chikungunya, influenza H1N1.

<sup>16</sup> For further information on alignment in five countries selected for in-depth analysis, refer to Annex 5.1. Pan American Health Organization. Evaluation of the Pan American Health Organization Response to COVID-19 2020–2022. Volume II. Annexes. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2023. Available from: https://doi.org/10.37774/9789275127476.

WHO/PAHO pillars were aligned and related to national health priorities, including health services to vulnerable populations, attention to NCDs, and essential health services (*31*).

From an organizational perspective, 51% (430 respondents) of the surveyed PAHO personnel said that PAHO's emergency response to COVID-19 highly aligned with Member States' NRPs, whereas 37% (321 respondents) said it was aligned to some extent. Only 2% (19 respondents) reported that there was no alignment between PAHO's COVID-19 response plan and the NRPs. In addition, 40% of PAHO personnel (341 respondents) reported that COVID-19 NRPs were completed and shared with PAHO. During the first year of the pandemic, progress was slow in relation to the completion and sharing of the COVID-19 NRPs.<sup>17,18</sup>

### PAHO's early engagement with MoH and its integration in national emergency operations centers (EOCs)

PAHO became part of the national EOCs from the onset of the pandemic. This facilitated the joint work and coherence between WHO's and PAHO's global and regional guidelines and national specificities. PAHO's participation in the national EOCs was important for two reasons: First, it allowed the sharing of global guidance and emerging information related to COVID-19 from the Americas and other regions with Member States and helped to inform national analyses. Second, it enabled United Nations coordination and contributed to the initial estimation of the socioeconomic and health impact of the pandemic and the elaboration of United Nations system response plans in each country, which were also aligned with NRPs.

It was easy to establish the subnational Emergency Operations Committee and for PAHO to provide technical expertise in countries where the PAHO/WHO Representatives (PWRs) had a close relationship with the MoH. In some countries, there were differences of opinion between PAHO and the national government on issues such as the use of face masks, non-approved medical treatments, and inconsistencies in surveillance data (*31–34*). This presented challenges for PAHO to support the national response (*31, 32*).

#### IMS activation and support for the development and implementation of NRPs

The activation in mid-January 2020 of PAHO's IMS and the national Incident Management Support Teams (IMSTs) helped to adopt a regional "emergency mindset" and to initiate interactions with the Member States. This worked particularly well in countries where the MoHs were designated as the national emergency coordination bodies. The IMSTs capitalized on the experience acquired in previous outbreaks and, particularly, used existing influenza pandemic preparedness plans and country selfassessment of IHR capacities<sup>19</sup> to identify critical gaps.<sup>20</sup>

<sup>17</sup> PAHO personnel survey: 4% consider the completion and sharing of the COVID-19 NRP during the first month of the pandemic, 8% say it was during the first six months, and another 8% say it was during the first year of the pandemic.

<sup>18</sup> Refer to Annex 5.1. Pan American Health Organization. Evaluation of the Pan American Health Organization Response to COVID-19 2020–2022. Volume II. Annexes. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2023. Available from: https://doi.org/10.37774/9789275127476.

<sup>19</sup> IHR State Party Self-Assessment Annual Reports.

<sup>20 &</sup>quot;A multisectoral response to ensure strengthened surveillance, health service readiness, preventing spread, and maintaining essential services are key interventions to slow transmission and save lives. Countries of the Americas have already been working on these areas since 2009 as part of their pandemic influenza plans. PAHO stands ready to support countries in rolling out these plans." Dr. Carissa F. Etienne, February 2020.

#### Alignment with COVID-19 national vaccine deployment plans (NVDPs)

During the later stages of the pandemic, vaccination became a pillar within PAHO's Response Plan. This supported vaccination planning, cold chain, costing and funding, identification of target populations, demand estimations, risk communication, rollout, vaccine safety monitoring, etc. (*35, 36*). In July 2020, PAHO published the Guidelines to Plan for COVID-19 Vaccine Introduction to help MoHs start preparing the infrastructure and key components for the introduction of vaccines and provided guidelines for the development of the COVID-19 vaccination plans during all vaccination phases, including vaccination rollout (*36, 37*).

### **2.1.2** How have the needs generated by the pandemic been determined at the country, subregional, and regional levels?

**Summary of key findings:** The needs generated by the pandemic were determined through the use of routine health information systems, ad hoc research, surveys, and epidemiological predictive modeling in close coordination between MoHs and PAHO. However, the lack of quality and disaggregated indicators needed for targeted and effective priority-setting hindered a more accurate assessment of national needs. This was specifically the case for assessing the needs of underserved populations.

- As the pandemic evolved, recommendations from international bodies, improved knowledge of the virus and its behavior, greater availability of epidemiological data, and more precise information about the socioeconomic impact of COVID-19, provided more robust data to facilitate decisionmaking and prioritize actions at country and regional levels.
- PAHO's participation in national EOCs and preparation of the PAHO-supported country readiness assessments were instrumental in providing an initial estimation of needs and an indication of national capacities required for the response. Previous experience in responding to outbreaks and knowledge of required national capacities also facilitated the preparation of response plans. PAHO also supported needs assessments and country readiness when NVDPs were being developed for the COVID-19 vaccine rollout.

#### Estimation of initial needs and preparation of response plans

The lack of COVID-19-related information available at the initial stages of the pandemic made it difficult to estimate needs across all areas of the response. Hence, it was not possible to have evidence-based public health policies or political and technical decisions. The gradual improvement in knowledge of how the virus behaved and its impact contributed to the development of evidence-based measures. This helped to determine needs more accurately and to implement prevention and response measures more suited to the diverse epidemiological and social situations of each country.

At the start of the response, national health systems, with PAHO support, optimized the use of routine health information systems and conducted ad hoc surveys or research to understand the impact of

#### FIGURE 2

### Extent to which PAHO supported Member States to define needs and priorities to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic (perceptions of PAHO personnel)



Note: All percentages are rounded up.

Source: EPRC Gallup and Kobo survey of PAHO personnel, 2022.

the virus on the population.<sup>21</sup> They used this information to manage the pandemic by providing epidemiological modeling with the help of their in-house epidemiologists (*30*).

PAHO participated in the national COVID-19 response mechanisms (e.g., EOCs) responsible for the development of national strategies and response plans, which were based on country transmission and risk levels (*38*). PAHO's participation in the national COVID-19 response coordination mechanisms helped to provide MoHs with information and knowledge as well as assess national needs and define priorities.

PAHO's personnel, participating in the Gallup survey,<sup>22</sup> reported that PAHO technically and operationally supported Member States in defining needs and priorities throughout the different phases of the pandemic, according to 67% of respondents (see Figure 2). The perception of PAHO's personnel is aligned with qualitative data collected through interviews with external informants.

While all response plans were led and supported by the national governments, most included only a limited number of quality indicators for effective priority-setting (*38*). Overall, PAHO faced challenges due to the heterogeneity of health systems and resources, such as high inequality rates and different health system financing schemes, making it difficult to reinforce a single strategy for the region (*29, 39*).

PAHO developed a Geo-Hub for COVID-19 to foster a unified COVID-19 response and provide a consistent and reliable information system that supported the development of readiness assessments and COVID-19 response plans. This included initial estimation of impact, facilitation of MoHs' strategic

<sup>21</sup> Population modeling tools to create projections on how the COVID-19 pandemic might affect the countries.

<sup>22</sup> Gallup survey question: Did PAHO provide technical support to help define needs and priorities in COVID-19 national response plans? (569 respondents).

planning and actions, and resource mobilization (40). Countries with previous experience of responding to outbreaks (e.g., influenza H1N1, cholera, dengue, Zika, and chikungunya) seemed to face fewer challenges in preparing their response plans.

In 12 countries, PAHO provided support for estimating the expansion required in hospital capacity using a hospital readiness checklist (41).

At a later stage during the pandemic, PAHO used epidemiological, clinical, laboratory, and healthcare data to support 33 countries in completing their NVDPs and 35 countries in completing the Vaccine Introduction Readiness Assessment Tool (VIRAT) with a dashboard that provided an overview of regional readiness (*42*).

#### Health information systems and routine health data collection

Although PAHO supported countries in collecting data, many still faced challenges in providing accurate and timely data through their health information systems (*43*). This included insufficient interoperability, a lack of information on needs, data collection, transmission, processing/analysis, and dissemination of processed information. Also, while countries took some measures to disaggregate data collected for health indicators, there were still many limitations. Lack of disaggregated data (by age, sex, ethnicity, gender, geographic location, migration status, etc.) limited countries' ability to prioritize settings, identify inequalities, and develop interventions to address them. In addition to experiencing difficulties in identifying and reaching marginalized groups, such as the Indigenous population in the Amazon region, routine health data collection systems failed to detect and track the extent of disruptions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic across essential health services (*44*).

In these circumstances, PAHO supported countries, to the extent possible, to generate and disseminate quality data and conduct analyses to build the evidence base and apply the results through its platform's COVID-19 guidance and the latest research in the Americas.<sup>23</sup> In some countries, PAHO generated daily statistical reports on COVID-19 to support national actors in their analysis and decisionmaking processes. In some countries, PAHO support also reached subnational-level authorities and other stakeholders at provincial, state, or municipal levels, such as health councils, which highly praised this effort.

#### Surveys and research

The COVID-19 pandemic accelerated research at country, regional, and global levels and the use of evidence to inform decisionmaking (45–48). Overall, PAHO has published more than 197 evidence-informed guidelines and guidance documents geared toward achieving an effective response to the pandemic (49).

To assess the impact of the pandemic and inform decisions to prevent or mitigate the effects (e.g., lockdowns), governments and organizations conducted national, subnational, and local surveys, in some cases with PAHO's direct support or as part of broader UNCT support to national authorities. Countries adapted their national household survey data collection methods during the pandemic, switching to

<sup>23</sup> PAHO/WHO technical guidelines, scientific publications, and ongoing research protocols are available to the public via PAHO's COVID-19 Technical Database. Available from: https://covid19-evidence.paho.org/.
telephone surveys using a self-applied web questionnaire or combining telephone data collection in urban areas with face-to-face surveys in rural areas (50).

PAHO developed population modeling tools in partnership with the University of the West Indies, the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, and the Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health.<sup>24</sup> These models informed country-level analysis and facilitated the allocation and mobilization of resources. In some cases (e.g., Brazil), MoHs developed their own modeling tools in partnership with national universities.

Under a broader United Nations approach, United Nations agencies (United Nations Development Programme [UNDP], United Nations Children's Fund [UNICEF], World Food Programme [WFP], Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean [ECLAC], and others), in collaboration with PAHO, supported countries in producing evidence on the socioeconomic effects of the pandemic (*51, 52*). The aim was to help identify health needs as well as to assess socioeconomic priorities emerging from the impact of the pandemic.

# **2.1.3** To what extent has PAHO's response included measures to ensure equity in Member States' national responses?

**Summary of key findings:** PAHO planned for an equitable response and advocated for actions aimed at reducing barriers to access for vulnerable groups or underserved areas, as well as distributing COVID-19 vaccination to the most in need.

 PAHO provided technical guidance to MoHs to reach all the territories and populations and to adapt the national interventions to the diverse geographic, social, and cultural contexts. This included those most at risk and already experiencing barriers to accessing health care. However, PAHO's advocacy and other actions to ensure an equitable response were challenged by the overwhelming health situation, the protracted inequities in the region, and the limited access to resources, especially vaccine supply.

The majority of the surveyed PAHO personnel (78%, 651 respondents) reported that the Organization frequently advocated for health equity in the COVID-19 national response, but only 28% (237 respondents) considered this advocacy to be fully successful and 47% (394 respondents) considered it to be partially successful.<sup>25</sup> Several informants reported that during critical moments of the pandemic (e.g., start of the pandemic in the region, successive waves), countries were not able to focus on achieving equity but rather on reducing mortality. Overall, the response focused on the direct

<sup>24</sup> For example: Pan American Health Organization. Estimating the size of high-risk populations for COVID-19 death in the Americas. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2021. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/53269.

<sup>25</sup> Refer to Annex 5.1. Pan American Health Organization. Evaluation of the Pan American Health Organization Response to COVID-19 2020–2022. Volume II. Annexes. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2023. Available from: https://doi. org/10.37774/9789275127476.

effects of COVID-19 but not on addressing protracted inequities and social determinants of health that exacerbated the impact of the crisis among vulnerable groups.

### PAHO's equity framework

Efforts to address inequities faced the same challenges that already existed in the Region before the pandemic (*18, 53*). Despite the existing framework developed by WHO/PAHO to promote equity before and during the COVID-19 response, and the unanimous commitment of the countries toward equity-focused health policies, existing national health plans (NHPs) frequently excluded vulnerable populations, especially migrants, Roma people, members of the lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer+ (LGBTQ+) community, and Afro-descendants (*54–57*).

PAHO's Office of Equity, Gender, and Cultural Diversity (EGC) developed guidelines for the prevention of COVID-19 specifically targeting women, Indigenous people, and young people. Although a systematic analysis of all national action plans (NAPs) to respond to COVID-19 has not been conducted, the review of NAPs for the country case studies identified that Haiti, Mexico, and Peru specifically referred to women, children, adolescents, or vulnerable groups in their NAPs.

## Response at subnational levels and in remote areas

PAHO provided technical cooperation by covering subnational areas or territories that lacked resources. In Haiti, for example, while the national pandemic response was focused on the capital, Port-au-Prince, PAHO supported other areas, integrating the response with subnational authorities, epidemiologists, and the local community. Also in Haiti, "labo-moto" nurses supported the sampling of suspected COVID-19 cases, providing support for diagnosis and surveillance in remote areas (*24, 58*).

Logistic stocks were distributed in the most needed countries, such as Dominican Republic, Haiti, Panama, and Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of). In Peru, PAHO supported the distribution of equipment and supplies for hospitals in areas with the largest population or those serving urban areas and marginalized populations.

PAHO used online platforms, television, and community radio stations to conduct risk communication campaigns across the whole region, including in the remote areas<sup>26</sup> (59–61).

#### Vulnerable populations

PAHO COs worked directly with subnational governments in areas with greater vulnerabilities. In Ancash (Peru), PAHO partnered with the World Food Programme (WFP) and the Compañía Minera Antamina to mitigate the effects of COVID-19 among the population (mostly miners) by increasing the surveillance and case management capacity of COVID-19 cases; facilitating food access to COVID-19 patients in quarantine; and improving the ability to follow up, care for, and refer probable cases or those confirmed at the first level of health care (*62*). In the Amazon, PAHO was on-site for more than three months,

<sup>26</sup> PAHO used Facebook to facilitate conversations among health experts and the community. However, gaps in access to technologies and connectivity barriers in underserved and rural areas (e.g., Gran Chaco Americano) or among vulnerable populations might have limited the impact of these initiatives.

working directly with the subnational authorities by providing personnel, rapid diagnostic tests, and field support for healthcare assistance and health management (63, 64).

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on domestic workers, who carry a triple burden: they are mostly women (75%), many of them are migrants, and they work mostly in the informal sector (*65, 66*). It is estimated that 66% of female domestic workers in the Region have lost their jobs or reduced their working hours due to the pandemic (*67*). In Guatemala, protection policies supporting domestic workers were put in place to serve as an example for the Region.

For the most-affected groups, PAHO developed a specific COVID-19 surveillance protocol (65). In Brazil, PAHO developed a tool to reduce the risks of the COVID-19 pandemic in the prison system and to improve decisionmaking (61).

### Response to COVID-19 by gender

The COVID-19 pandemic disproportionately affected women in the Americas (*68*). This was due to the high proportion of female nurses (86%), who were on the front line during the response; the increasing demand for care roles during the pandemic; the higher exposure to domestic violence during lockdowns; increased unemployment, as women worked more frequently in the informal sector; and the increased fear of being infected or infecting loved ones, which highly affected women's mental health (*17, 69*).

PAHO conducted a health analysis by gender that identified information gaps and lack of databases with a gender dimension. The findings showed that countries with weak institutional frameworks for gender policies disregarded the gender perspective in their response and failed to provide a timely gendered approach and response to emergencies and disasters (70, 71).

PAHO responded to an increase in domestic violence by strengthening technical cooperation to improve response services for victims; contributing to related policies, protocols, and strategies; raising awareness; and conducting training<sup>27</sup> (72).

PAHO, in collaboration with UN Women, promoted gender equity by developing virtual courses on gender equality in humanitarian action and conducted national surveys on violence against women.<sup>28</sup> In the Caribbean region, PAHO also offered training on evidence-based health system responses to survivors of intimate partner and sexual violence.

Despite the interventions implemented, gender perspectives were not included in the pandemic preparedness plans, and gender-specific initiatives were not frequently mentioned during the interviews and did not have a specific budget.

<sup>27</sup> In line with: Pan American Health Organization. PAHO Strategy and Plan of Action on Strengthening the Health System to Address Violence against Women [CD54/9, Rev. 2]. 54th Directing Council, 67th Session of the Regional Committee of WHO for the Americas; 28 September–4 October 2015. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2015. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/ 10665.2/18386.

<sup>28</sup> Surveys took place in The Bahamas, Barbados, Guyana, Jamaica, Suriname, Trinidad and Tobago, and Turks and Caicos Islands.



#### Culturally inclusive response

PAHO's support to MoHs to adapt COVID-19 national responses to subnational sociocultural diversity has benefited from decades of PAHO's work on Indigenous health (73). For example, in Guatemala, PAHO collaborated with an external anthropological research team that investigated cultural barriers that impaired contract tracing and vaccination (74).

## Human mobility

Closing of borders contributed to refugees and migrants being portrayed as a source of COVID-19, increasing their stigmatization and health risks (*75*). PAHO, in partnership with the World Bank, the International Organization for Migration (IOM), United Nations Trust Fund for Human Security, and Johns Hopkins University, conducted joint activities and developed funding proposals addressing migrants' health. In Brazil, PAHO specifically supported surveillance at points of entry, including people on the move, and in Mexico, PAHO and IOM developed communication materials on the prevention of COVID-19 and the right to health, to be used by points of care for migrant and mobile populations (*49*).

The joint advocacy efforts of PAHO, the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR), and IOM ensured that stranded migrants or those arriving at the borders, as well as asylum seekers and refugees, were vaccinated (*76*). Although access to COVID-19 vaccination for the migrant population

was reasonably successful in several countries in the Region, other evidence indicates migrants faced persistent barriers to accessing health services (77).

### Equitable COVID-19 immunization

PAHO provided guidelines to prioritize vaccine distribution for vulnerable groups based on epidemiological criteria. Several informants mentioned the positive impact of PAHO's technical guidance on helping Member States identify the most vulnerable populations to be immunized first. In Brazil, PAHO contributed to the logistics needed for distribution of vaccines to some municipalities so that most at-risk groups could be prioritized and vaccinated (*78*).

PAHO contributed to the design of the COVAX mechanism and to the procurement of vaccines in the Americas through the Revolving Fund mechanism<sup>29</sup> (*79*). Despite its good intentions, the COVAX mechanism was not as successful as expected (*17, 80–82*). In this context PAHO tried to facilitate communication between Member States and COVAX. By August 2021, as a response to the delay in vaccination coverage in the region, PAHO announced that it would use its Revolving Fund to help countries access vaccines for more than 20% of the Region's population, which was COVAX's commitment (*83*). PAHO also contributed to the distribution of donated vaccines to the most vulnerable across the LAC region (*84*).

## PAHO's support to social protection actions

PAHO assisted countries in implementing financing protection strategies, including eliminating fees for treatment in public health facilities, to allow greater and more equitable access to health services required to respond to COVID-19 in line with Priorities for the Health Financing Response to COVID-19 (*85*).

# **2.1.4** Which PAHO strategic lines of action or cooperation modalities,<sup>30</sup> during the response to the pandemic, do Member States and other local, country-based partners consider as most relevant?

**Summary of key findings:** The cooperation modality that ranked highest was technical assistance,<sup>31</sup> and its quality has also been acknowledged by external informants. Logistics and supply chain, and then education and training, are part of the highest-ranked cooperation modalities. In contrast, South–South and triangular cooperation was ranked lowest, which probably reflects the dilution of regional solidarity and cooperation during the pandemic.

<sup>29</sup> Refer to Annex 5.1. Pan American Health Organization. Evaluation of the Pan American Health Organization Response to COVID-19 2020–2022. Volume II. Annexes. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2023. Available from: https://doi.org/10.37774/9789275127476.

<sup>30</sup> The Evaluation of PAHO's Response to COVID-19 (EPRC) team defined cooperation modality as an activity developed and supported by PAHO as part of its technical cooperation function, following PAHO's Strategic Plan 2020–2025 outcomes, to evaluate the achievement of the aims of PAHO's COVID-19 Response Strategy and Donor Appeal. These cooperation modalities are *institutional and political advocacy, technical assistance, education and training, epidemic intelligence and evidence generation, South–South and triangular cooperation, risk communication, resource mobilization, and logistics and supply chains.* 

<sup>31</sup> Although in the EPRC the evaluation team used the terms *technical assistance* and *technical cooperation* interchangeably, for the purpose of the survey, *technical assistance* is defined as the transfer of knowledge and skills from PAHO (by a team, personnel member, or consultant) to a Member State to achieve its health targets. *Source:* Alleyne G. Toward a taxonomy of technical cooperation in health. PAHO Bulletin. 1991;25(4):356–366.

Figure 3 shows perceptions regarding the level of assistance provided by PAHO to MoHs through eight major cooperation modalities. Technical assistance was considered the most prominent, as reported in PAHO personnel surveys. This finding is consistent with numerous internal and external interviews, PAHO's mandate, and with decades-long joint working with national counterparts. Logistics and supply chain, education and training of national health professionals, resource mobilization, and epidemiological intelligence were among the highest-ranked cooperation modalities.

As indicated by the interviewees, less assistance was provided through the South–South and triangular cooperation modality during the response. This finding is consistent with the perceptions about the modest level of Pan-Americanism that has characterized the response to the pandemic in the Americas. Risk communication was rated lower than other cooperation modalities, probably reflecting the challenges experienced by PAHO personnel in performing functions for which they were not prepared, as reported during interviews.

#### FIGURE 3

# Perceptions of PAHO personnel regarding the level of PAHO assistance provided across its areas of cooperation (cooperation modalities)



Note: All percentages are rounded up.

Source: EPRC Gallup and Kobo survey of PAHO personnel, 2022.

# **2.1.5** How has PAHO adapted its response during various phases of the pandemic?

**Summary of key findings:** PAHO adapted its response at programmatic and organizational levels during the various phases of the response. This enabled the organization to operate in an unprecedented context with evolving health challenges and emerging priority needs.

- At the programmatic level, considerable restructuring of most health programs was needed, including reallocation of human resources, new approaches to risk communication, or innovative vaccination strategies.
- At the organizational level, the IMS was activated, its structure was progressively adapted, and PAHO personnel had to assume new (and additional) roles. The Virtual Campus for Public Health (VCPH) was expanded to also train PAHO personnel. New relations were established with donors, and new partnerships were formed. The digital transformation was accelerated, and some internal procedures were changed.

By mid-January 2020, PAHO had already activated an organization-wide response (through the IMS) to provide technical cooperation to Member States and help address the impact of the pandemic. The IMS organizational chart was rapidly modified by expanding both the number of positions (more than 60 professionals) and their responsibilities. In the midst of the COVID-19 vaccination rollout, the IMS was updated (July 2021) with a task force specifically dedicated to vaccination, a procurement team, and the Revolving Fund to support vaccination efforts in countries (*86*).

The early and effective activation of the IMS was complemented by the IMSTs at the country level, which enhanced national preparedness and response capabilities. Unlike in other regions, the IMSTs were composed of national professionals, which improved the surge capacity to target disadvantaged populations or localities without the need to rely on international professionals.

The COVID-19 pandemic presented a totally new scenario even for a structure, such as the IMS, that was specifically conceived and prepared to respond to health emergencies. Despite having a consolidated structure and resources, the activation of the IMS and its intense work for more than two years generated discord within the Organization. The IMS's ability to draw upon personnel from other PAHO units generated imbalance and friction between them.

At times, personnel assigned to the IMST did not perceive the emergency response as being part of their role. In addition, the demands of working in a prolonged pandemic crisis (e.g., dedication and level of effort, extended hours, presence at Headquarters [HQ]) were not formally reflected in job descriptions, new roles assumed, or working conditions. On the other hand, incentives, such as vacations, were offered to all PAHO personnel, although not all had worked for the pandemic response, which generated internal imbalances.

The COs quickly reacted to the pandemic by building emergency teams, with personnel assigned both from HQ and hired locally. The local teams had to adapt their actions to the epidemiological status as well as the institutional and political situation. Some COs reacted before the pandemic reached their countries, such as Brazil, where the CO created an emergency unit and had an incident manager in place ahead of time.

Multiple aspects of PAHO's regular role were adopted during the pandemic. CO personnel had to take on new roles, such as becoming public speakers or project managers. In Mexico, PAHO personnel were frequently featured in the local media to disseminate information to the general population, and in Guatemala, epidemiologists were involved in formulating budgets and hiring personnel. Due to travel limitations, the COs reduced their travel by integrating several tasks into one trip. In some COs, however, the response strategy was not well accepted by PAHO personnel. In Peru, some international consultants refused to participate in the emergency response because it was not within the terms of their contract.

Risk communication strategies were revised and improved in response to the evolving situation to manage the uncertainty and fear among the public. In Mexico, the CO developed a weekly internal report on the public perceptions, trust in, and credibility of the authorities, and the behavioral and social response to the mitigation measures that guided and modulated the risk communication strategy in the country.

PAHO had to be innovative and started to support vaccination in banks, open spaces, and mobile vaccination units. Social media and influencers, such as religious leaders, were used to deliver information but also to understand people's needs, fears, and beliefs regarding vaccination. A new interdisciplinary expert group on risk communication was created, as the new vaccines required targeted information to avoid an infodemic. PAHO supported research on vaccination hesitancy through anthropological studies in Guatemala (74). Besides providing COVID-19 vaccine doses to supplement the COVAX supply, PAHO engaged in operations related to bilateral donations and negotiations (83).

PAHO's previous investments in digitalization (e.g., paperless organization) and in new technologies enabled the rapid transition to remote working, although significant differences in the availability and access to technologies between HQ and COs have been identified.

In general, the development of technologies and virtual ways of working has made a difference (e.g., telehealth; governing bodies meeting via videoconferencing platforms; operational coordination of the crisis response between HQ, COs, and external stakeholders; VCPH; remote monitoring, and clinical management of COVID-19 patients; streamlined administrative procedures and e-signatures). PAHO decided to expand an existing remote working modality at HQ and COs as part of the duty-of-care policy (*87*).

PAHO expanded the VCPH to address the need for emergency training. Approximately 43% of surveyed PAHO personnel reported receiving education and training from PAHO to implement the

national COVID-19 response plans, and 44% of PAHO personnel received material and/or technical support from PAHO. About 90% of those who received the support considered it helpful.<sup>32</sup>

PAHO adapted its response by establishing agreements with new partners and providers (e.g., DHL, FedEx) and nongovernmental organizations (NGOs), such as Direct Relief, establishing an office in China to negotiate with local producers to speed up procurement and distribution of equipment. Also, local and private transportation services were subcontracted to provide medical assistance to any PAHO personnel that required it as part of the duty-of-care policy.

PAHO became the agency with the greatest capacity to mobilize existing resources and logistics at the United Nations Humanitarian Response Depot (UNHRD) in Panama, especially during 2021.

In terms of financial resources, PAHO adapted to the financial struggles during the crisis to ensure the continuity of programs (*88, 89*). From July 2020 to June 2021, PAHO mobilized a total of USD 270.3 million, signing agreements with 25 new funding partners (including foundations, public charities, academia, and development agencies). From July 2021 to June 2022, PAHO received USD 309.2 million in PAHO voluntary contributions from diverse governments, foundations, public charities, and development agencies.<sup>33</sup>

PAHO developed internal procedures to expedite financial and administrative processes and improve administrative and budget management remotely.<sup>34</sup> During a major emergency, PAHO needed to transform its regular mode of operation and introduce changes in systems, tools, and procedures to continue to be operational in exceptional circumstances. PAHO assumed certain risks to operate under an emergency (e.g., purchases within a stressed cash flow situation). The regular checks and balances to control and audit financial and budget management had to be adjusted to ensure the timeliness and efficiency of PAHO's emergency response.

Adopting a flexible approach for certain procedures was also accompanied by the reinforcement of control mechanisms better adapted to work under emergency conditions (e.g., ex post facto financial monitoring). Despite adaptations that made it possible to adjust certain areas of management and allowed PAHO to work under an emergency mode, delays in response and decisionmaking, limitations in

<sup>32 27%</sup> of respondents report that they did not know how to answer if they received material and/or technical support from PAHO that was not included in the COVID-19 NRP; maybe because they were not involved in the implementation. The same was true for the question about receiving education and training from PAHO to implement the national COVID-19 response plan, where 27% did not know how to answer.

<sup>33</sup> The partners comprise: Government of Belize; Government of Turks and Caicos Islands; MoH of Spain; U.S. Department of State; Ministry of International Relations and La Francophonie of the Government of Quebec; Health Department of Amazonas (Brazil); Health Department of the Federal District (Brazil); Health Department of Mato Grosso do Sul (Brazil); Health Department of Rio de Janeiro (Brazil); Health Department of Santa Catarina (Brazil); Unitaid; MiracleFeet; Resolve to Save Lives; The Fred Hollows Foundation; Ford Foundation; and the MAPFRE Foundation.

<sup>34</sup> For example: reduced number of approvals for acquisitions, decentralized procedures to cost centers, new category of focal point in cost centers, new tools, and automated reports to monitor execution of funds. The EPRC highlights financial questions and procedures of particular interest based on a documentary review complemented by data obtained from interviews and surveys. Note that a systematic assessment of internal financial and administrative procedures introduced or adapted to operate during the pandemic is out of the scope of the EPRC.

hiring, or the lack of flexibility in some administrative procedures hindered the timeliness and efficiency of the response (30).

# 2.2 Effectiveness

# **2.2.1** To what extent did PAHO's COVID-19 response achieve its intended outcomes (including demonstrated capabilities to adjust its objectives according to changes in circumstances, contexts, and assumptions)?

**Summary of key findings:** PAHO adjusted its response according to the evolving pandemic situation in the region and implemented actions to support the MoHs in all pillars of the COVID-19 SPRP. This was done with varying intensity and in consideration of the national contexts and resources allocated to each pillar.

- The most highly rated pillars of PAHO's COVID-19 SPRP are: (i) vaccination; (ii) operation support, logistics, and supply chains; (iii) coordination, planning, financing, and monitoring; (iv) surveillance, rapid response teams, and case investigation; and (v) infection prevention and control, and protection of health workforce. External stakeholders, however, expressed criticism due to the difficulties experienced in getting timely and widespread access to the COVID-19 vaccine.
- The COVID-19 SPRP monitoring framework was primarily intended to support the monitoring of national response actions; enable aggregation at subregional, regional, and global levels; and inform analysis and decisionmaking. However, it was not intended to be used to assess PAHO's organizational performance in its role of providing technical support to countries.
- PAHO personnel had a largely positive view of PAHO's performance during the pandemic. However, opinions vary across national counterparts and partners regarding key aspects of PAHO's performance (e.g., administrative, logistical, and decisionmaking delays, operational capacity at country level, policy dialogue, communication management and reporting).

WHO defined the first COVID-19 SPRP Monitoring Framework at the beginning of the pandemic (structured according to nine pillars), and it was updated in 2021 to include Pillar 10 (COVID-19 vaccination and research and innovation as a cross-cutting area<sup>35</sup>). The COVID-19 SPRP Monitoring Framework set out the approach and methods for tracking and reporting on the global progress against the SPRP 2021 and served as a reference for all WHO regions (as well as countries, the United Nations, and other organizations).

<sup>35</sup> Refer to Annex 5.3. Pan American Health Organization. Evaluation of the Pan American Health Organization Response to COVID-19 2020–2022. Volume II. Annexes. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2023. Available from: https://doi.org/10.37774/9789275127476.

In line with WHO global guidance, PAHO prepared its first regional response and donor appeal plan on 5 March 2020, which was updated twice during 2020 and again in 2021. PAHO adjusted its response strategy according to the behavior of the pandemic in the Region, in line with WHO global guidelines, as reflected in the five SPRPs developed between 2020 and 2022. Adjustments to the SPRP were more frequent during the first year of the pandemic due to lack of knowledge about the virus, the scarcity of available scientific information, and the uneven impact among countries in the Region. In 2021, the response plan was adjusted to concentrate efforts on mass vaccination against COVID-19. In 2022, the SPRP was updated to direct country efforts toward ending the pandemic in the Region, proposing different scenarios.

This regional response plan defined an overall goal (support Member States in the Americas in preparing for and responding to COVID-19 outbreaks) and two specific objectives: (1) save lives and protect those individuals and populations facing the severest vulnerabilities, including healthcare workers; and (2) limit human-to-human transmission, including reducing secondary infections among close contacts, to slow down the spread of the disease. While the overall goal was directly related to PAHO's mandate and role, the specific objectives remained within the countries' scope of action, even though national responses were supported by PAHO. The evaluation was able to document and assess PAHO's actions in achieving the overall goal, but assessment of country-level responses was out of scope.

In terms of corporate strategic planning, PAHO's Strategic Plan 2020–2025 contains three outcomes that are related to health emergencies: health emergencies preparedness and risk reduction (N.23); epidemic and pandemic prevention and control (N.24); and health emergencies detection and response (N.25). It also includes two clauses to develop country preparedness based on interprogrammatic work within the bureau and the activation of emergency response mechanisms.

At the corporate level, the assessment of planned Strategic Plan 2020–2025 targets showed that approximately 17% (6 out of 35) of impact-level targets are on track to be achieved by 2025 (*44*). At the outcome level, there was significant collective progress, with 60% (17 out of 28) of planned targets reached for the 2020–2021 biennium. However, by the end of 2021, the Region's collective progress was affected and only 25% (26 out of 105) of outcome-level targets and 19% (28 out of 148) of the output-level targets were achieved. The health emergencies detection and response (Outcome 25) received the most COVID-19 funds.<sup>36</sup>

The pandemic has affected the achievement of some Strategic Plan 2020–2025 outcome and outputlevel targets at the country level due to the reprioritization of areas of work in response to the pandemic. Progress on achieving Strategic Plan 2020–2025 outcomes has been affected by low levels of political commitment to addressing priority areas of public health; absence of or insufficient intersectoral action; weaknesses in information systems; insufficient progress on addressing inequities in health; limited institutional capacity; and shortage of human and financial resources due in part to competing

<sup>36</sup> Other funds for COVID-19 were channeled through the special program outbreak and crisis response and, for the most part, to procurement.

FIGURE 4



#### PAHO's performance during different stages of the pandemic

Note: All percentages are rounded up. Source: EPRC Gallup and Kobo survey of PAHO personnel, 2022.

priorities within regional and national agendas. The sudden shift in public health priorities meant that some areas did not receive the necessary attention or resources, as reflected in outcome areas where targets were only partially met or not met at all. However, the pandemic has also encouraged improvements in public health functions, particularly those required for responding to public health emergencies.

PAHO personnel have an overall positive view of the Organization's performance during COVID-19; 80% (868 respondents) reported that PAHO's response achieved its intended results well or very well.<sup>37</sup> Moreover, between 35% and 43% of survey respondents reported that PAHO performed well or very well during the three phases of the response. Less than 5% reported that PAHO performed poorly across the phases (see Figure 4).

PAHO's technical support at regional and national levels excelled in key areas of the response (as presented in the following sections). There is a high level of agreement concerning the quality of the technical cooperation provided by PAHO not only to Member States but also to other agencies, international organizations, and regional actors. In parallel, there are also concerns regarding PAHO's performance on issues such as administrative, logistical, and decisionmaking delays; operational capacity at the country level; policy dialogue; and communication management and reporting. Concerning COVID-19 vaccination, PAHO personnel's positive views of the organization's performance contrast those of external stakeholders who, during the interviews and surveys, were more critical of the difficulties experienced in getting early and widespread access to the COVID-19 vaccine.<sup>38</sup>

<sup>37</sup> Refer to Annex 5.2. In: Pan American Health Organization. Evaluation of the Pan American Health Organization Response to COVID-19 2020–2022. Volume II. Annexes. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2023. Available from: https://doi.org/10.37774/9789275127476.

<sup>38</sup> See Section 2.2, Effectiveness, assessment of Pillar 10 (vaccination), for specific details about vaccination shortcomings.

## 2.2.2 Which activities have been most/least effective?

**Summary of key findings:** There is broad recognition of PAHO's work in supporting government counterparts, including MoHs, to develop national crisis management plans and emergency response mechanisms to prioritize actions, resources, and interventions.

- One of the most successful activities implemented by PAHO was the immediate action taken to strengthen the regional capacity of surveillance systems and adopt innovative tools for outbreak investigation.
- With PAHO's support, health authorities implemented risk communication campaigns to disseminate accessible and reliable information on COVID-19 and public health advice on how to protect oneself from the virus.
- PAHO provided support and guidance to prepare the COVID-19 NVDPs as well as strategies related to financing the purchase of vaccines. However, in some cases the delays and unpredictability of vaccine procurement and distribution impacted PAHO and MoH relations.

The survey indicated that the pandemic response pillars with the highest potential were vaccination (79%) (Pillar 10); operational support and logistics, and supply chains (67%) (Pillar 8); coordination, planning, financing, and monitoring (75%) (Pillar 1); surveillance, rapid response teams, and case investigation (75%) (Pillar 3); and infection prevention and control, and protection of health workforce (75%) (Pillar 6). Laboratory and diagnostics (Pillar 5) were perceived by 68% of respondents as having high potential despite the prompt implementation of serologic and molecular diagnosis being vital to the early identification of cases and contacts, and for monitoring of trends to understand the impact of mitigation, containment, and preventive measures (see Figure 5).

The importance given to Pillar 10 probably reflects the high level of investment (human and financial resources) made by PAHO to support COVID-19 vaccination. In 2021, Pillar 10 accounted for 51% of the funds used to implement activities through the 10 SPRP pillars. However, despite PAHO's efforts, vaccination was delayed and became a cause of concern for many outside PAHO.<sup>39</sup>

The following paragraphs summarize the main activities implemented by PAHO for each of the 10 pillars of the SPRP (most and least effective measures for each of the 10 pillars<sup>40</sup>).

#### Pillar 1: Coordination, planning, financing, and monitoring

The PAHO-led joint coordination efforts, innovative measures, and unified messaging were instrumental in guiding an effective response to COVID-19 in the Region of the Americas. Regional coordination

<sup>39</sup> Majority of external (to PAHO) interviewees.

<sup>40</sup> Based on the documentary review, interviews, and surveys. For details, refer to Annex 5.2. Pan American Health Organization. Evaluation of the Pan American Health Organization Response to COVID-19 2020–2022. Volume II. Annexes. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2023. Available from: https://doi.org/10.37774/9789275127476.

#### FIGURE 5

# Extent to which PAHO cooperation areas have the potential to strengthen health systems beyond the COVID-19 pandemic



Note: All percentages are rounded up.

Source: EPRC Gallup and Kobo survey of PAHO personnel, 2022.

became crucial in achieving region-wide approaches to tackling the pandemic and supporting regional and subregional coordination and emergency response mechanisms, such as the Caribbean Community, the Coordination Center for the Prevention of Disasters in Central America and the Dominican Republic, the Forum for the Progress and Development of South America, and the Organization of American States (OAS), among others (*91*). In addition, with the activation of the IMS and its IMST, PAHO supported the development of a national coordination mechanism in the form of EOCs to coordinate the national response to COVID-19 (*90*).

PAHO supported the Member States in developing COVID-19 NRPs, highly aligned with PAHO's Response Plan, to ensure coherence and operational alignment throughout all pillars. The

comprehensive, evidence-based public health guidelines, along with the coordinated response of all stakeholders, including United Nations and international agencies, academic institutions, NGOs, and other strategic actors, enabled the planning and implementation of effective public health interventions. Additionally, PAHO chaired and coordinated the UNCT and United Nations Emergency Technical Team (UNETT) and oversaw the channeling of requests made by governments to the United Nations System (*76*).

By establishing and strengthening existing partnerships and networks, PAHO supported funding of emergency response programs at the national and subregional levels. Moreover, PAHO supported countries in developing projects and documents to access and obtain funding from entities such as the Inter-American Development Bank and the World Bank to acquire and distribute COVID-19 vaccines and mitigate the pandemic's impact while supporting national health systems (*91, 92*). Also, through PAHO's Response Strategy and Donor Appeal, the Organization aimed to scale up its response and mitigate the longer-term impact of the pandemic in the Americas.

The COVID-19 partners platform played a key role in monitoring contributions and reporting by the COs. However, not all indicators were available for all countries (i.e., hospitalization, percentage of hospital bed occupancy, number of intensive care unit [ICU] patients, and percentage of ICU bed occupancy). Also, PAHO supported the development of action reviews (initially in selected Brazilian states) to monitor and review the emergency response and recovery actions, identify crucial gaps, and optimize response plans (*90, 93*).



### Pillar 2: Risk communication, community engagement, and infodemic management

PAHO developed and distributed risk communication tools across the Region for healthcare workers, the media, and leaders. Communication efforts to address vaccine hesitancy and build trust in countries' immunization programs has been one key challenge. Countries also adapted messages to the specific context, to be culturally sensitive, and delivered in an effective manner.

PAHO undertook different activities to help improve risk communication campaigns at the country level. For example, in Mexico PAHO organized perception laboratories that analyzed and adapted the contents of messages to improve confidence in the public campaigns; manage uncertainty regarding the trend and evolution of the different epidemic waves; or mitigate the stigma and discrimination toward health personnel.<sup>41</sup>

In Guatemala, PAHO supported the MoH through rapid surveys to analyze barriers to COVID-19 vaccination, validated key messages (free vaccine, safety, collateral effects, voluntary, etc.); addressed topics and myths that required clarification (vaccine may cause death, includes a chip to control population, vaccines are bad, etc.); identified the best agents to deliver the health messages (radio, community visits, local leaders, teachers, etc.); and inquired into cultural issues relevant to supporting vaccination (indigenous language, positive contents, simple messages, avoiding technicalities, etc.) (74).

PAHO's support was key and important due to widespread misinformation, fake news, and disinformation on mass media channels and social networks. PAHO improved coverage by reaching millions of followers via social media (Facebook [1.1 million], Twitter [112 400], and Instagram [505 000]) and helped disseminate 361 million videos on YouTube, 19 200 articles on Google Scholar, and 550 million tweets (*94*).

PAHO's participation in press meetings as international experts was fundamental to clarify doubts about vaccine effectiveness and reinforce the need to enhance risk perceptions and conduct; improve adherence to preventive measures; and remove misconceptions, misbeliefs, and misinformation regarding COVID-19 and its prevention, control, and treatment. A total of 1026 infographics were produced to offer guidance on protecting the health of workers, older persons, and other vulnerable populations (*95*).

# *Pillar 3: Surveillance, epidemiological investigation, contact tracing, and adjustment of public health and social measures*

To slow down COVID-19 transmission, social and public health measures were applied to affected communities. One of the most successful strategies implemented by PAHO was the immediate action taken to strengthen the regional capacity of surveillance systems to detect COVID-19 cases, supported by routine severe acute respiratory infections/influenza-like illness event-based and sentinel surveillance systems (96).

<sup>41</sup> Confidential document provided by the MoH of Mexico.

PAHO adopted innovative tools for outbreak investigation, specifically Go.Data, that integrated functionalities for case investigation, contact follow-up, and visualization of chains of transmission (97). Together with the Global Outbreak and Response Network, PAHO trained over 30 countries; 21 integrated Go.Data in their COVID-19 pandemic response. PAHO also developed the COVID-19 risk assessment tool for health authorities to assess their vulnerability and the risk of COVID-19 spreading. This enabled countries to determine the number of individuals at increased risk of severe COVID-19 due to underlying conditions; formulate possible strategies to shield extremely vulnerable people from infection; manage chronic conditions; and guide vaccine allocation for those at the highest risk (98).

# *Pillar 4: Points of entry, international travel and transport, mass gatherings, and population movement*

COVID-19 control strategies centered on the use of nonpharmaceutical interventions, including personal protective measures, environmental measures, physical distancing, and international travel measures. PAHO provided national authorities with a framework and technical guidelines for social distancing and travel-related measures (testing before travel). PAHO also worked with national authorities to disseminate risk communication materials in spaces where incoming travelers could find information and IPC measures to reduce the risk of infection (*99*). By September 2020, most of the countries in the Caribbean subregion began to resume nonessential travel to reactivate their tourism-dependent economies. This was later adopted by most countries as a political decision driven by economic pressures rather than the result of a risk assessment process proposed by PAHO (*100*).

The "indirect" effect of PAHO's support ensured institutions and systems in many countries continued to function by providing technical guidelines for mass gatherings to guarantee safety to the populations, including security for the electoral process. PAHO's technical guidance for preventing mass gatherings was a key measure used in the lead-up to 26 political elections that took place in the Region during the pandemic.

PAHO has been a key player in coordinating healthcare strategies and quarantine options (hotels, camps, houses) for groups on the move. Border controls created challenges, particularly where social and economic reasons caused the historical movement of migrants and refugees (Colombia/Venezuela [Bolivarian Republic of]; Guatemala/Mexico; Dominican Republic/Haiti; Mexico/United States). An additional input from PAHO was the socialization of mass gathering guidelines to support political elections in the Region.

## Pillar 5: Laboratory and diagnostics

The Americas developed a strong influenza laboratory surveillance network (30 National Influenza Centers [NICs] in 26 countries) with molecular diagnosis platforms regularly evaluated by the WHO Global Influenza Surveillance and Response System. PAHO rapidly trained the NICs, as well as several national public health laboratories and the Caribbean Public Health Agency laboratory, on the recommended Charité-Berlin protocol to detect and confirm COVID-19 cases. As a result, 28 countries have implemented molecular diagnostic methods in at least one National Public Health Laboratory (NPHL), and at least 18 countries have in-country sequencing capacity.

PAHO supported countries to strengthen their capacity for timely access to enzymes, critical reagents, and testing material, and continued to donate laboratory reagents and supplies to at least 28 countries in the Region (*101*). Despite the efforts made by PAHO to support the NPHLs, the continued increase in the number of cases and associated samples received exceeded the capacities in most of the laboratories, resulting in a severe delay in the number of samples processed (more than 30% in some countries). Private laboratories provided serological and polymerase chain reaction (PCR) diagnoses to the population and the results were fed back to the MoHs. The epidemiological impact of this on improved surveillance is not available.

The rollout of an antigen-based rapid detection test (Ag-RDT) has allowed all countries to decentralize and increase their testing capacity. WHO launched the COVID-19 Access to COVID-19 Tools (ACT) Accelerator Diagnostics Partnership. Aligned with this initiative, PAHO developed guidelines for the introduction and implementation of alternative virologic diagnostic methods to complement and scale up diagnostic capacity and increase access to testing for remote areas and vulnerable populations. PAHO also donated millions of COVID-19 PCR tests and Ag-RDTs through PAHO's Strategic Fund.

PAHO has supported countries to strengthen surveillance within the framework of the Regional Network for Genomic Surveillance of COVID-19. Through this network, PAHO supported over 20 countries from all four subregions to generate high-quality SARS-CoV-2 genomic sequence data through next generation sequencing (NGS) and share their genomic sequences in a timely manner (*102*).

#### Pillar 6: Infection prevention and control (IPC), and protection of health workforce

PAHO worked with MoHs to estimate needs for personal protective equipment (PPE), essential medicines, and other supplies based on epidemiological trends and projections. All countries of the Americas have implemented measures to reinforce IPC, and 33 countries reported having a national IPC program and water, sanitation, and hygiene (WASH) standards in healthcare facilities. International procurement of essential response goods, such as PPE, was a challenge due to an increase in global demand, restrictions on air freight, and shipping and export bans imposed by manufacturing countries. Countries had to find ways to produce locally, including converting factories to produce their own PPE and essential medical devices.

#### Pillar 7: Case management, clinical operations, and therapeutics

Throughout 2020, PAHO shared guidance on evidence-based case management and therapeutics for COVID-19 through its Ongoing Living Update of COVID-19 Therapeutic Options: Summary of Evidence database. A new referral system also was set up to bring patients to ICUs that were designated for the COVID-19 response and provided appropriate medical equipment for treatment. The database is the result of this ongoing (daily) effort to update the therapeutic options for COVID-19 and presents an evidence summary of 235 pharmacological interventions for the management of COVID-19 (*103*).

There were moderate levels of preparedness in laboratory capacity for diagnosis of SARS-CoV-2, isolation, and case management as indicated by a COVID-19 readiness self-assessment survey (*104*). This was conducted between January and April 2020 in more than 579 hospitals (public and private) in

19 countries. Scores were lowest for areas related to the care of patients requiring critical care and the availability of equipment for medical care, including PPE and ventilators.

An analysis of four countries (Chile, Colombia, Mexico, and Peru) indicated an increase of 161% in critical care capacity between March 2020 and March 2021, with occupancy rates as high as 93% in January 2021. Brazil reported an increase of 61% in ICU capacity (including the private sector) between February 2020 and January 2021: 24 states and the Federal District had occupancy rates for ICU equal to or greater than 80% in March (*105*).

Countries struggled to provide patients with continued intensive care, and this was further compounded by long COVID. Other challenges to health services at the country level included gaps in human resources and a lack of incentives; difficulties in Internet connectivity to provide training and resources for telemedicine; shortages of medicines, supplies, medical devices, PPE, and logistics to carry out case investigation and contact tracing; and testing, triage, and home care. PAHO trained over 70 000 health workers in case management and therapeutics.

### Pillar 8: Operational support and logistics, and supply chains

PAHO has made quality assurance a critical component of its technical support for procuring goods, supplies, and equipment. The pandemic severely interrupted regular supply chains for medical supplies and equipment. It also disrupted commercial flights that PAHO relied upon to deploy experts and transport medicines, supplies, and equipment. Countries found themselves in a complex market for procuring supplies and medicines, requiring permanent quality control of items produced by unreliable actors.

PAHO has been supporting and advising countries on regulatory frameworks related to procurement, shipping, freight, logistics, and technical specifications for PPE, oxygen concentrators, in vitro diagnostics, and other supplies and equipment critical to the COVID-19 response. PAHO has shared tools to help quantify essential supplies; provide information on the current global market situation; identify qualified suppliers; and supply pricing information for the procurement of medical equipment and supplies.

#### Pillar 9: Strengthening essential health services and systems

The pandemic created unprecedented pressure on health systems and services. Priority given to managing the pandemic interrupted routine health services and programs, including vaccination campaigns, sexual and reproductive health services, malaria elimination, tuberculosis prevention and control, and programs for NCDs. The situation was compounded by the stress and exhaustion experienced by healthcare workers, mainly women who were also at higher risk of burnout. This further constrained capacity of subnational health systems.

COVID-19 has particularly affected the continuity of essential services provided at the first level of care. The preliminary results from the Essential Health Services survey indicated important disruptions to essential services. The percentage of countries reporting partial or severe disruption of services varied by program areas: 55% for family planning and contraception; 47% for antenatal care; 39% and 37% for routine immunization services in health facilities and outreach, respectively; 47% for NCD diagnosis and treatment; 47% for cancer diagnosis and treatment; and 77% for mental health services. Twenty countries started to reorganize their systems to provide the first level of care to respond to the pandemic (*106*).

Given the disruptions to health services in the region, PAHO's advocacy and guidance to Member States to protect essential health services and continue regular technical cooperation while addressing the pandemic response helped Member States ensure the continuity and recovery of health systems.<sup>42,43</sup>

#### Pillar 10: Vaccination

PAHO provided ongoing support and guidance to prepare the COVID-19 NVDPs as well as strategies related to financing the procurement of vaccines.

Despite good intentions, the COVAX mechanism was not as successful as expected (80). COVAX failed to deliver on its targets and timelines due to vaccine supply shortage resulting from high-income countries purchasing vaccines directly from manufacturers, reducing the overall number of available vaccines in the market. Most LAC countries only received around 30% of the supply they contracted through COVAX, which had an indirect impact on PAHO's reputation (107).

In addition, a modification to the initial COVAX design allowed self-financing countries to purchase vaccines to cover 10%–50% of their population, while Advance Market Commitment (AMC) countries could only receive 20% coverage with vaccines selected by Gavi, contributing to an even more unequitable vaccine distribution. In response to the delays, countries on the COVAX waiting list started to purchase vaccines through bilateral agreements too, causing a self-reinforcing dynamic that reduced COVAX's vaccine supply. As of October 2022, 87% of the total vaccines available in the region had been obtained through bilateral or multilateral agreements (*108*).

As of 30 October 2022, COVAX had provided 155 million vaccines to the Region, which represents 6% of all vaccines delivered in the Americas, or 10% of all vaccines across the LAC region (155 million vaccines were provided by COVAX out of the 1.6 billion vaccines purchased overall in LAC countries). Twenty-three countries in the Region participated in COVAX, 13 of which were self-financing countries. The remaining 10 participating countries and territories were eligible to receive COVAX vaccines for free through AMC to vaccinate 20% of their population. These were Bolivia (Plurinational State of), Dominica, El Salvador, Grenada, Haiti, Honduras, Nicaragua, Saint Lucia, Saint Vincent and the Grenadines, and Martinique.<sup>44</sup>

<sup>42</sup> See Section 2.5, Sustainability.

<sup>43</sup> Based on interviews with PAHO personnel as well as country office personnel (MoH) and other strategic partners.

<sup>44</sup> Refer to Annex 5.1 for details on the COVAX mechanism. Pan American Health Organization. Evaluation of the Pan American Health Organization Response to COVID-19 2020–2022. Volume II. Annexes. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2023. Available from: https://doi.org/10.37774/9789275127476.

High-income countries (HICs) failed to financially contribute adequately and thus guarantee universal vaccine access. Double-standard vaccination targets (20% for low- and middle-income countries [LMICs] and 50% for HICs) were introduced in the COVAX self-financing mechanism (*109*). Wealthy countries procured vaccine doses through bilateral deals with multiple manufacturers. This vaccine nationalism resulted in the waste of expired vaccines. By January 2022, less than 10% of LMIC populations had received a single dose of the COVID-19 vaccine (*110*). The United States announced the donation of 900 million vaccines and by October 2022 had already donated 276.2 million (*111*). Distribution of the donated vaccines was sometimes challenging due to the short notice of the donation and the close expiration dates of the donated vaccines.

In the Americas, the PAHO Revolving Fund for Access to Vaccines (RFV) is recognized as the procurement mechanism for COVAX and the most suitable for providing equitable access to COVID-19 vaccines in the region, on behalf of the 10 countries eligible for AMC financing and the 28 self-financing countries and territories in the COVAX portfolio in the Americas.<sup>45</sup> PAHO estimated that the initial economic burden of the new COVID-19 vaccines could be 12 to 18 times the countries' annual national immunization budget.

To acquire the vaccine for 20% of their total population – the quantity required to target the most high-risk groups – countries would have needed to invest up to three times their annual immunization budgets in 2021. The introduction of the new COVID-19 vaccines placed unprecedented fiscal pressures on national budgets of the 28 self-financing countries in the Americas, with transfer of more than USD 433 million in down/up-front payments to the COVAX Facility during October 2020 and an additional USD 660 million in financial guarantees (*35*).

PAHO supported 28 countries to evaluate their cold chain capacities and update their cold chain equipment inventories, including logistics requirements for vaccine distribution. The Guidelines to Plan for COVID-19 Vaccine Introduction assisted national immunization programs (NIPs) in planning for COVID-19 vaccine introduction and supported the development and cost of comprehensive COVID-19 vaccination plans (*112*).

PAHO encouraged countries to strengthen their information systems, vaccine safety, and the surveillance of events attributable to vaccination or immunization and adverse events following COVID-19 and other vaccine immunizations. Together with WHO, PAHO developed the Vaccine Introduction Readiness Assessment Tool (VIRAT), a planning road map to prepare for COVID-19 vaccine introduction, with 35 countries populating a dashboard to provide an overview of regional readiness.

Table 1 summarizes which activities worked well and less well in PAHO's response.

<sup>45</sup> For more than 40 years, the PAHO Revolving Fund has supported 42 Member States and territories to capture forecasted demand of vaccine, syringe, and other related immunization supplies across the Region and leverage economies of scale to ensure access to high-quality vaccines and affordable prices.

#### TABLE 1

### Summary of what worked well and less well in PAHO's response

WHAT WORKED WELL	WHAT WORKED LESS WELL
PAHO's early institutional reactivity	<ul> <li>Policy dialogue at country level (in some countries)</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Early activation of IMS/emergency medical teams (EMTs)</li> </ul>	Communication management
<ul><li>"Whole-of-government" approach</li></ul>	<ul> <li>IMS setup for a sustained large-scale public health emergency</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Alignment with MoH priorities and estimations of national needs (including vaccination plans)</li> </ul>	Cooperation modalities: South–South cooperation/risk communication
• PAHO bridging global information, regional	Pillars: vaccination
perspective, and national realities (bilateral direction)	<ul> <li>Dual management of COVAX and bilateral agreements</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Cooperation modalities: Technical cooperation/ logistics and supply chain/education and training</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Internal communication (HQs, subregional, COs)</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Pillars: Operational support, logistics and supply chain/coordination, planning, and financing/ epidemiological surveillance/infection prevention and control</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Synergies with UNICEF and alignment PAHO–WHO</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>SPRP monitoring framework not conceived for organizational performance</li> </ul>
Virtual campus and regional laboratory network	<ul> <li>Teleworking paradox, closing of COs, and provision of technical cooperation remotely</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Transformation of the procurement function (strategic role of Revolving and Strategic Funds)</li> </ul>	Mental health and work–family life balance
<ul> <li>Support to digital transformation (internal and external)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Personnel responsibilities under emergency response and compensation schemes</li> </ul>
Expansion of partnerships	
<ul> <li>Coordination role for health response within UNCTs and synergies with WFP</li> </ul>	
Panama hub and national stockpiles	

# 2.2.3 What have been the main internal factors affecting PAHO's response?<sup>46</sup>

**Summary of key findings:** Internally, PAHO's response to COVID-19 was affected by the critical financial and human resource situation, the shortcomings in communication between PAHO HQ and COs, and PAHO's personnel contracting policy during the pandemic.

<sup>46</sup> More information about internal factors is in Annex 5.2, including main factors (internal, external) that compromised PAHO's response. Pan American Health Organization. Evaluation of the Pan American Health Organization Response to COVID-19 2020–2022. Volume II. Annexes. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2023. Available from: https://doi.org/10.37774/9789275127476.

• More broadly, factors that affected PAHO's capacity to respond in key areas included the excessive centralization of decisions in Geneva (WHO) and the dependence on COVAX for vaccine purchase and distribution.

PAHO's performance was modified accordingly in response to the financial crisis and the risks identified. The financial crisis experienced by PAHO was mainly due to the contributions lost from the United States and the assessed contributions due from Member States, participating states, and associate members (amounting to USD 179 million in January 2022) (*113*). Other key risk areas included dependence upon and need to ensure Member States fulfilled their financial commitments; the ability to support Member State needs through resource mobilization and leveraging support from partners and donors; the limitations to respond rapidly to Member State needs in emergencies and disasters; and the competing national priorities that reduced the attention given to health priorities.

Internal communication between different levels within WHO was not as smooth. There was lack of timely sharing of strategic information. Some topics were complicated, such as PPE, messages related to the use of masks and efficacy of quarantines (duration), as well as asymptomatic transmission. All this created a complex institutional environment. PAHO needed to improve communication and cohesion in content across various topics. An example was communication between PAHO, WHO, and COVAX regarding the arrival and quantity of vaccines. The teams that worked directly with the Member States did not have the information in advance to assist Member States better in terms of the quantity of vaccines and arrival dates.

Within PAHO there were gaps in internal communication systems – decisions that were taken at HQ were not always discussed with the country representatives. The operational infrastructure and need for cohesion between PAHO, HQ, and COs required better communication. The emergency mode, under the IMS, was not well accepted by all PAHO personnel. Some felt excluded from management and decisionmaking, while others argued that responding in an emergency mode was not within their terms of reference, making the incident manager's job difficult.

At the start of the COVID-19 pandemic, PAHO had limited human resource capacity to scale up and provide an adequate response to Member States. Many managers were focused on departmental agendas to recognize broader organizational needs. This issue became increasingly exacerbated during each phase of the pandemic, and PAHO faced enormous challenges in facilitating rotation and additional support for personnel. During the vaccination stage, PAHO struggled due to limited expertise in risk communication.

PAHO's personnel contracting policies and obligations impaired employees' work continuity during the pandemic. Limited technical and practical experience of PAHO personnel in responding to emergencies led to communication delays between COs and HQ, which slowed down logistic processes. There was a need for personnel to be in the field to understand the complex nature of and response to the pandemic. This meant PAHO did not have human resources in essential areas to provide the surge capacity required by the Member States. Given the reduced number of personnel at the start of the

pandemic, the border closures, and PAHO's long hiring processes, the PWRs did what they could with the resources available and hired local personnel when emergency funding started being available at the country level.

On occasions, specialized teams from outside PAHO were available and ready to contribute to the response; however, PAHO's administrative procedures impeded their use and optimum incorporation into the operations. The University del Valle in Guatemala, for example, performed an outstanding job analyzing vaccine hesitancy in Guatemala and produced communications materials in indigenous languages for the Western and Petén regions of the country (74). However, personnel at the country level were unable to provide financial resources for the fieldwork, data analysis, and production of reports due to PAHO's complex administrative, financial, and contracting procedures.

Governance of WHO proved to be inadequate for the pandemic response. WHO failed or was hesitant to act on potentially serious risks and uncertainties about the infectiousness of the virus, its asymptomatic spread, and the transmission methods. It was also slow to advocate for policy responses (e.g., WHO did not recommend the use of face masks until 5 June 2020) (17). PAHO had to follow WHO's lead even though pressure from within Member States mounted as they demanded immediate action. The organizational structures and leadership gave rise to misperceptions and opinions that undermined credibility and trust within both organizations (114).

The excessive centralization of political, strategic, technical, and administrative decisions in WHO Geneva prevented the optimum performance of entities such as PAHO. This resulted in mistrust in the recommendations provided by WHO in key aspects of the response. PAHO's dependence on WHO's decisionmaking prevented it from negotiating efficiently and responding to the Member States to the degree required. The high level of focus on Africa reduced the attention and priority given to the Americas, even though the Region experienced higher numbers of cases and deaths.<sup>47</sup>

Dependence on WHO for vaccine purchase and distribution under the COVAX initiative was a major obstacle to achieving equity in vaccine delivery and protection of vulnerable groups. The bilateral agreements established by governments with the pharmaceutical industry severely undermined the opportunities for LMICs to access vaccines in sufficient numbers and at better prices. COVAX's communication channels with countries and PAHO were not functional. This affected PAHO's image. One of the main factors involved in COVAX's failure to deliver on its targets and timelines was that vaccine-producing companies made bilateral contracts directly with the governments that paid the highest prices rather than with COVAX, which insisted on lower prices for low-income countries.

Member States' criticism of PAHO was mainly linked to the performance of the COVAX initiative. Legislation or financial resources impeded the establishment of bilateral agreements with vaccine

<sup>47</sup> As of 11 May 2022, 30% of all cases and 44% of all deaths reported globally had occurred in the Region of the Americas, which accounts for 13% of the world's population. See: World Health Organization. Weekly epidemiological update on COVID-19 - 11 May 2022. Geneva: WHO; 2022 [cited 19 December 2022]. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/ m/item/weekly-epidemiological-update-on-covid-19---11-may-2022.

manufacturers in some countries. This meant that some countries were completely dependent on COVAX, and its failures led to uncomfortable situations for PAHO. For example, PAHO was blamed for vaccine shortages and delivery failures, and as a result, some countries like Guatemala and Paraguay requested changes of the PWRs.

The restrictive agreements signed by countries with vaccine companies prevented governments from donating vaccines to countries in need. Solidarity among Member States failed, and since all countries were dealing with their own emergency, humanitarian help for others was limited. Vaccine-producing companies and governments interested in purchasing vaccines from early in the pandemic were required to provide early financial support for the production, distribution, and supply of vaccines. The WHO Values Framework for the Allocation and Prioritization of COVID-19 Vaccines emphasized that "COVID-19 vaccines must be a global public good," but COVAX fell short of achieving this vision (*109, 115*).

# **2.2.4** What have been the most significant challenges (external) in responding to COVID-19 across countries and subregions?

**Summary of key findings:** Major external challenges in responding to COVID-19 included the politicization of the response (with tensions between political and technical decisionmaking, and political personnel questioning scientific evidence), the infodemic (contributing to fake news, distrust in international organizations, and vaccine hesitancy), the heterogeneous health systems (making it difficult to implement a unique strategy suited to the Region's diverse needs and national capabilities), and low IHR compliance.

- Resourcing: It was challenging for Member States to adhere to PAHO recommendations due to inadequate financing, insufficient or inadequate equipment, and lack of medical and specialized personnel trained for emergencies, especially for those countries coping with concurrent crises.
- Logistics: The disruption of supply chains delayed and made the procurement of medical supplies more expensive.

External challenges faced by PAHO prevented a cohesive and unified approach to the response. These challenges emerged from the contextual changes (social, economic, and political) and politicization of the response. This happened as countries adopted measures to contain the pandemic (e.g., border closures, lockdowns, closing of venues, prohibiting mass gatherings, tourism, and trade). In addition, the heterogeneous capacity of all the health systems in the Region influenced the effectiveness of the control measures and affected PAHO's performance at the regional and country levels.<sup>48</sup>

<sup>48</sup> Refer to Annex 5.2 for a list of challenges and actions taken by MoHs and PAHO. Pan American Health Organization. Evaluation of the Pan American Health Organization Response to COVID-19 2020–2022. Volume II. Annexes. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2023. Available from: https://doi.org/10.37774/9789275127476.



During the first phase of the pandemic, PAHO's ability to have an evidence-based policy was compromised by the lack of knowledge about the agent, the severity of the disease, and the uncertainty about the effectiveness of potential interventions for reducing the impact. Due to these uncertainties, PAHO was not able to provide an immediate response when the Member States demanded prompt action.

PAHO relied on WHO for provision of updated information on the virus, the preventive measures to be deployed, and the available control tools to respond to an emerging health crisis. At some moments, PAHO delayed the support and the technical advice to Member States because evidence-based information and recommendations only emerged as the epidemic evolved (*17*).

The COVID-19 response and related decisions became the subject of political debates (*116, 117*). Technical advice provided by PAHO and other experts was frequently questioned, creating hostile environments between politicians, PAHO personnel, and health sector personnel. PAHO respected situations where decisions were subject to political and social scrutiny, especially in cases where the emergency response was led by presidents or the highest political authorities and included border closures, relaxing travel restrictions, opening schools, and imposing restrictions on mass gatherings. However, PAHO still made efforts to ensure, to the fullest extent possible, that decisions were based

on technical and scientific evidence. It found alternative ways to provide technical support (e.g., virtual training for the most remote health units, courses on corpse management, risk communication, and epidemiological surveillance).

Some decisions made by Member States during the response were more political than technical in nature. Presidents led the response at the national level through executive committees that included experts from different sectors in support of MoHs. While this leadership was desirable and fundamental for the implementation of the NRP in some countries, the performance of and belief in the leadership influenced people's response. It led to use of alternative strategies and opposition to technical advice from PAHO and other scientific experts and delayed the implementation of sound policies. Political parties within some countries blamed their governments for the poor response to the pandemic.

In some countries, purchase of medical supplies was influenced by economic and political factors. The participation of certain economic and social groups in some advisory committees influenced decisionmaking processes related to the purchase of certain medical supplies, equipment, and early relaxation of mitigation measures (such as mass gatherings). In countries such as Argentina and Mexico, the designation of public figures to deliver public health information and messages about the use of face masks, closing of schools, improved surveillance of cases, contact tracing (sentinel vs. proactive), and testing modalities was open to criticism within academic circles and by political parties. All these factors provoked intensive debates in subnational media, thereby creating skepticism in the technical decisions made by MoHs.

At the height of the COVID-19 response, many countries had to cope with multiple concurrent crises. All these circumstances demanded additional attention and resources (financial and human) from governments and MoHs, and wide support from international agencies such as WHO, UNICEF, the United States Agency for International Development (USAID), and UNHCR. For example, in addition to the financial restrictions, economic and social turmoil was caused either by politics (Nicaragua, United States, Venezuela [Bolivarian Republic of]), or other disasters and emergencies (Eta and lota tropical storms in Central America; volcanic eruption in Saint Vincent and the Grenadines; earthquake in Haiti; migrant crisis in Mexico/United States, Mexico/Guatemala, Venezuela/Colombia, and Haiti/Dominican Republic).

PAHO encountered several challenges due to the diverse capacities and structures of health systems across the Region and the limited resources at their disposal to respond to the emergency. A continuing challenge was the coordination and integration of primary level of care facilities and hospitals, emergency medical teams, and alternative medical care sites to maintain access to quality health services. Of the 17 countries in the Region that responded to WHO's national pulse survey on the continuity of essential health services during the pandemic, only 57% reported allocating additional government funding for the purpose of ensuring essential health services (*118*). This required adaptations to service delivery (e.g., using telemedicine, adopting safety protocols, and modifying clinical approaches).

The composition of COVID-19 response teams was enhanced by mobilizing community-based workers, optimizing roles, and engaging retirees and students as health providers. Some countries, such as Guatemala, Mexico, and Paraguay, advanced in reforming their care models (COVID hospitals).

Other countries, such as Argentina, Costa Rica, Ecuador, and Peru, reactivated national initiatives to improve the quality of care in delivering health services. Some countries, such as Paraguay and Peru, implemented interventions to improve access to essential health services, such as maternity care for vulnerable populations. Many countries also implemented innovations in the delivery of individual and population-based health services, using technologies and improvements in the planning and allocation of human resources through better contractual policies and the definition of professional profiles.

It was not easy for PAHO to implement a unified strategy suited to the Region's diverse needs and capabilities. While experiences in responding to past outbreaks and "milder" pandemics had prepared countries to respond in an organized manner – through the national EOCs deployed to provide a multisectoral response – the COVID-19 pandemic rapidly highlighted the drawbacks and deficiencies within every health system. Recommendations and guidelines were provided, but compliance, coverage, and duration of such interventions were hampered by subnational capacities within each country.

Member States and their health systems had varying levels of resources and capacities to provide the first level of care for case detection, contact tracing, testing capabilities, adherence to mitigation preventive measures, and delivery of essential health services. While most of the countries in the Region adopted a variety of mitigation measures, such as nonpharmaceutical interventions (NPIs), Nicaragua, for example, did not do so, either due to political decisions or a lack of resources. In such cases, Consejo de Ministros de Salud de Centroamérica (COMISCA) could have emerged as a regional mechanism to support countries in Central America and provide technical cooperation to, for example, Nicaragua so that it did not lag behind.

Due to imposed travel restrictions, it was difficult for PAHO to accurately assess how countries set themselves up to respond to the pandemic and their level of preparedness. PAHO had to rely on its in-country personnel (e.g., PWRs) and their relationship with MoHs to ensure that the support and resources provided were aligned with the needs of each country. Paradoxically, the adoption of teleworking as part of duty-of-care policy put COs in a difficult position to support MoHs and led to misunderstandings and the closing of several COs. It was challenging for Member States to adhere to PAHO recommendations due to a lack of adequate financing and human resources available for health at the regional, national, and local levels.

Human resources available in the health sector did not align with the scale of regional and epidemiological needs. Shifting from regular programs to support the emergency response seriously affected the regular provision of health care. The shortage of healthcare workers and a lack of medical and specialized personnel trained for emergencies and critical care at the subregional and country levels demanded that all other available personnel focus on activities related to COVID-19. Strategies adopted to mitigate disruptions and recover and maintain essential health services led to modifications in service delivery in the Region. There was a lower level of implementation of other technical cooperation activities due to the focus on the pandemic response. In addition to this, low retention of HRH and physical and mental burnout of healthcare workers prevented the provision of quality health care (*119*).

The pandemic created the highest demand ever experienced in the Region for medical supplies, PPE, and specialized medical equipment for ICUs. Resources needed to meet this demand were limited. Supplies

were only reaching those countries that had the financial capacity to purchase them rather than those poorer countries most in need. This meant that the Region did not adhere to the regional solidarity principles embraced by PAHO policies. Disruption to supply chains was a key issue throughout the first stages of the pandemic, and high shipment costs, low funding, and full dependency on donations called for an urgent need to mobilize resources from NGOs and governments. Shortages of laboratory equipment and supplies were reported by 50% of countries in the Region; lack of distribution capacity of diagnostic and testing equipment in 10%; shortages of PPE in 25%; and shortages of vaccines and equipment in 10%.

Supply of vaccines, along with vaccine hesitancy, was a challenge across the entire Region, even among HRH that inhibited adherence to vaccination policies and experienced low vaccine uptake (such as in Haiti). Despite the efforts made during the first eight months of the response, the lack of vaccine availability compounded the already challenging situation. Vaccine nationalism from high-income countries (United States, Canada, European Union countries) meant that they procured many more vaccines than required, putting LMICs at risk and compromising COVAX supply to countries that had already made the down payments.

The ability to grant emergency-use listing of COVID-19 vaccines was restricted to either WHO or one of the six stringent regulatory authorities in the United States, Canada, the United Kingdom, European Union, Australia, and Japan, which once again excluded any national regulatory authority based in an LMIC. This imposed serious restrictions on countries that had no access to vaccines certified by WHO and other regulatory authorities. These countries were "forced" to buy their vaccines from "non-certified" companies (vaccine Sputnik V – Gamaleya Research Institute - and vaccine Convidecia – CanSino Biologics). However, these vaccinations were not considered valid or accepted when traveling abroad.

The infodemic contributed to the spread of myths, fake news, distrust in international organizations, and vaccine hesitancy across the Region. Some media promoted dangerous or experimental treatments and anti-science rhetoric, as shown by their opposition to COVID-19 vaccines and anti-COVID-19 prevention measures. At the same time, WHO/PAHO established new alliances with Facebook and TikTok to engage in a mass campaign against the infodemic.

The cultural diversity in the Region required community-specific communication strategies to mitigate the infodemic and support adherence to preventive measures. The infodemic and concerns about the safety of unlicensed vaccines negatively impacted the response and demand for vaccines. As the pandemic progressed and those already vaccinated were being infected or hospitalized, this further reduced confidence in vaccines. PAHO tracked and addressed the infodemic and health misinformation in all countries in the Region by, for example, supporting national communication campaigns; bringing in Perceptions Laboratories (Mexico) to guide messages according to epidemiological and cultural contexts; and performing specific communication and research studies to understand vaccine hesitancy among rural and Indigenous populations (Guatemala).

Table 2 summarizes the facilitating and hindering factors of PAHO's response.

### TABLE 2

#### Summary of facilitating and hindering factors of PAHO's response

FACILITATING FACTORS	HINDERING FACTORS
<ul> <li>PAHO's unique mandate, regional perspective, and presence</li> </ul>	External:
	Overlapping emergencies
<ul> <li>PAHO's vast technical expertise</li> </ul>	Heterogeneity of health systems
<ul> <li>Decades of close collaboration with MoHs (experience in emergency preparedness and</li> </ul>	Chronic underfunding of health sector (countries)
response)	<ul> <li>Lack of specialized personnel (countries)</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Integration in EOCs</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Lack of medical equipment and supplies (countries)</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Relationships with United States, Canada</li> </ul>	Politicization of response and questioning of scientific evidence
<ul> <li>Consolidated Revolving and Strategic Funds</li> </ul>	• Infodemics
<ul> <li>Previous investments in PAHO's digitalization</li> </ul>	• Disruptions in supply chains and increased costs of medical
Adaptation of some internal procedures     (a durinistration la minimum)	supplies
(administration, logistics)	Dependence on COVAX
<ul> <li>Expansion of employee assistance program and some duty-of-care measures</li> </ul>	Global health governance and pandemic response architecture
	Internal:
	Financial crisis and cost containment measures
	<ul> <li>Human resources situation and hiring policy</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>PAHO's personnel assuming new and additional roles</li> </ul>
	Operational capacity in some countries
	<ul> <li>Bureaucracy (delays, administrative rigidity) to work under large-scale emergency mode</li> </ul>
	Communication between HQ and COs
	Centralization of decision in WHO Geneva

## 2.3 Efficiency

# **2.3.1** How well did PAHO adapt by repurposing to respond to the COVID-19 emergency in terms of the use of time, resources, and the timeliness of product and service delivery?

**Summary of key findings:** PAHO made remarkable efforts and took exceptional measures to repurpose resources, organizational structures, and key processes to be able to respond to the pandemic, especially given its weak financial situation at the onset of

the pandemic. PAHO simplified and expedited some administrative and financial processes, as well as developed new ones, balancing flexibility with control mechanisms to ensure accountability of resource management during the emergency.

- Despite efforts made at all levels within PAHO, the resource constraints experienced during the first year of the pandemic due to the nonpayment of quota contributions from some Member States and the internal bureaucracy (complicated or unsuitable administrative procedures) left the organization in a dichotomy of the "want to do" (will) and the "be able to do" (resources).
- PAHO's institutional response, the activation of the IMS, and the adaptation and innovation in procurement processes were timely, but response in other operational areas (e.g., personnel hiring; signing of agreements; responding to national counterparts, partners, or donors) was generally perceived to be slow or insufficiently adapted to a large-scale crisis.<sup>49</sup>
- PAHO's unique mandate, strategic relations with the United States and Canada, and its institutional relations with donors facilitated resource mobilization and support for the pandemic response. However, the loss of some trust in PAHO's role in key aspects of the response and its operational capabilities, internal bureaucracy, shortcomings in reporting, and limited role in decisionmaking hindered additional mobilization of resources.
- Prioritization of COVID-19 response prevented PAHO's regular programs from benefiting from the additional funding. With additional COVID-19-related funding, PAHO's procurement function significantly evolved to play a strategic role within the organization and provide more support to Member States.

In January 2020, PAHO was compelled to make exceptional decisions and activate operational mechanisms to respond to two interlinked and unprecedented crises. Internally PAHO was in a dire financial situation that risked its continuity as an Organization and weakened its capacities (reduced personnel, investments, and programs).<sup>50</sup> Externally, PAHO was facing an unprecedented global public health emergency.

Prior to the pandemic hitting the Region, PAHO had already updated its Business Continuity Plans and warned Member States of the onset of a health crisis. The early activation of the IMS was the main internal mechanism (at HQ and CO levels) to support the emergency response efforts of Member States.<sup>51</sup> The activation of the IMS (which implies a "whole-of-PAHO" corporate response) entailed the

<sup>49</sup> Data gathered throughout interviews with MoHs, donors, and partners.

<sup>50 &</sup>quot;The level of unpaid assessed contributions was unprecedented in the history of the Organization." Source: Pan American Health Organization. Final report [CE166/FR]. 166th Session of the Executive Committee; 22–23 June 2020. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/56106.

<sup>51</sup> See previous sections for a detailed description of the IMS support to Member States.

"repurposing" of positions from regular units and programs to support the IMS organizational structure. The IMST structure evolved during the pandemic<sup>52</sup> and, at one point, PAHO activated eight technical working groups (with personnel from other departments) to reinforce the IMST "classical" setup and the comprehensiveness of the emergency response. PAHO redirected a significant portion of its personnel to support the pandemic. Increased emergency funding allowed PAHO to recruit additional positions (mainly through national and international PAHO consultants) to strengthen its response capabilities. The annual increase (2020 and 2021) in the hiring of national and international PAHO consultants shows several relevant trends:

- The increase in hiring was significantly higher during the second year of the pandemic (+58% in 2021) than during the first year (+16% in 2020). Hiring during the first year was restricted by the cost containment measures adopted by PAHO due to its dire financial situation.
- In 2019, most consultants hired were at the CO level (62% in COs and 38% in HQ), while in 2021 the majority of consultants were at the HQ level (49% in CO and 51% in HQ).
- In 2019, national consultants accounted for 62% (international 38%), while in 2021 national consultants accounted for 50% (international 50%).
- There are variations across COs in hiring of consultants (additional emergency response workforce); while some COs increased hiring, other COs maintained or reduced the number of consultants during the two years of the pandemic.
- The sharp decline toward the end of 2021 and then the subsequent rapid increase in January 2022 indicates the administrative difficulties experienced in reconciling hiring modalities with the continuity required to maintain the deployment of personnel over time.<sup>53</sup>

The activation of IMS led to the initiation of PAHO's Epidemic Emergency Fund to enable the continuation of technical cooperation activities related to the pandemic, despite the critical cash-flow difficulties.<sup>54</sup> In May 2020, in a special session, PAHO's Executive Committee authorized PAHO's Director to provide the Capital Account of the Strategic Fund an internal emergency loan of up to a maximum of USD 50 million<sup>55</sup> to support Member States with urgent procurement of medical equipment (*89*). The Executive Committee also authorized the use of a maximum of USD 15 million from the Master

<sup>52</sup> Refer to Section 2.1.5, How has PAHO adapted its response during various phases of the pandemic?

<sup>53</sup> Refer to Annex 5.3. Pan American Health Organization. Evaluation of the Pan American Health Organization Response to COVID-19 2020–2022. Volume II. Annexes. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2023. Available from: https://doi. org/10.37774/9789275127476.

<sup>54</sup> PAHO Epidemic Emergency Fund presented a balance of USD 537 000 as of 31 December 2019. Source: Pan American Health Organization. Financial Report of the Director and Report of the External Auditor 1 January 2020–31 December 2020. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2021. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/54488.

<sup>55</sup> As of 30 April 2020, the Capital Account of the Regional Revolving Fund for Strategic Public Health Supplies (the Strategic Fund) had an available balance of only USD 2 million, a level of capitalization and available cash balance insufficient to meet the needs of Member States that participate in the Strategic Fund to respond to the pandemic.

Capital Investment Fund (MCIF) and suggested other measures.<sup>56</sup> Member States were urged to ensure immediate and full payment of all outstanding assessed contributions (*88*). These exceptional financial measures demonstrated organizational repurposing to maintain PAHO's basic functions and to support Member States in their responses to the pandemic. Amid the pandemic, in which the Americas was the most impacted region worldwide, PAHO had to make managerial decisions to ensure the continuity of its operations, despite facing financial difficulties.

The pandemic impacted budget forecasts of PAHO's Strategic Plan 2020–2025. The Program Budget expenditures represented 22.9% of PAHO's total expenditures in 2020, and 20.5% in 2021 (*120, 121*). The pandemic strengthened the importance of PAHO's role in the procurement of medical items, as reflected in the significant growth of the "Procurement on behalf of Member States" budget line between 2019 and 2021 (USD 600 million). In 2021, expenditure in "Procurement on behalf of Member States" was 3.6 times more than Program Budget expenditure and 14.8 times more than expenditure through the Outbreak and Crisis Response (OCR) program, which channeled the largest part of COVID-19 funding. The decrease in the relative proportion of Program Budget expenses is explained by the increase in spending through "Procurement on behalf of Member States" (from 71.5% to 73.7% between 2019 and 2021) (see Figure 6). The evolution of procurement is very important to understand, not only in budgetary terms but also in technological and organizational terms, as it could have strategic effects on PAHO's positioning and future strategic planning.

At the beginning of the biennium 2020–2021, the total approved budget for the Program Budget 2020–2021 was USD 650 million, including USD 620 million for base programs and USD 30 million for special programs. In total, the Program Budget 2020–2021 was overfunded by 48%, or USD 315 million more than the total approved budget, due to the increased mobilized resources (USD 329 million) for special programs (10 times more than budgeted). Of this amount, 85% (USD 280 million) was budgeted for the OCR program to address the COVID-19 pandemic and other health emergencies. Base programs were overfunded by only USD 16 million (+3%), benefiting mainly from Outcome 25 (health emergencies detection and response).

PAHO mobilized itself to secure extraordinary funding for the pandemic response;<sup>57</sup> the first PAHO donor appeal was launched on 5 March 2020, and PAHO liaised with Member States to mobilize voluntary contributions, reached agreements with traditional donors (e.g., repurposing budgets from regular programs to the emergency response, leveraging additional budgets), and expanded the portfolio of new donors. During 2020 and 2021, PAHO raised USD 210.6 million in PAHO voluntary contributions and USD 142 million in emergency funds coming from an expanded donor base.

PAHO Procurement and Supply Management implemented two innovative artificial intelligence solutions to automate the purchase order requisition process (MIA) and to create advance shipment notifications (MAX). Both platforms were linked to PAHO's existing enterprise resource planning (ERP) solution,

<sup>56</sup> Including internal borrowing, the separation from service of a large part of the PAHO workforce, reductions in the take-home pay of PAHO personnel members, and discontinuation of technical programs.

<sup>57</sup> See question below: What factors influenced PAHO's ability to rapidly mobilize support for the pandemic response?

#### FIGURE 6

# Breakdown of PAHO expenses, differentiating Program Budget and procurement on behalf of Member State expenses (2018–2021)



Sources: Pan American Health Organization. Financial report of the director and report of the external auditor. 1 January 2021–31 December 2021. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2022. Available from: https://www.paho.org/en/documents/financial-report-director-and-report-external-auditor-2021-official-document-no-365-od365.

Pan American Health Organization. Financial report of the director and report of the external auditor. 1 January 2020–31 December 2020. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2021. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/54488.

Workday, and were rapidly scaled to help Member States expedite the procurement of medical strategic products, including COVID-19 vaccines.<sup>58</sup> PAHO's Procurement Department also engaged in negotiations with new suppliers to find solutions in a collapsed global market and explored alternative routes to overcome disruptions to global supply chains.

# **2.3.2** What organizational arrangements and procedures worked well and less well to deliver on time and within budget?

**Summary of key findings:** Despite the efforts made at the corporate level to adopt more agile and flexible working mechanisms and procedures, internal PAHO bureaucracy led to delays and administrative rigidity. This affected the efficiency of service delivery to Member States and resulted in missed funding opportunities, dissatisfaction among some donors

<sup>58</sup> PAHO received the World Procurement Award for Digital Impact for the implementation of MIA and MAX solutions during the pandemic.

and partners, difficulties in recruitment of personnel, and delays in signing agreements. In addition, the dual management of acquisitions through COVAX and bilateral agreements added complexity to procurement.

Internal PAHO bureaucracy emerged as one of the major factors hindering more efficient delivery of services (e.g., technical cooperation) and products (e.g., medical supplies, vaccines). PAHO's bureaucracy, especially as it related to human resources (HR), procurement, and legal processes, resulted in delays and administrative rigidity. Some of PAHO's procedures were not considered flexible enough to operate in a large-scale emergency compared to those of other agencies (*92, 122*). Bureaucracy also led to missed funding opportunities and dissatisfaction among some donors and partners. There were communication gaps between COs and HQ, and delays in recruiting personnel and signing agreements. Several external informants reported that PAHO's "historical bureaucracy" affected the organizational agility to respond to the pandemic.

PAHO response times increased, and, in some cases, there was no response to significant requests from partners both at HQ and CO levels. Several informants also noted that PAHO's lack of administrative flexibility hindered and delayed the setting up of joint working mechanisms that were better adapted to the exceptional circumstances posed by the pandemic.

In procurement, there is widespread recognition of PAHO's capacity to support large-scale purchases of quality essential medical equipment and vaccines. However, delays were reported in procuring equipment and vaccines through PAHO. There were also reports of procedures that were not adapted or flexible enough to respond to the needs of Member States.

There was parallel management of vaccine procurement through COVAX and bilateral agreements. PAHO was obliged to manage vaccine procurement through COVAX. There were pressures from Member States, and PAHO also had to support bilateral negotiations with vaccine manufacturers as a result of the delays in access through COVAX. Managing two separate processes for the same purpose and responding to very diverse national realities created an additional layer of complexity for the Procurement unit. The Caribbean subregion and other countries (e.g., Guatemala) that were restricted by law to conduct bilateral negotiations with manufacturers were particularly affected.

Turnover of PAHO personnel<sup>59</sup> in countries where the impact of the pandemic was particularly high or where countries were experiencing other crises resulted in a sense of disorganization (e.g., lack of a PAHO focal person). This presented difficulties in coordinating or communicating with national counterparts and partners.

PAHO's decision to work remotely, and in some countries to evacuate personnel, led to the closure of COs during critical moments in the response. This generated misunderstandings within MoHs or EOC at a time when PAHO's support was most needed.

<sup>59</sup> Staff turnover seems to have affected COs in particular (according to interviews with PAHO staff at the country level, although quantitative data are not available).

# **2.3.3** How did repurposing affect PAHO's regular program delivery (including the effects of the financial crisis and PAHO's ability to mobilize resources and cover some of the essential functions without funding)?

**Summary of key findings:** PAHO's regular programs were affected during the pandemic due to operational, human resources, and financial constraints. Internally, PAHO personnel from regular programs were assigned to support the pandemic response. The budget was redirected to the response, and little or no funding was allocated to regular programs. Within countries, repurposing of the health workforce for the pandemic response resulted in disruptions to regular health programs and services.

National health systems redirected most of their health professionals and resources to the emergency response and, later on, to the COVID-19 vaccine. There is documented evidence to suggest that the pandemic contributed to the decline in numerous health indicators. Within PAHO (both at HQ and CO levels), human resources were also concentrated to respond to the pandemic. At the country level, PAHO personnel found themselves without counterparts, limiting their ability to mitigate the impact of the pandemic on other health programs and services (e.g., primary care, neglected infectious diseases (NIDs), NCDs, mental health, immunizations).

Regular programs, which were already underfunded prior to the pandemic, continued to lack support. However, a small portion of the pandemic funds were used to cover PAHO's operating costs, which was essential to maintain the Organization's operations and ensure its service delivery capacity.

# **2.3.4** What factors influenced PAHO's ability to rapidly mobilize support for the pandemic response?

**Summary of key findings:** PAHO's unique and specialized regional mandate was in itself a strong factor for obtaining financial, political, and institutional support. The strategic relations between the United States, Canada, and PAHO were key in mobilizing technical cooperation, obtaining financial resources, providing technical expertise, and donating vaccines to other MoHs in the Region (once domestic needs were covered).

• PAHO was able to expand and/or consolidate relationships with multilateral and bilateral donors as well as the private sector. It was able to attract the interest of donors and partners.

PAHO's mandate was reinforced by decades of joint work with the MoHs, the institutional diplomacy developed by PAHO (both at HQ and CO levels), and the technical expertise of the PAHO professionals. In some countries, the COs had good relations and communication with authorities at the subnational level, which was an additional advantage during the response.

PAHO also had two consolidated regional procurement mechanisms for medical supplies and vaccines (the Strategic Fund and the Revolving Fund), which were appreciated by most of the MoHs. In addition,


the logistical capacity in Panama (warehouse) motivated some countries and donors to rely on PAHO for the large-scale distribution of essential medical supplies.

PAHO's institutional diplomacy and good relations with donors were instrumental in leveraging funds for the response. Canada's long-standing role within PAHO was reflected by the initial emergency humanitarian funding (CAD 7.5 million) and, later, the additional grants to support COVID-19 vaccination (CAD 80 million) and vaccine manufacturing capacities in the region (CAD 15 million), an emerging area of strategic priority.

Canada provided technical cooperation and logistical support through the Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC), Global Affairs Canada, and the military. In 2021, the change in the United States administration was crucial in reactivating not only United States financial support to WHO/PAHO but also in establishing renewed institutional and technical relationships with a larger variety of United States administrations.<sup>60</sup>

<sup>60</sup> Refer to Annex 5.3. Pan American Health Organization. Evaluation of the Pan American Health Organization Response to COVID-19 2020–2022. Volume II. Annexes. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2023. Available from: https://doi. org/10.37774/9789275127476.

PAHO was able to expand and/or consolidate relationships with multilateral and bilateral donors (e.g., European Union, World Bank, Inter-American Development Bank, Germany), private donors, and philanthropic organizations. For the first time, PAHO introduced a fundraising mechanism targeted at individual donors.

The relationship with WHO allowed PAHO to access global scientific knowledge about COVID-19, data on the behavior and patterns of the pandemic in other regions, and global funding mechanisms that were useful for the Americas.

Externally, PAHO's participation in global forums and mechanisms was limited. These mechanisms were making key decisions on pandemic response strategies and international funding that had an impact on the Americas. The political debates concerning scientific evidence and vaccine hesitancy made it difficult to obtain more decisive support for the COVID-19 vaccination campaigns in several countries in the region.

## **2.3.5** To what extent have PAHO duty-of-care measures contributed to protecting the health and well-being of PAHO personnel and ensuring the continuity of PAHO's support?

**Summary of key findings:** There is broad recognition that PAHO's achievements during the pandemic were due to the commitment and professionalism of its personnel although at a high personal cost. PAHO expanded its employee assistance program, including its counseling services and its existing remote working modality, as part of the duty-of-care policy.

- Teleworking enabled the Organization to continue its operations, but it had an impact on PAHO personnel's ability to deliver technical cooperation and interact with some national counterparts during the initial and critical moments of the pandemic.
- Achieving a satisfactory work–life balance while working from home was challenging for PAHO personnel while working remotely. There was a significant increase in workload, and many worked long hours, especially during the first year of the pandemic.
- PAHO personnel faced challenges to their well-being and suffered personal losses. The hiring process was initially frozen (due to existing cost-containment measures), and the measures adopted by PAHO were neither available to all personnel nor adequate to support their mental health and well-being.
- PAHO personnel, especially those in COs, reported that PAHO did not prioritize them or their families for COVID-19 vaccination.

To protect its personnel, PAHO, in accordance with WHO policies, prepared guidelines for personnel at HQ and COs, and expanded its teleworking modality and its employee assistance program, including counseling services. PAHO provided information about how to proceed if any of its personnel were sick

because of the pandemic and offered equipment for working at home. To address health and wellbeing, an existing web page was enhanced to include information about the pandemic and provide travel guidance, and information on psychological and medical support was updated to include medical evacuation procedures and a form for the reporting of positive COVID-19 cases (*123*).

Although PAHO quickly adapted to provide special working conditions and well-being support to its personnel, many of them still faced work overload and pressure, especially those who worked directly in the pandemic response, causing staff burnout, fatigue, and exhaustion.<sup>61</sup> During the first year of the pandemic, PAHO was only able to hire to a limited extent due to cost-containment measures. It was not until mid-2021 that PAHO was able to massively mobilize additional human resources. In addition, survey respondents pointed out the imbalances between departments regarding the number of personnel. Some cost centers had more personnel, while others had smaller teams but a higher load of responsibilities and demands during the emergency response.<sup>62</sup>

The Department of Health Emergencies (PHE) and the Health Systems and Services (HSS) department worked almost nonstop on the IMST since the start of the pandemic (based on interviews and survey).<sup>63</sup> A number of personnel in PHE have experienced burnout-related symptoms as a result of high workload and sustained stress.

#### Teleworking

PAHO's decision to expand an existing remote working modality as part of its duty-of-care policy reduced the potential exposure of personnel to the virus and enabled the Organization to continue its operations while aiming to protect its personnel and their families<sup>64</sup> (*124*).

The majority of PAHO personnel responding to the survey (89%; 769 respondents) worked remotely during the pandemic (both fully remote or via a hybrid model) and reported that teleworking (81%; 620 respondents) did not negatively impact their productivity (*124, 125*). Teleworking also enabled better work–life balance in addition to contributing to personal well-being, as reported by 82% of survey respondents (622 respondents).

The negative effects of teleworking and its impact on productivity was encountered when delivering technical cooperation to or interacting with national counterparts (*30, 124*). Additionally, working from home was sometimes challenging, especially for women who often found they were expected to attend to demanding family and domestic matters in addition to their professional duties (*124*). According to the surveys, the pandemic affected the work–life balance of 90% of respondents (782 respondents)

<sup>61</sup> Interviews: PAHO HQ and CO; survey: open questions.

<sup>62</sup> Survey open questions.

<sup>63</sup> Survey open questions.

<sup>64</sup> PAHO Constitution 1947 Article 1. Purposes: The fundamental purposes of the Pan American Health Organization (hereinafter called the Organization) shall be to promote and coordinate efforts of the countries of the Western Hemisphere to combat disease, lengthen life, and promote the physical and mental health of the people. See also Pan American Sanitary Code.

either positively (37%) or negatively (51%), but women were slightly more affected negatively than men (53% vs. 48%, respectively).

PAHO implemented measures to make working hours more flexible, alleviate administrative burden (e.g., a simplification of sick leave reporting) and challenges of remote work, and provide mental health counseling sessions free of charge (*124*). However, these measures were not available to all personnel and were not adequate to support the mental health and well-being of PAHO personnel<sup>65</sup> (*126*).

Regarding access to features/facilities to support PAHO personnel's health and well-being, 51% of respondents stated that PAHO provided some resources for their health and well-being, but few people accessed it; only 19% had access to counseling services and mental health professionals for free; 18% to flexible working hours; 15% to recognized support for accessing COVID-19 vaccines or testing and health care in case of symptoms; 10% to recognized support for reconciling life and work; and 4% to free-time activities to socialize.

#### Well-being

There is broad consensus that PAHO's achievements during the pandemic were due to the commitment and professionalism of its personnel. However, this commitment came at a cost to personnel well-being and personal losses; 45% of the survey respondents stated that they lost a friend or colleague due to COVID-19 and did not receive sufficient support from the Organization. The level of stress experienced by PAHO personnel increased during the pandemic (81%), with women being slightly more affected than men (82% vs. 78%, respectively) due to high workload (64%), difficulty balancing professional and personal life (43%), fear of COVID-19 (43%), health concerns (38%), tight deadlines for deliveries/tasks at work (38%), financial crisis (25%), and caring for ill family members (22%).<sup>66</sup>

PAHO personnel took on several tasks in addition to their usual duties, which contributed to the increase in workload and levels of stress. Technical personnel had to deal with different tasks at the same time (e.g., project management, HR, and finances) without support from additional recruits. Several interviews at the HQ and COs mentioned the need to review hiring policies to improve workload, working conditions, and remuneration.

#### COVID-19 vaccination

PAHO actively helped facilitate the rollout of COVID-19 vaccines purchased by the United Nations for personnel working in PWR offices and centers in the Region (*128*). Nevertheless, PAHO personnel, especially in COs, perceived that PAHO did not prioritize vaccinating its personnel and their families. PAHO guidelines for its personnel indicated that they should follow the decision made by the countries

<sup>65</sup> The Health and Well-being Unit became a very active unit to support and provide guidelines about personal mental health measures. The unit has expanded resources in terms of mental health counseling to CO/centers that used to be available only to HQ. They had a PAHO mental health services program, which provided support by texting, emailing, and online chat 24/7 to HQ and CO/centers where personnel could talk about any problem and have a counseling session with a psychologist.

<sup>66</sup> Refer to Annex 6 – Survey results. Pan American Health Organization. Evaluation of the Pan American Health Organization Response to COVID-19 2020–2022. Volume II. Annexes. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2023. Available from: https://doi. org/10.37774/9789275127476.

they were based in.<sup>67</sup> This created tension and discomfort among personnel, especially those who were on the "front line," working directly with MoHs or in COs that remained operational, and those who were located in countries where there was a high incidence of infection.

Due to this, there were two cases identified during the evaluation where PAHO personnel did not respect the internal guidelines, got vaccinated outside the country's vaccination schedule, and had to resign. To protect its contingent workers,<sup>68</sup> PAHO took out a pandemic insurance policy that was available to all consultants responding directly to the COVID-19 emergency.

#### Equipment

To support the work during the pandemic, PAHO provided supplies and equipment for teleworking (e.g., Internet access, computer, screens, keyboard, and mouse) (57%); IT guidance and support (56%); and ergonomic guidance (35%), according to survey respondents. The number of laptops increased considerably, while the number of desktop PCs decreased. Most of these resources were made available during the second year of the pandemic (2021), while mandatory teleworking was initiated in 2020.

#### 2.4 Coordination

2.4.1 How has PAHO engaged with partners, including other United Nations agencies, regional institutions, academia, NGOs, civil society organizations (CSOs), and the private sector to ensure a focus on national needs? How well has PAHO coordinated its response to ensure a timely and cost-effective response and avoid duplication?

**Summary of key findings:** PAHO's coordination role within UNCTs was overall considered to be useful. In particular, the joint work through the UNHRD in Panama significantly reinforced regional logistical and distribution capacities. In addition, PAHO contributed to setting up roundtable discussions with donors and providing guidance to the Member States on funding and support opportunities. PAHO worked with existing partners during the response to COVID-19, considering their experience and regional and national capabilities, and established new partnerships with a larger number and different types of organizations to mobilize resources to increase the reach and coverage of its programs and foster cooperation.

PAHO was the leading agency coordinating the health response to the pandemic and acting as a bridge between Member States, United Nations agencies, donors, partners, and stakeholders from across multiple sectors. Overall, the joint work between PAHO and the rest of the United Nations agencies was strengthened during the pandemic. The timeliness of PAHO's institutional reaction to the pandemic and

<sup>67</sup> In other words, "the corresponding national authorities had the ultimate decision of who should receive the vaccine in their countries."

<sup>68</sup> Only contingent workers, such as national and international PAHO consultants, interns, and temporary advisors.

#### FIGURE 7

### Extent to which PAHO coordinated its response well to ensure timely and cost-effective response and avoid duplications



Note: All percentages are rounded up.

Source: EPRC Gallup and Kobo survey of PAHO personnel, 2022.

the sharing within the UNCTs (and other humanitarian and development actors) of global and regional information about the evolution of the pandemic were positively perceived. According to the surveys, 65% of respondents reported that PAHO's response was coordinated well or very well (see Figure 7).

The evaluation was not able to fully document and assess the coordination between WHO and PAHO during the pandemic. There appears to have been intense interactions at senior management and operational and technical levels, and efforts by the joint working groups to regularly adjust the response plans to the pandemic and provide the international community with the most updated scientific and epidemiological information. However, alignment between WHO and PAHO on certain issues does not appear to have been optimal, which led to confusion at key moments of the pandemic. This suggests the need to rethink coordination mechanisms between the regional and global levels during large-scale public health emergencies.

Particular synergies have been documented with WFP and UNICEF. In Panama, coordination with WFP, particularly through UNHRD, was instrumental and effective in delivering 747 tons of medical supplies to 36 affected countries via 348 international shipments. PAHO, WFP, and the Government of Canada mobilized military aircraft to rapidly distribute medical supplies. Moreover, the installed capacity of the UNHRD was instrumental in responding effectively to the interrelation of emergencies in the subregion (e.g., hurricanes Eta and lota, earthquake in Haiti, a volcanic eruption in Saint Vincent and the Grenadines). Concerning UNICEF, the coordination between the two agencies in some countries appeared to be challenging, and synergies were not sufficiently explored.

Concerning the private sector, the new partnerships established demonstrate how PAHO can engage new actors through innovative methods to collaborate and make use of new resources to strengthen its emergency response. Furthermore, the new partnerships with logistic institutions may continue to facilitate PAHO's work during other emergency responses, including response to disasters and outbreaks. As a result of the efforts made by academic and research institutions, new surveillance and diagnostic networks will remain in place for future outbreaks.

Assessment of coordination across categories of stakeholders is presented in Table 3.

#### TABLE 3

## Coordination and transformation of selected partnerships during the pandemic response

TYPES OF PARTNERSHIPS	ACTIONS AND ACTIVITIES OF THE PARTNERSHIPS <sup>a</sup>	TRANSFORMATION AND ASSESSMENT OF PARTNERSHIPS
Academic and research institutions	<ul> <li>Sequencing and genomic surveillance of SARS-CoV-2.</li> <li>Training professionals from Latin American countries for the diagnosis of COVID-19.</li> </ul>	Although PAHO was already engaged with many academic and research institutions, the pandemic allowed these relationships to grow and regional capacity and subnational pandemic response to expand.
	• Developing and implementing molecular (PCR-based) screening protocols for early detection of variants of concern (VOC) and surveillance.	Thanks to the relationship with academic and research institutions, PAHO was able to develop and implement diagnostic and surveillance tools in the countries,
	Producing AstraZeneca COVID-19 vaccine.	integrating the Member States in a surveillance network to detect SARS-CoV-2
	• Evaluating the commercial diagnostic kits.	variants.
	<ul> <li>Developing a COVID-19 comorbidities tool, enabling countries to determine the number of individuals at increased risk of severe COVID-19 due to underlying conditions.</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Developing tools to calculate the effective reproductive number (Rt) using the EpiEstim application and to project possible new infections and better understand the dynamics of the pandemic using a corresponding web-based application.</li> </ul>	
Government organizations	<ul> <li>Developing a subregional contingency plan for COVID-19, with PAHO providing technical cooperation and epidemic intelligence, especially for COVID-19 response during the hurricane season (Eta and lota).<sup>b</sup></li> </ul>	The engagement with governments and public bodies, although preestablished, was strengthened during the pandemic response. These relationships allowed PAHO to provide a tailored response in the subregions to their own context.
	<ul> <li>Improving access to quality health services for the most vulnerable populations in the region by strengthening sustainable health systems and reducing health inequalities.</li> </ul>	In contrast, the eventual lack of alignment between PAHO HQ and PAHO COs, the delays in procurement and supplies deliveries, and the differences in reporting expectations challenged the coordination between organizations. <sup>c</sup>

TABLE 3 (continued)

TYPES OF PARTNERSHIPS	ACTIONS AND ACTIVITIES OF THE PARTNERSHIPS <sup>a</sup>	TRANSFORMATION AND ASSESSMENT OF PARTNERSHIPS
Government organizations (continued)	<ul> <li>Focusing on the improvement of health outcomes in the areas of tuberculosis; malaria; neglected infectious diseases; and maternal, neonatal, child, and adolescent health during the COVID-19 pandemic.</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Supporting the development of an IPC training program for Central America.</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Contributing to strengthening the surveillance system.</li> </ul>	
NGOs	<ul> <li>Providing logistics services and transportation solutions for shipping PPE and laboratory and clinical supplies to the countries in need, including Barbados, Haiti, Honduras, and Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of).</li> </ul>	The collaborative work with organizations allowed PAHO to transform its work in the countries from technical cooperation to the expansion of activities, such as logistics and supply chain. The coordination with some partners was challenged by difficulties in logistic procedures and slow internal communication between PAHO COs and PAHO HQ. <sup>d</sup>
Philanthropic foundations	<ul> <li>Scaling up the use of SARS-CoV-2 Ag-RDTs in the Americas.</li> <li>Supporting activities and projects on case testing and tracing.</li> <li>Developing the COVAX mechanism, with PAHO as strategic partner to distribute COVID-19 vaccines in the Americas.</li> </ul>	The partnerships with philanthropic organizations allowed PAHO not only to gather financial resources but also to strengthen national laboratories and surveillance networks by scaling up the use of resources in the development of new diagnostic and surveillance tools.
United Nations agencies	<ul> <li>Coordinating humanitarian partners to avoid duplication of efforts and guarantee optimization of resources.</li> <li>Working collaboratively in market intelligence and vaccine shortage beyond COVID-19 vaccines.<sup>e</sup></li> <li>Eacilitating and accelerating access to</li> </ul>	Existing relationships with United Nations organizations were further leveraged upon during the pandemic. PAHO increased its partnerships with United Nations agencies, which contributed to strengthening the existing relationships and coordinating a better response to the pandemic. However, some United Nations organizations found
	<ul> <li>Facilitating and accelerating access to products, especially vaccines.</li> <li>Developing the COVID-19 Partners</li> </ul>	it challenging to work with PAHO due to its unique internal structure and processes, which are different from other United Nations organizations.
	Platform, a collaborative online space to facilitate coordination and governance among countries, UNCTs, donors, and partners, enabling a streamlined response to COVID-19 in the Region.	Nations organizations.

#### TABLE 3 (continued)

TYPES OF PARTNERSHIPS	ACTIONS AND ACTIVITIES OF THE PARTNERSHIPS <sup>a</sup>	TRANSFORMATION AND ASSESSMENT OF PARTNERSHIPS
Private sector	<ul> <li>Facilitating communication with the public, with infographics available in English, Portuguese, Spanish, Dutch, Haitian, Creole, and indigenous languages.</li> <li>Allowing PAHO to place COVID-19 public health messaging ads at no cost to PAHO.</li> </ul>	To address the pandemic response, PAHO showed more openness to collaborate with many private organizations, including social media and financial and logistic organizations. These partnerships contributed to reinforce implementation capacities and forge new ways of collaboration.
	<ul> <li>Donating advertising credits for PAHO to use on COVID-19 posts.</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Providing training sessions, including one on crisis response communications, in which PAHO personnel participated.</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Promoting a risk-based approach to international travel-related measures in the Americas.</li> </ul>	
International financial institutions	<ul> <li>Financing the acquisition of vaccines and supplies by some Member States, with PAHO as support in the development of tenders and agreements.</li> </ul>	PAHO engaged international financial institutions to cover some of the down payments and some of the financing for those vaccines. The relationship between these institutions and PAHO was challenging due to administrative rigidities and slow internal processes within PAHO.

Notes: <sup>a</sup> Pan American Health Organization. Pan American Health Organization response to COVID-19 up to 31 December 2021. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2022 Jul. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/56162.

<sup>b</sup> Interview data: PAHO Partners, 2022.

<sup>c</sup> Interview data: PAHO Donor. 2022.

<sup>d</sup> Pan American Health Organization. Financial report of the director and report of the external auditor. 1 January 2020–31 December 2020. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2021. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/54488.

<sup>e</sup> United Nations Children's Fund. UNICEF and PAHO launch joint COVID-19 vaccine tender on behalf of COVAX Facility. New York: UNICEF; 2020 [cited 10 December 2022]. Available from: https://www.unicef.org/press-releases/unicef-and-paho-launch-joint-covid-19-vaccine-tender-behalf-covaxfacility.

#### 2.5 Sustainability

**2.5.1** What pandemic preparedness actions and response measures supported by PAHO were shown to be effective in previous outbreaks in the Region and during the pandemic and have the potential to strengthen health systems over time? To what extent can some of PAHO's interventions implemented during the emergency be applied to nonemergency periods and programs?

**Summary of key findings:** Decades of joint work in preparedness and the response to the influenza H1N1 pandemic provided MoHs with a relevant background to deal with COVID-19 due to the airborne nature of its transmission and the establishment of influenza-like illness surveillance systems. PAHO's and MoHs' long-standing investments in laboratory support were particularly important in facilitating an evidence-based response to COVID-19. In turn, these investments contributed to strengthening some essential functions of national health systems and can be applied to non-pandemic periods. From an organizational perspective, the exceptional funding raised for the emergency response has mitigated PAHO's difficult financial situation; however, the termination of emergency funds in the short term will pose new challenges that could have organizational and programmatic implications.

PAHO and MoHs have worked together to strengthen capacities to respond to public health emergencies since 1976.<sup>69</sup> As a result, MoHs, with PAHO technical cooperation, have prepared contingency plans, regularly conducted drills and tabletop exercises, and strengthened influenza-like illness surveillance systems to monitor transmission, which was supported by the extensive healthcare and public laboratories networks.

Moreover, the first EMTs in the Region were trained and certified. In addition, the Smart Hospital initiative was expanded, aiming to increase the health sector's capacity to respond to epidemics, and the health EOCs were consolidated to serve as country coordination mechanisms. The creation of the IMS in 2011 built on the existing network of Pandemic Influenza Preparedness (*128*). Since then, PAHO has had a focal point in each country to support preparedness and response to public health emergencies.

The emergency response plans and technical guidelines designed to tackle influenza were used as a preliminary approach to deal with the COVID-19 pandemic. Some of the conclusions and good practices derived from PAHO's response to the H1N1 pandemic served to inform

<sup>69</sup> In response to MoHs' requests, PAHO created its Emergency Preparedness and Disaster Relief Coordination program in 1976.

pandemic preparedness and response for COVID-19, although their application shows varying intensity (*129*).<sup>70</sup>

For the preparedness and response to COVID-19, countries such as Brazil, Haiti, and Mexico mentioned the importance of using plans, strategies, and protocols based on their response to previous outbreaks in which they had PAHO's support. Haiti used the existing organization to handle cholera outbreaks and adopted contact tracing teams ("labo-moto") to increase testing of suspected cases. Brazil developed a strong epidemiological intelligence system based on its experience managing outbreaks and epidemics of yellow fever, Zika, and chikungunya, as well as the endemic situation of dengue. Mexico made decisions on nonpharmaceutical interventions as well as the sentinel surveillance system based on lessons learned from managing the 2009 H1N1 epidemic.

The large investments into COVID-19 and previous outbreaks (which expanded or created new infrastructures, capacities, and technologies initially intended for emergency responses) also contributed to strengthening the essential functions of national health systems. New or improved installed capacities remain not only for times of crisis but also for the regular functioning of health services and programs (*130*). For instance, strengthened health-related surveillance systems improve health information systems and public health decisionmaking; risk management can be integrated into the design or extension of health facilities and hospital networks; community and outreach approaches are included in emergency training of health professionals; and the work undertaken with the communities and risk communication actions are applicable to prevention and health promotion strategies or health education.

Additional key points where PAHO supported interventions and which could be applied to non-pandemic periods are as follows:

- The transformation of health information systems through digitalization and online apps, platforms, and virtual monitoring systems has been outstanding.
- The provision of updated epidemiological information at the subnational level provides new tools to health systems in the Region to analyze, describe, and monitor any other health problem.
- The consolidation of the VCPH for long-distance training proves to be a tool that will bring together the public health community, upgrade their knowledge, and unify their technical capabilities.
- The support for technology transfer generates new capacities, such as in the case of the production of vaccines (mRNA technology) and PPE in the Region and increases self-sufficiency.

<sup>70</sup> Other learnings from PAHO's response to the H1N1 pandemic seem to have been limitedly applied to COVID-19 preparedness and response actions (e.g., increase the capacity of all personnel at HQ for emergency response and EOC activities; develop a system for crisis information management and designate a group leader to coordinate information and dissemination; and create provisions for covering regular duties of personnel members assigned to the EOC during emergencies until they can resume routine responsibilities in their units as well as ensure the overall well-being of personnel).

• In terms of upgrading some capabilities for future emergencies, PAHO could invite partners, new alliances, and interactions with other sectors that could provide additional support and training in supply and resource mobilization.

## **2.5.2** What was the level of uptake by Member States of PAHO's technical cooperation in the pandemic response?

**Summary of key findings:** Overall, MoHs adopted PAHO recommendations, although at some point and in relation to essential public health decisions, some Member States made decisions not aligned with the scientific evidence provided by PAHO. In several cases, changes in administration or staff rotations in national institutions caused a discontinuity in public health approaches and interventions.

Surveyed PAHO personnel (55%) reported that Member States adopted PAHO recommendations well or very well through the technical support provided to MoHs (see Figure 8) (*126*). This is consistent with the positive views regarding "technical assistance" as a relevant PAHO cooperation modality<sup>71</sup> and PAHO's response to the H1N1 pandemic (*129*). The alignment with national strategies and response plans (technical alignment), as well as respect for national context and decisions (institutional alignment), helped to ensure the application of PAHO's technical support at the country level.

#### FIGURE 8



## Perceptions of PAHO personnel regarding Member States adoption of PAHO's recommendations

Note: All percentages are rounded up.

Source: EPRC Gallup and Kobo survey of PAHO personnel, 2022.

<sup>71</sup> Gallup survey question (On a scale of 1 to 5, with 1 being "Very low level of assistance" and 5 being "Very high level of assistance" to the country, please rate the level of PAHO assistance during the COVID-19 pandemic in the following areas of cooperation); interviews (PAHO COs, HQ, externals).

Political decisions not being based on scientific evidence meant that technical recommendations issued by PAHO (or other international organizations) were not adhered to. Some of the most noteworthy divergences were related to measures concerning the use of masks and social distancing. Some of the reasons which hindered the adoption of PAHO's technical recommendations included changes of national administration and turnover in senior public officials leading the response, as well as in MoHs. This affected continuity and communication at institutional and technical levels in some countries.

## **2.5.3** To what extent is PAHO's response contributing to equitable, resilient, and sustainable health systems?

**Summary of key findings:** Once the acute and control phases of the pandemic were over, PAHO began strengthening health systems, although some emergency actions reinforced the essential capacities of health systems.

• In the de-escalation phase of the pandemic, PAHO's support to the development of more resilient health systems ("building back better") will take place in a region experiencing economic crisis and reduced fiscal space. Internally, the termination of emergency funding may have organizational effects and will probably require a readjustment and reprioritization of PAHO's actions.

The results of the surveys show a modest appreciation concerning PAHO's contribution during the pandemic to achieving more equitable, resilient, and sustainable health systems (see Figure 9). On equitable health systems, the responses obtained, both in the survey and the interviews, indicate the challenges of ensuring equity in the pandemic response.<sup>72</sup>

PAHO's contribution to achieving equitable, resilient, and sustainable health systems was rated modest overall (on average, 24% of respondents [200 respondents] stated that PAHO provided a "Very high level of assistance" in these areas). Although the data are not representative, they indicate the difficulty of reconciling a massive response to a large-scale public health emergency with the implementation of institutional mechanisms that, in the midst of a crisis, ensure a medium-term perspective on capacity-building.

A series of PAHO interventions that took place once the acute phase of the pandemic was over have been identified as relevant contributions to achieving equitable, resilient, and sustainable health systems, as follows:

- Boost to digital transformation in health and health information systems.
- Advances in epidemiological intelligence, with better and expanded surveillance programs.

<sup>72</sup> Regarding equity, 77% of respondents (651 respondents) stated that PAHO advocated for addressing health equity in the COVID-19 national response very frequently or frequently, but only 29% (250 respondents) responded that the advocacy was fully successful, while 46% (401 respondents) stated that it was partially successful.

#### FIGURE 9

### Perceptions of PAHO personnel regarding the level of PAHO assistance during the COVID-19 pandemic to help achieve equitable, resilient, and sustainable health systems



Note: All percentages are rounded up.

Source: EPRC Gallup and Kobo survey of PAHO personnel, 2022.

- Strengthening of the network of laboratories with genomic analysis capacity.
- Strengthening of cold chain equipment and logistics for regular immunization programs.
- Establishment of new alliances with research centers, funding agencies, donors, and the private sector.
- Strengthening of public health emergency preparedness and response mechanisms.
- Expansion of the VCPH.
- Creation of an evidence-based task force for the MoHs decisionmaking.
- Large distribution of supplies to countries in need, such as Haiti and the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela.
- Risk communication strategies to address infodemic and support prevention strategies.

However, the construction of equitable, resilient, and sustainable health systems ("building back better") is now confronted with a generalized financial crisis and aggravated fiscal spaces (existing prior to the pandemic) in the majority of countries. These pose challenges to mobilizing additional public resources needed to meet financing needs for the transformation of the health sector (*131, 132*).

From an organizational point of view, PAHO's support to the pandemic response was due to the exceptional mobilization of emergency funds, which allowed for an unprecedented deployment of technical, logistical, and human resources. However, the transition from the acute phase of the



pandemic to an endemic phase and the de-escalation of the response will result in the termination of emergency funding. In a context of likely funding reductions, there would probably be a need to readjust PAHO's support levels and prioritize interventions that have the greatest potential to strengthen the recovery of national health systems.

#### 2.6 Added value

## 2.6.1 What have been PAHO's unique contributions during the response to the COVID-19 pandemic?

**Summary of key findings:** PAHO was the only regional organization with the mandate, institutional capacity, and technical expertise to encourage a regional response at the highest political level in response to a health crisis that transcended borders and remits of national health systems. PAHO contributed not only to supporting health systems but also facilitating the continuity of Member States' essential functions beyond the health sector ("whole-of-government" approach). Furthermore, PAHO's Revolving Fund was instrumental in expanding access to vaccines in the Region and may serve as a benchmark for other regions.

In January 2020, prior to the formal declaration of COVID-19 as a PHEIC, PAHO informed the heads of state, foreign affairs ministries, and MoHs within the Region of the imminent risk of a pandemic and the

need to activate national preparedness and response mechanisms. PAHO succeeded in bringing together heads of state to discuss strategies, promote cooperation, and explore solutions to tackle the pandemic during January 2020.

Despite various limitations and gaps in PAHO's response, the Organization optimized its presence at the country level through its close relationships with MoHs and expertise in preparedness by providing reliable technical and scientific-based cooperation. These strengths help explain why PAHO has been able to act as an institutional and politically neutral reference for many public administrations and subregional and regional actors in a highly politicized health crisis (*133*).

PAHO contributed by gathering, consolidating, elaborating, and implementing many guidelines. This included implementing WHO's public health considerations for elections and related activities in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic, which helped the Organization during democratic elections in the Region (*134–136*).<sup>73</sup> It also provided guidelines to help protect vulnerable groups (e.g., Indigenous populations, migrants in temporary settings, and prisoners) and facilitated the coordination of border issues (e.g., Haiti/Dominican Republic, Colombia/Venezuela, Colombia/Brazil) (*56, 137*).

PAHO's leadership and positioning as a nonpartisan organization contributed to mitigating domestic discrepancies on how to address the pandemic at the country level (e.g., Brazil). In sensitive contexts (e.g., the Haiti/Dominican Republic border or the Venezuela economic embargo), PAHO found alternatives, through diplomacy, to provide access to medical care and critical supplies. PAHO, as a trusted partner of the MoHs, has been able to influence government decisions in many (and diverse) areas of the pandemic response by providing evidence-based advice.

The strengthening of the Revolving Fund mandate by purchasing COVID-19 vaccines enabled the increase of COVID-19 vaccine coverage in the LAC region (*49*). This initiative allowed procurement of COVID-19 vaccine doses to supplement those supplied by the COVAX Facility despite delays and shortages via COVAX. For these reasons, the Revolving Fund is recognized by PAHO personnel and external partners as a unique PAHO contribution to the COVID-19 response (*126*). A recent scientific publication suggests PAHO's Revolving Fund as a model for other regions in the world (*138*).

PAHO's Strategic Fund strengthened its functions to meet the increasing demands of the Member States in maintaining essential health services as well as responding to the COVID-19 emergency (*139*). During the pandemic, purchases through the Strategic Fund increased threefold due to new partnerships with countries and health agencies (*139*). Models such as PAHO's Strategic Fund provide a unique value proposition, as they integrate diverse technical expertise, multistakeholder engagement, and strategy development and implementation (*140*). Figure 10 summarizes the dimensions of added value of the PAHO response.

<sup>73</sup> Refer to Annex 5.4. Pan American Health Organization. Evaluation of the Pan American Health Organization Response to COVID-19 2020–2022. Volume II. Annexes. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2023. Available from: https://doi. org/10.37774/9789275127476.

#### FIGURE 10

#### PAHO's unique contributions during the response to the COVID-19 pandemic

Whole-of-government approach: PAHO's technical expertise, combined with its political-institutional role, facilitated the continuity of States' essential functions beyond the health sector. Mandate, regional perspective, and presence: Only regional organization with institutional and technical capacity to encourage a regional response at the highest political level to a crisis that transcended borders and the spheres of action of national health systems. As a nonpartisan and evidence-base organization, acted diplomatically to find solutions to address the pandemic in sensitive contexts or situations. PAHO's Revolving and Strategic Funds: Enabled access to COVID-19 vaccine and critical medical supplies, established new partnerships and ways of working, and consolidated the strategic role of procurement in a large-scale public health emergency.

Source: Developed by the EPRC Evaluation Team.

## **2.6.2** In which areas has PAHO's technical support to Member States excelled or made a difference?

**Summary of key findings:** PAHO excelled in its technical support to Member States by rapidly strengthening capacity in laboratory diagnosis and epidemiological surveillance (the implementation of SARS-CoV-2 laboratory detection in 28 Member States took place in 25 days), expanding HRH training, deploying the IMST, and developing a massive logistical capacity to meet the needs at the country level.

Once the COVID-19 pandemic was declared, laboratory technical guidance was published and disseminated to the MoHs through IHR national focal points (*101*). Consequently, PAHO implemented a SARS-CoV-2 detection strategy involving a multilevel approach that ensured the purchase and delivery of specific reagents, regional training, in-country missions, and technical support (*101*). Following this strategy, the full implementation of SARS-CoV-2 molecular detection across the whole laboratory network in the Americas was achieved 25 days after the declaration of COVID-19<sup>74</sup> (*102*). PAHO's support in building laboratory capacity and epidemiological surveillance has been described as remarkable and outstanding, both within PAHO and by external stakeholders.

The COVID-19 IMST was instrumental in response planning and implementation, establishing partnerships and mobilizing resources, supporting healthcare services, providing epidemic intelligence and surveillance, strengthening health systems, and contributing to risk communication (141).

<sup>74</sup> Refer to Annex 5.4. Pan American Health Organization. Evaluation of the Pan American Health Organization Response to COVID-19 2020–2022. Volume II. Annexes. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2023. Available from: https://doi. org/10.37774/9789275127476.

On 17 January 2020, PAHO formally activated the IMS to provide technical cooperation to all MoHs, addressing and mitigating the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic (*142*). Through the national IMST, PAHO provided direct emergency response to MoHs and other national authorities and supported the coordination of various countries' readiness and response operations (*142*).

The VCPH was instrumental in building personnel's capacity via training amid the pandemic. The expansion and the significant role played in training the workforce and MoH personnel makes the VCPH one of the highlights of PAHO's technical support to the MoHs.

PAHO's operational support in logistics and supply chain enabled the 35 Member States to receive emergency relief and laboratory supplies, support the emergency response, and ensure the continuity of some essential health services at a time when the availability of supplies was challenging globally. PAHO's Strategic Reserve enabled the quick mobilization of essential supplies, especially to countries with concomitant social and disaster emergencies. Through its Strategic Reserve in Panama, PAHO coordinated the distribution of medical supplies to countries and territories in the region based on country-specific needs and established relationships to ensure supply availability and mitigate price inflation (*140, 143*). In addition, PAHO developed new partnerships with logistic and international partners to provide effective shipments and procure high-quality supplies, coordinating the most cost-effective and timely transportation methods to address supply disruptions caused by the pandemic (*140*).

Figure 11 summarizes the areas of excellence in PAHO's technical support to Member States. The areas of excellence reflect the domains for which the evaluation has identified a high level of consensus or

#### FIGURE 11

Actions that have made a difference to Member States through PAHO technical support



*Notes:* HRH, human resources for health; VCPH, Virtual Campus for Public Health; IMST, incident management support team. *Source:* Developed by the EPRC Evaluation Team. acknowledgment at the regional level but do not exclude other possible areas or Member States in which the Organization has performed outstandingly well.

#### 2.7 Lessons learned

The following key lessons emerged from PAHO's response to COVID-19 and represent a selection of the best documented lessons.

## Lesson 1: Timely activation of the IMS can be effective in providing rapid and short-term emergency response, but such a mechanism needs to be adapted for responding to sustained health crises.

During the COVID-19 response, early activation of IMS was effective in providing immediate support and strategic guidance to the Region and at the country level (*76*). However, the processes needed to activate and operationalize the IMS (e.g., secondment of professionals from other PAHO units during the pandemic) implied deprioritizing other programs (*144, 145*). This had implications for supporting the recovery of essential health services and maintaining a comprehensive perspective of the broader needs of health systems beyond the pandemic. Reviewing the setup of the IMS and some internal procedures (i.e., HR) might allow for better management of acute and sustained emergencies while maintaining more balanced support for regular programs.

#### Lesson 2: Investments in digitalization (at PAHO level and in support of MoHs) can facilitate the integration of public health interventions and health systems and open up new ways of providing technical cooperation in health.

The COVID-19 pandemic has been a catalyst for PAHO's digitalization. This consisted of automating processes and procuring software and hardware; providing telemedicine and virtual trainings; and facilitating data communication through digital interphases allowing the convergence of public health interventions and digital systems. PAHO strengthened the capacity of MoHs to develop and implement evidence-informed digital solutions, interactive surveillance dashboards, telehealth, and digitalized registries (*146*). This facilitated home monitoring of people with COVID-19, data tracking, and data sharing, strengthening Member States' health information systems.

Lesson 3: Subregional stockpile capacities and local production of medical supplies mitigate the risk of shortages and facilitate a rapid response capacity, especially amid social, economic, and political turmoil and when there are disruptions in supply chains. However, stockpile capacities alone are not sufficient when there is limited local production capacity of essential medical supplies. This points to the need to reinforce regional capacities to gain selfsufficiency in strategic items.

The regional strategic reserve in the UNHRD contributed to mitigating the limited supplies in the region due to global market constraints and supply chain management challenges (*147*). PAHO streamlined, strengthened, and expanded the depot and facilitated the rapid dispatch of critically needed emergency items. Brazil, Cuba, and the United States were the only COVID-19 vaccine producers in the Region, which ensured that their populations could be vaccinated (*148*). However, the reliance of the region on supplies from outside the Americas and its lack of self-sufficiency created challenges. This lesson could

help develop further subregional and national stockpiles and encourage an increase in local production of medical supplies so the region can reduce dependencies.

# Lesson 4: PAHO's Revolving Fund is a paradigmatic case of a consolidated technical cooperation mechanism, adapted to regional specificities, which can play a crucial role in the procurement of vaccines and immunization supplies not only for regular times but also in large-scale public health crises.

The Revolving Fund was a well-known and efficient mechanism in the Region and could have been used to provide equitable vaccine coverage as in previous situations. Only in August 2021 did the Pan American Sanitary Bureau (PASB) announce that the Revolving Fund would purchase COVID-19 vaccines to expand access in the LAC region. To some extent, this action affected PAHO's reputation, which was affected by shortcomings with COVAX and other challenges to PAHO's procurement function.

#### Lesson 5: Diversifying and strengthening partnerships can be instrumental for PAHO to provide a coherent and sustained response to a large-scale crisis. Opportunities may emerge to strengthen PAHO's work beyond the current pandemic.

By contacting new donors or partners (e.g., private sector, philanthropy) and reinforcing and transforming existing alliances (e.g., with United Nations agencies or academic institutions), PAHO has forged a broader partnership base with more response capacity. These partnerships present an opportunity to reinforce PAHO's capacity to respond to future disasters and outbreaks beyond the current pandemic.

# Lesson 6: PAHO's timely integration in the national EOCs allows for early estimations of national needs, assesses the impact of the pandemic and the potential healthcare demands, facilitates sharing information with MoHs on emerging scientific data, and enables coordination within the United Nations system.

PAHO's participation in the national EOCs enabled close communication between PAHO and the Member States and facilitated PAHO's support on the assessment of national needs and response capacities based on previous pandemics. As scientific data on COVID-19 were generated, PAHO informed the operations committees and contributed to evidence-based national analyses, response plans, and control measures. Integrating PAHO in the national emergency operations committee also facilitated the coordination of United Nations agencies and the elaboration of national United Nations system response plans.



## CHAPTER 3 Conclusions

#### **Overall statement**

The evaluation shows PAHO's organizational and professional commitment to fulfill its mandate at a critical time for the Organization, both due to internal difficulties as well as to the challenges arising from the pandemic. Overall, PAHO provided high-quality technical support and expertise to Member States and regional and subregional organizations; at the same time, PAHO's regular governance mechanisms and management were not sufficiently adapted to respond to the magnitude and intense demands of the pandemic, especially in 2020.

Nonpayment of contributions by certain Member States brought the Organization to the brink of insolvency, severely limiting its ability to provide regional institutional and technical support when the pandemic hit the Americas. Although an in-depth analysis of PAHO's governance has not been conducted and a comprehensive review of management systems and processes is beyond the scope of the evaluation, some challenges experienced during the pandemic appear to suggest the need for deeper and specialized organizational review.

The evaluation also documents the modest level of commitment of many Member States to the Organization at the most difficult time in its history and the threat to Pan-Americanism during the response to the pandemic. This reinforces the need to reflect on the governance of the Organization during times of crisis. An illustrative example of the need to consolidate a regional approach for public health emergency preparedness and response was the response to the H1N1 pandemic; in 2009, at the height of the H1N1 pandemic, the Union of South American Nations (UNASUR) established "a commitment not to purchase individually above the prices established by the Pan American Health Organization's Revolving Fund, preventing commercial interests from taking advantage of the pandemic panic." Eleven years later, and as understandable as it is, panic prevailed over Pan-Americanism.

One of the main lessons learned from the current pandemic, widely documented worldwide, is the effectiveness of international cooperation and solidarity to respond to pandemics. The commitment and vision of the Member States in relation to the "PAHO of the future" will be essential to promote the corporate development and modernization of key areas of the Organization, aiming at providing the region with a reference organization that is better prepared for future health emergencies and new risks to global health security.

#### **Strategic dimension**

PAHO consolidated its position as the reference agency and preferred partner in health in the region at a time when health and global health security have become a priority. PAHO provided consistent

and sustained technical and logistical support to MoHs and significantly strengthened the procurement function (through the Revolving and Strategic Funds) despite the internal and external factors that constrained PAHO's operations and risked the trust in the organization, particularly at the onset and during key moments of the COVID-19 response.

PAHO had to respond to the worst pandemic in recent history by facing one of the most critical situations (financial and human resources limitations)<sup>75</sup> since its creation. PAHO response overcame: (i) the critical financial situation experienced at the onset of the pandemic due to the failure of many Member States to meet their financial commitments; (ii) the limited human resources and restrictions in hiring policy; (iii) the uncertainty created by a new virus; (iv) the uncertainty in key areas of the response (e.g., lack of biomedical tools, diagnostic and specific treatments, and access to vaccines); and (v) the politicization of national responses. In addition, the shortcomings of the global health governance and pandemic response architecture have given PAHO limited opportunities to interact at the global level, where relevant decisions affecting the Americas were made.

The impact of the pandemic in the region led to the prioritization of national interests and, consequently, the dilution of the principles of regional cooperation and solidarity (Pan-Americanism). These factors limited PAHO's ability to fulfill its mandate and the scope of PAHO's response, as well as bring regional coherence and ensure a regional approach (*149*). Countries acted more individually and unilaterally despite PAHO's advocacy, some bilateral cooperative actions conducted by a few Member States, and the evidence showing that coordinated responses to highly transmissible viruses are more effective than fragmented responses (*17*). Member States did not recognize the benefits of responding in a concerted manner and with a regional (or subregional) vision.<sup>76</sup>

#### **Operational dimension**

PAHO's institutional response at the onset of the pandemic was timely, but bureaucracy (with slow and unsuitable procedures for a large-scale protracted pandemic response in some areas) and limited resources affected the organization's implementation capacity and the efficiency in some areas. PAHO's performance during the pandemic presented mixed results, with an overall positive balance in technical cooperation to Member States and more limited results in the institutional and social spheres.

PAHO did not have the appropriate internal organizational structures and tools to comprehensively respond to such a large-scale and sustained health crisis. This is despite its experience responding to pandemics and epidemics (albeit on a smaller scale)<sup>77</sup> and having identified the threat of new pandemics<sup>78</sup> in its analyses and plans for preparedness and response to public health emergencies.

<sup>75</sup> Cost-containment actions resulted in a reduction of personnel at Headquarters and COs, and motivated advocacy by some Member States to resolve PAHO's critical financial situation.

<sup>76</sup> Except the Caribbean region.

<sup>77</sup> For example, H1N1.

<sup>78</sup> Disease X was included in WHO's list of potential threats to global health security in 2018, and the risk of outbreaks caused by a highly transmissible respiratory virus have been part of PAHO scenarios, training, and analysis to develop preparedness and response capacities at the national and subnational levels.

In addition, internal bureaucracy led to delays, inefficiencies, missed opportunities, and difficulties in communication or coordination between HQ, COs, and key partners.

At the technical level, there was a broad consensus on the quality of PAHO's assistance to countries and on the achievements where PAHO's support made a difference. However, there were some operational gaps, such as delays in having response implementation capacities in place at key moments (largely explained by the critical shortfall in resources during 2020), inconsistencies in some public health messages, and partial success of the COVAX mechanism.

At the institutional level, PAHO's COs had to operate in political and social environments for which they did not have the roles, human resources, or technical skills; however, efforts were made. PAHO provided mainly technical cooperation, although the pandemic response sometimes demanded more political involvement in countries where decisions were not evidence-based. This challenged PAHO's previous historical neutrality and required additional skills from PWRs so that they could influence political decisions in favor of more technical ones.

At the social level, PAHO's management of risk and public communication varied significantly between countries. In a pandemic context, the shortage of communication professionals in PAHO meant that nonspecialized profiles had to assume a critical function for which they were not trained, adding workload to already stretched capacities. Difficulties were also identified in adapting messages to the diversity of existing social, cultural, and linguistic realities. Even so, innovative experiences in the field of communication were developed in some countries.

PAHO had the ability to innovate and integrate the learnings acquired throughout the response to the pandemic ("learning by doing") in key areas to adapt and transform its ways of working institutionally and technically, and to evolve as an organization.

PAHO transitioned from being mainly focused on national and subregional health services and programs to developing, strengthening, and assuming a wider institutional role. PAHO had to intensify its advocacy (e.g., deal with heads of state, changes in governments and rotations, operate in contexts of sociopolitical instability); lead the health response within the framework of the United Nations system; coordinate with new cooperation actors; become a media and public reference for new audiences; and broaden its partnerships. PAHO innovated and explored new approaches on how to respond to health emergencies – for example, adapting health structures, promoting use of new technologies and telehealth, and innovating in vaccination and communication.<sup>79</sup>

PAHO also accelerated the adoption of new technologies and tools to provide remote services to Member States and operate internally, launching new applications and digital platforms to gain operational capacity and efficiency. The range of partners increased and diversified, including private

<sup>79</sup> See Section 2.3.1 on how PAHO used innovation to adapt to the pandemic.

organizations and donors that PAHO had never worked with before. These were instrumental to broaden PAHO's support to countries and mitigate the financial crisis.

PAHO contributed to address the digital gaps in the Region, exacerbated by the pandemic, supporting the digital transformation of the health sector at the country level and strengthening its own digital transformation policy.

PAHO's digital health transformation went beyond data integration and included aspects of governance, knowledge sharing, and innovation, as well as infrastructure, ethics, and legal frameworks. To achieve this, PAHO had to coordinate the information gathered and exchanged between countries and liaise between epidemiological intelligence and the health information system. PAHO played a key role in supporting countries to develop or adapt epidemiological data tools (dashboards and online platforms) and use them to provide regular epidemiological updates to MOHs. PAHO also supported countries in developing epidemiological models to estimate excess mortality or predict the scale of needs based on concrete estimates.

The equity principle was at the center of PAHO's strategic preparedness and response plan for the COVID-19 pandemic. However, its practical application was limited due to the protracted and preexisting barriers that hampered access to COVID-19 diagnoses, treatment, and vaccines at national or subnational levels. In many cases, efforts were insufficient to mitigate the differential impact of the pandemic on women and vulnerable groups (*150*).

The principles of equity, gender mainstreaming, and the prioritization of vulnerable groups were reflected in PAHO's SPRP. PAHO conducted advocacy and analysis to include these aspects in national responses. However, health systems in the region were overwhelmed during critical phases of the pandemic and had neither the resources nor the capacity to implement additional pandemic response actions needed to strengthen outreach to traditionally excluded population groups. Persistent barriers to health services that existed prior to the pandemic continued to affect vulnerable populations and underserved localities.

The planning and monitoring systems for the response to COVID-19 (SPRP, PAHO Strategic Plan 2020-2025) were not designed to assess organizational performance during the pandemic. PAHO's contribution to the response to the pandemic at the regional, subregional, and national levels has been extensively documented, but the assessment of its broader effects is challenging and seems to vary significantly depending on the modalities of cooperation, the pillars of the SPRP, and the different subregional and national realities.

The COVID-19 monitoring framework was primarily intended to support the monitoring of national responses; enable their aggregation at subregional, regional, and global levels; and inform analysis and decisionmaking in relation to the evolution of the pandemic. The 38 indicators in the monitoring framework were not intended to monitor the organizational performance of PAHO (or WHO) in their global or regional role of technical support, even though both organizations were supporting national responses and were the reference organizations for the response of the United Nations system and other

key actors. In some cases, the effects of PAHO's contribution to national responses have been difficult to appreciate due to the multiple factors that have influenced the decisions and actions of the MoHs, which were beyond PAHO's influence.

#### **Organizational dimension**

The early activation of PAHO's IMS effectively provided support and strategic guidance to the Region and Member States, and it contributed to the coordination of national response activities. However, co-optation of professionals from other units and the long-term operation of the IMS generated organizational imbalances.

The IMS was essential to provide the region with specialized expertise to support national emergency preparedness and responses in the short term. The IMS contributed to the coordination of regional, subregional, and national response activities and the scale-up of readiness and response operations. It supported surveillance, testing, and laboratory capacity; infection prevention and control; clinical management; and risk communication. The long-term operation of the IMS, as has been the case so far for the COVID-19 response, reduces capacities in other PAHO programming areas, with implications for the recovery of essential health services and supporting critical needs of health systems beyond the pandemic.

PAHO expanded the existing remote working modality as part of the duty-of-care policy, enabling the continuity of the operation while aiming to protect PAHO personnel and their families. However, this decision put PAHO personnel in COs in a difficult situation, as they needed to continue working face-to-face in the facilities of their national counterparts to ensure full support and consistent technical cooperation in an acute crisis context ("teleworking paradox").

PAHO personnel were confronted with the dilemma of following the internal guidelines and protecting their health or responding to the demands of the MoHs in an unprecedented pandemic context and providing face-to-face assistance. There have been divergent views between Headquarters and COs regarding how PAHO could or should continue to support MoHs in a crisis situation, which led to frustration and fatigue among CO personnel. PAHO's decision for remote working has been very different from positions taken during previous pandemics.<sup>80</sup>

<sup>80</sup> In 2009, during the H1N1 pandemic, the Mexico CO kept the office open, and teams were fully operational in a context where many other organizations stopped operations.

PAHO's achievements during the pandemic were due to the commitment and professionalism of its personnel who, despite PAHO's investments in duty-of-care, experienced mental health issues, a decline in their well-being, and found it difficult to maintain work–life balance. Some PAHO personnel did not consider emergency response as part of their contractual responsibilities, which generated unequal workloads and internal imbalances.

PAHO personnel worked under sustained pressure during the COVID-19 response. High workload with increased working hours, health concerns, and fear of being infected, and the loss of colleagues, family, and friends impacted PAHO personnel's mental health and well-being. Stress affected most personnel and was relatively higher among females. PAHO personnel were provided with free access to counseling services, mental health professionals, guidelines, vaccines, and COVID-19 testing. However, counseling services and access to mental health professionals were reported by PAHO personnel to be less accessible and effective. A shortage of personnel during the pandemic prevented many from benefiting from these services. PAHO personnel were unable to take time off to rest and recover, especially at the country level. Personnel shortages and increased workload seem to have increased absenteeism and burnout.<sup>81</sup> Although it has not been possible to appreciate the extent of the problem, there was a certain number of PAHO personnel (mainly consultant contracts) who did not assume an emergency mindset because it was not specified in their contracts or they did not consider it part of their responsibility.

<sup>81</sup> Reported in several interviews with PAHO COs' personnel but no quantitative data available.



STILL ESTRUX

11



MS/OMS

Caracti

OPAS / OMS

20

## CHAPTER 4 Recommendations

The proposed recommendations are based on the analysis of the evidence and the key findings and conclusions. These recommendations are presented at strategic, operational, and organizational levels. The responsible entities are proposed and should be confirmed by PAHO.

#### **Strategic level**

<sup>82</sup> Country and Sub-regional Coordination (CSC); Communications (CMU); Evidence and Intelligence for Action in Health (EIH); Equity, Gender and Cultural Diversity (EGC); External Relations, Partnerships and Resource Mobilization (ERP); Governing Bodies (GBO); Health Systems and Services (HSS); Health Emergencies (PHE); Director of Administration (AM), Assistant Director (AD), Planning, Budget and Evaluation (PBE); Procurement and Supply Management (PRO); Regional Revolving Funds (RRF); Director's Office (DIR); Deputy Director (DD); Executive Management (EXM); Legal Counsel (LEG); Social and Environmental Determinants for Health Equity (DHE); Information Technology Services (ITS); Financial Resources Management (FRM); Human Resources Management (HRM).

#	RECOMMENDATION	HOW (SUGGESTED LINES OF ACTION)	BY WHOM	PRIORITY	WHEN (2023
R2	SCIENTIFIC-BASED PLATFORMS AND TOOLS TO ADDRESS PUBLIC HEALTH EMERGENCIES: PAHO should encourage the creation of a specialized regional mechanism for convening an independent advisory scientific group for responding to complex public health emergencies.	<ul> <li>Encourage Member States and subregional bodies to evaluate national responses to the pandemic and adjust emergency preparedness and response strategies and mechanisms accordingly.</li> <li>Advocate for "whole-of-society" and "whole-of-government" centralized approaches to public health emergencies, preparedness, and response. This should be undertaken at the highest government levels.</li> </ul>	DIR AD PHE PBE CSC CMU HSS EIH	Medium	Q4 into 2024
		<ul> <li>Strengthen knowledge management and learning mechanisms based on the available scientific evidence to mitigate future risks to global health security ("learning organizations and systems" approach).</li> </ul>			
R3	FUNDING MODEL: PAHO should diversify its funding model that fit for purpose during normal times and crisis periods, building on the successful strategies employed during the pandemic. The PAHO-reviewed funding model should ensure adequate means to consistently support MoHs in emergency preparedness and response for large-scale crises (but also stabilize technical cooperation at regular times).	<ul> <li>Set up specific financial mechanisms for the PAHO Epidemic Emergency Fund to facilitate rapid and comprehensive regional responses to large-scale public health emergencies.</li> <li>Strengthen emerging (and existing) alliances during the pandemic to develop institutional, political, and operational synergies; broaden PAHO's visibility in regional and global health forums; reinforce implementation capabilities; and broaden funding sources.</li> <li>Review WHO/PAHO coordination and decisionmaking mechanisms at senior management level, particularly criteria for the allocation of global and regional resources during PHEIC.</li> </ul>	DIR DD EXM PHE PBE ERP FRM CMU	High	Q3 2023
		<ul> <li>Develop strategic external communication plan to disseminate PAHO's contribution to the response to the pandemic to key stakeholders (Member States, donors, international financial institutions, United Nations agencies, international organizations, and academia and research centers) to reinforce its positioning and accountability both internally and externally.</li> </ul>			

#### **Operational level**

#	RECOMMENDATION	HOW (SUGGESTED LINES OF ACTION)	BY WHOM	PRIORITY	WHEN (2023
84	GENDER AND EQUITY: PAHO should mainstream evidence-based gender and equity approaches into pandemic preparedness, response, and recovery actions.	<ul> <li>Advocate and technically support Member States to integrate gender and equity in the review and elaboration of pandemic preparedness, response, and recovery actions, including specific monitoring indicators.</li> <li>Adopt global gender and equity frameworks as a reference (such as UN System-wide Action Plan [UNCT-SWAP] gender equality scorecard, the Civil Society Alliance for Human Rights in the Pandemic Treaty, or the Ten Human Rights Principles for a Pandemic Treaty [under discussion – addressed to WHO's Intergovernmental Negotiating Body]).</li> </ul>	PHE AD EGC DHE CSC EIH	Medium	Q4 2023
R5	INCIDENT MANAGEMENT SYSTEM AND THE CONTINUOUS OPERATION STRATEGY: PAHO should conceive a specific organizational model to allow the organization to operate on a sustained basis during long-term public health emergencies based on the vast experience of the IMS.	<ul> <li>Establish internal mechanisms and regulations to better balance the role of the IMS and the continuity of regular programs, reinforcing interprogrammatic collaboration and shared responsibilities among departments ("one organization, one response" principle).</li> <li>Design and develop scenarios for short and long duration of the IMS. In cases of sustained public health emergencies, define measures, as part of the surge capacity system, for rotating and providing rest and recovery to personnel who participate in the IMS response.</li> </ul>	DIR AD AM PHE CSC	High	Q3 2023
R6	DIGITALIZATION AND INNOVATION: PAHO should capitalize on new technologies and approaches (e.g., artificial intelligence, social media, strategies to tackle vaccine hesitancy, e-health, new health technologies) adopted during the pandemic to develop new ways of increasing cooperation with the MoHs (e.g., technical cooperation, training, research, and analysis), address the digital gap, and promote technological transformation.	<ul> <li>Assess innovations and digitalization technologies to identify gaps and make required improvements in surveillance, case management, procurement strategies, and monitoring.</li> <li>Develop a regional strategy and negotiate the transfer of technologies with a regional perspective, reinforcing Pan-Americanism and enabling manufacturers in LMICs to develop quality-assured and affordable vaccines, tests, and therapeutics while strengthening horizontal cooperation, equity, self-sufficiency, and sustainability in the Americas (e.g., mRNA vaccines, PPE).</li> <li>Build on the expanded capacities of the Strategic and Revolving Funds to boost access to and the development of health innovation in the region and promote the development of a regional regulatory framework.</li> </ul>	AD PHE HSS RRF IMT CIM PRO CSC EIH	Medium	Q4 into 2024

#### **Organizational level**

#	RECOMMENDATION	HOW (SUGGESTED LINES OF ACTION)	BY WHOM	PRIORITY	WHEN (2023)
R7	CORPORATE MANAGEMENT DURING PUBLIC HEALTH EMERGENCIES: PAHO should comprehensively review management procedures and tools as well as internal communication mechanisms for use during times of crisis.	<ul> <li>Assess and update decisionmaking processes, delegation of authority, and the setup of cross-functional teams.</li> <li>Assess and update managerial, administrative (e.g., legal support, approval and signing of agreements, grant management and reporting, hiring), and logistical (e.g., acquisitions) processes.</li> <li>Improve internal communication tools across the three levels of the organization (HQs, subregional, national).</li> <li>Develop organizational metrics (e.g., internal monitoring framework, management dashboard, or similar tools) to monitor the performance and mobilization of internal resources and capabilities for emergency response. This internal management tool may complement preparedness and response plans developed to frame and support national responses under a common regional approach (e.g., SPRP).</li> </ul>	PHE AD AM FRM PRO PBE CSC CMU LEG	High	Q3 2023
R8	HUMAN RESOURCE POLICIES AND ADJUSTING DUTY-OF- CARE PROCESSES: PAHO should reinforce the organizational capacity to deploy specialized personnel for emergency response, and review and update the hiring policy, duty-of-care policy, and renumeration schemes (based on performance and extra workload) during public health emergencies.	<ul> <li>Develop a surge system (United Nations experience may serve as a reference) to respond to public health emergencies both to scale up capacity using the existing personnel and to recruit additional specialized professionals (including during short-, medium-, and long-term scenarios).</li> <li>Update recruiting and training policies as well as the definition of appropriate workloads, remuneration, and incentives to ensure an adequate roster in terms of quantity, capacity, and stability.</li> </ul>	PHE AM HRM LEG	High	Q3 2023

#	RECOMMENDATION	HOW (SUGGESTED LINES OF ACTION)	BY WHOM	PRIORITY	WHEN (2023)
		<ul> <li>Adjust the teleworking policy during public health emergencies (in agreement with national counterparts) to facilitate the continuity of technical cooperation with Member States and national emergency operations committees.</li> </ul>			
		<ul> <li>Provide additional well-being support for personnel (including consultants and short- term collaborators), particularly broader access to mental health services and better tools for monitoring and responding to personnel concerns during public health emergencies.</li> </ul>			

## References

- 1. Yeh KB, Parekh FK, Borgert B, Olinger GG, Fair JM. Global health security threats and related risks in Latin America. Global Security: Health, Science and Policy. 2021 Jan 1 [cited 29 May 2022];6(1):18–25. Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/23779497.2021.1917304.
- Dmytraczenko T, Almeida G. Toward universal health coverage and equity in Latin America and the Caribbean: evidence from selected countries. In: Dmytraczenko T, Almeida G, editors. Toward universal health coverage and equity in Latin America and the Caribbean: evidence from selected countries. Washington, D.C.: The World Bank; 2015 [cited 28 May 2022]. Available from: https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/22026.
- 3. Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean. Challenges and opportunities for the implementation, follow-up and review of SDG 3 and its targets. Santiago: ECLAC; 2019 [cited 28 May 2022]. Available from: https:// www.cepal.org/sites/default/files/stdg3\_c1900666\_press.pdf.
- 4. World Health Organization. Global health estimates: leading causes of death. Geneva: WHO; 2019 [cited 28 May 2022]. Available from: https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/themes/mortality-and-global-health-estimates/ghe-leading-causes-of-death.
- 5. World Health Organization. Global health estimates: leading causes of death. Geneva: WHO; 2022 [cited 19 December 2022]. Available from: https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/themes/mortality-and-global-health-estimates/ghe-leading-causes-of-death.
- 6. Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean. Panorama social de América Latina 2019. Santiago: ECLAC; 2019 Dec [cited 19 December 2022]. Available from: https://repositorio.cepal.org/handle/11362/44969.
- 7. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. Health at a glance 2019: OECD Indicators. Paris: OECD Publishing; 2019. Available from: https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/social-issues-migration-health/health-at-a-glance-2019\_4dd50c09-en.
- 8. Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean. Interactive demographic indicators. Santiago: ECLAC; 2022 [cited 19 December 2022]. Available from: https://www.cepal.org/en/subtopics/demographic-projections/latin-america-and-caribbean-population-estimates-and-projections/interactive-demographic-indicators.
- Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean. Challenges and opportunities for the implementation, follow-up and review of SDG 3 and its targets. Santiago: ECLAC; 2019 [cited 28 May 2022]. Available from: https://www.cepal.org/sites/default/files/static/files/sdg3\_c1900666\_press.pdf.
- 10. Gilardino RE, Valanzasca P, Rifkin SB. Has Latin America achieved universal health coverage yet? Lessons from four countries. Arch Public Health. 2022 [cited 28 May 2022];80(1):1–11. Available from: https://archpublichealth. biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s13690-022-00793-7.
- 11. Atun R, Odorico Monteiro de Andrade L, Almeida G, Cotlear D, Dmytraczenko T, Frenz P, et al. Health-system reform and universal health coverage in Latin America. Lancet. 2015 Mar [cited 28 May 2022];385(9974):1230–1247. Available from: https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(14)61646-9/fulltext.
- 12. Abramo L, Cecchini S, Ullmann H. Addressing health inequalities in Latin America: the role of social protection. Cien Saude Colet. 2020 May 8 [cited 29 May 2022];25(5):1587–1598. Available from: http://www.scielo.br/j/csc/a/ PFhr78GpvfrpSCsb4VhVp7x/?lang=en.
- 13. Kanavos P, Parkin GC, Kamphuis B, Gill J. Latin America healthcare system overview: a comparative analysis of fiscal space in healthcare. London: London School of Economics and Political Science; 2019 [cited 27 May 2022]. Available from: https://www.lse.ac.uk/business/consulting/reports/latin-america-healthcare-system-overview.

- World Health Organization. Report of the WHO-China joint mission on coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/coronaviruse/who-china-joint-mission-on-covid-19-final-report.pdf.
- 15. World Health Organization. WHO Coronavirus (COVID-19) dashboard. Geneva: WHO; 2022 [cited 12 December 2022]. Available from: https://covid19.who.int/.
- 16. Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean. Latin America and the Caribbean lost nearly 3 years of life expectancy at birth between 2019 and 2021 as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. Santiago: ECLAC; 2022 [cited 19 December 2022]. Available from: https://www.cepal.org/en/notes/latin-america-and-caribbean-lost-nearly-3-years-life-expectancy-birth-between-2019-and-2021.
- 17. Sachs JD, Karim SSA, Aknin L, Allen J, Brosbøl K, Colombo F, et al. The Lancet Commission on lessons for the future from the COVID-19 pandemic. Lancet. 2022 Oct 8 [cited 6 December 2022];400(10359):1224–1280. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/36115368.
- Sirleaf EJ, Clark H. Report of the independent panel for pandemic preparedness and response: making COVID-19 the last pandemic. Lancet. 2021 Jul 12;398(10295):101–103. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/ S0140673621010953.
- 19. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, The World Bank. Health at a glance: Latin America and the Caribbean 2020. Paris: OECD; 2020 [cited 28 May 2022]. Available from: https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/social-issues-migration-health/health-at-a-glance-latin-america-and-the-caribbean-2020\_6089164f-en.
- 20. Mathieu E, Ritchie H, Rodés-Guirao L, Appel C, Giattino C, Hasell J, et al. Coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19). Oxford, United Kingdom: Our world in data; 2020. Available from: https://ourworldindata.org/coronavirus.
- 21. Pan American Health Organization. Mpox cases Region of the Americas. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2022 [cited 19 December 2022]. Available from: https://shiny.pahobra.org/monkeypox/.
- 22. Tanne JH. Polio emergency declared in New York State over virus found in wastewater. BMJ. 2022 Sep 12;o2211. Available from: https://www.bmj.com/lookup/doi/10.1136/bmj.o2211.
- 23. Pan American Health Organization. PAHO urges increased polio vaccination of children in the Americas. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2022 [cited 19 December 2022]. Available from: https://www.paho.org/en/news/23-2-2022-paho-urges-increased-polio-vaccination-children-americas.
- 24. Pan American Health Organization. Pan American Health Organization response to COVID-19 in the Americas. January– December 2020. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2021 May [cited 10 December 2022]. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/ handle/10665.2/54013.
- 25. Herrero MB, Oliveira BNL de. COVID-19 in Latin America and the Caribbean: the visible face of a regional health cooperation in crisis. Rev Bras Polit Int. 2022 Apr 22;65(1). Available from: http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci\_arttext&pid=S0034-73292022000100402&tlng=en.
- 26. Pan American Health Organization. Revolving Fund. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2022 [cited 19 December 2022]. Available from: https://www.paho.org/en/revolving-fund
- 27. Cucinotta D, Vanelli M. WHO declares COVID-19 a pandemic. Acta Biomed. 2020 [cited 19 December 2022];91(1):157–160. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32191675/.
- 28. World Health Organization. 2019 Novel Coronavirus (2019-nCoV): Strategic preparedness and response plan for COVID-19. Geneva: WHO; 2020 [cited 29 May 2022]. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/strategic-preparedness-and-response-plan-for-the-new-coronavirus.
- 29. Interview data: PAHO HQ. 2022.

30. Interview data: PAHO PWR. 2022.

- 31. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. COVID-19 in Latin America and the Caribbean: an overview of government responses to the crisis. Paris: OECD; 2020 Nov [cited 13 December 2022]. Available from: https://www.oecd.org/coronavirus/policy-responses/covid-19-in-latin-america-and-the-caribbean-an-overview-of-government-responses-to-the-crisis-0a2dee41/.
- 32. University of California San Francisco, Institute for Global Health Sciences. La respuesta de México al Covid-19: estudio de caso. San Francisco: UCSF; 2021. Available from: https://globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/globalhealthsciences.ucs
- 33. Garcia PJ, Alarcón A, Bayer A, Buss P, Guerra G, Ribeiro H, et al. COVID-19 response in Latin America. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2020 Nov 4;103(5):1765–1772. Available from: https://ajtmh.org/doi/10.4269/ajtmh.20-0765.
- 34. Burki T. COVID-19 in Latin America. Lancet Infect Dis. 2020 May 1;20(5):547–548. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1473309920303030.
- 35. Pan American Health Organization. Response to the COVID-19 pandemic in the Americas: response strategy and donor appeal. January–December 2021. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2021 [cited 10 December 2022]. Available from: https://iris. paho.org/handle/10665.2/53540.
- 36. World Health Organization. PAHO paving the way for COVID-19 vaccination in the Americas. Geneva: WHO; 2021 [cited 19 December 2022]. Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/feature-stories/detail/paho-paving-the-way-for-covid-19-vaccination-in-the-americas.
- 37. Pan American Health Organization. Guidelines to plan for COVID-19 vaccine introduction, Version 1, 10 July 2020. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/52532.
- 38. Pan American Health Organization. COVID-19 situation report, n.1 (31 March 2020). Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020 Mar [cited 12 December 2022]. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/52403.
- 39. Vélez CM, Aguilera B, Kapiriri L, Essue BM, Nouvet E, Sandman L, et al. An analysis of how health systems integrated priority-setting in the pandemic planning in a sample of Latin America and the Caribbean countries. Health Res Policy Syst. 2022 Dec 31;20(1):58. Available from: https://health-policy-systems.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12961-022-00861-y.
- Pan American Health Organization. OD366 Quinquennial report 2018–2022 of the director of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau: championing health equity for sustainable development. 30th Pan American Sanitary Conference, 26–30 Sep 2022. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2022. p. 228. Available from: https://www.paho.org/en/documents/od366quinquennial-report-2018-2022-director-pan-american-sanitary-bureau-championing.
- 41. Pan American Health Organization. Recommendations for reorganization and expansion of hospital services in response to COVID-19. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/52244.
- 42. Pan American Health Organization. PAHO/WHO response, report 55 (16 July 2021). Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2021. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/54588.
- 43. Hoxha K, Hung YW, Irwin BR, Grépin KA. Understanding the challenges associated with the use of data from routine health information systems in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review. Health Inf Manag J. 2022 Sep 30;51(3):135–148. Available from: http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/1833358320928729.
- 44. Pan American Health Organization. Report of the end-of-biennium assessment of the PAHO Program Budget 2020–2021/first interim report on the implementation of the PAHO Strategic Plan 2020–2025 [CE170/13]. 170th Session of the Executive Committee; 20–24 June 2022. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2022 [cited10 December 2022]. Available from: https://www.paho.org/sites/default/files/csp30-7-add-i-e-report-end-biennium\_0.pdf
- 45. COVID research: a year of scientific milestones. Nature. 2021 May 5 [cited 13 December 2022]. Available from: http://www.nature.com/articles/d41586-020-00502-w.
- 46. BMC. The role of the health research system during the COVID-19 epidemic: experiences, challenges and future vision. 2022. Available from: https://www.biomedcentral.com/collections/HRPSCovid.

- 47. World Health Organization. Global research on coronavirus disease (COVID-19). Geneva: WHO; 2022. Available from: https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/global-research-on-novel-coronavirus-2019-ncov.
- 48. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. COVID-19: science and research. Atlanta: CDC; 2022. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/science/science-and-research.html.
- 49. Pan American Health Organization. Pan American Health Organization response to COVID-19 up to 31 December 2021. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2022. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/56162.
- 50. Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean. Household surveys in Latin America: how did we face the pandemic? Santiago: ECLAC; 2022 Mar. Available from: https://www.cepal.org/sites/default/files/presentations/eclac-household-surveys-lac-covid19\_mar-2022.pdf.
- 51. United Nations Development Programme. Socio-economic impact of COVID-19. New York: UNDP; 2022. Available from: https://www.undp.org/coronavirus/socio-economic-impact-covid-19.
- 52. United Nations Children's Fund. COVID-19 response: resources and information about UNICEF's response to the COVID-19 pandemic. New York: UNICEF; 2022. Available from: https://www.unicef.org/coronavirus/covid-19.
- 53. Unruh L, Allin S, Marchildon G, Burke S, Barry S, Siersbaek R, et al. A comparison of 2020 health policy responses to the COVID-19 pandemic in Canada, Ireland, the United Kingdom and the United States of America. Health Policy (New York). 2022 May [cited 13 December 2022];126(5):427–437. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/ S016885102100169X.
- 54. Pan American Health Organization. Promoting health equity, gender and ethnic equality, and human rights in COVID-19 responses: key considerations. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/52058.
- 55. Pan American Health Organization. Considerations on Indigenous peoples, Afro-descendants, and other ethnic groups during the COVID-19 Pandemic, 4 June 2020. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/52251.
- 56. Pan American Health Organization. Guidance for implementing non pharmacological public health measures in populations in situations of vulnerability in the context of COVID-19. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020 [cited 10 December 2022]. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/53078.
- 57. Kavanagh MM, Norato LF, Friedman EA, Armbrister AN. Planning for health equity in the Americas: an analysis of national health plans. Rev Panam Salud Publica. 2021;45:e106. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/ handle/10665.2/53743.
- 58. Pan American Health Organization. Réponse de l'OPS dans la région. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2022. Available from: https://www.paho.org/fr/covid-19/reponse-ops-region.
- 59. Litchfield I, Shukla D, Greenfield S. Impact of COVID-19 on the digital divide: a rapid review. BMJ Open. 2021 Oct;11(10):e053440. Available from: https://bmjopen.bmj.com/lookup/doi/10.1136/bmjopen-2021-053440.
- 60. United Nations Children's Fund. Valoración en tiempo real de la respuesta de UNICEF a COVID-19 Argentina. New York: UNICEF; 2021.
- 61. Government of Jersey. Ask the Experts: Live Panel Session. 2021 [cited 13 December 2022]. Available from: https:// ne-np.facebook.com/GovernmentofJersey/videos/ask-the-experts-live-panel-session/639254247459488/?so=watchlist&r v=related\_videos.
- 62. World Food Programme. Contención de la propagación de la covid-19 en la región Áncash mediante el fortalecimiento del primer nivel de atención, rastreo de contactos y asistencia alimentaria (mayo a noviembre 2020). Rome: WFP; 2021.
- 63. Buss LF, Prete CA, Abrahim CMM, Mendrone A, Salomon T, de Almeida-Neto C, et al. Three-quarters attack rate of SARS-CoV-2 in the Brazilian Amazon during a largely unmitigated epidemic. Science. 2020;371(6526):288–292. Available from: https://www.science.org/doi/10.1126/science.abe9728.
- 64. World Health Organization. COVID-19 in Amazonia. Geneva: WHO; 2021. Available from: https://covid-19-inamazonia-who.hub.arcgis.com.

- 65. International Labour Organization. Who are domestic workers. Geneva: ILO; 2022. Available from: https://www.ilo.org/ global/topics/domestic-workers/who/lang--en/index.htm.
- 66. Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean. Social panorama of Latin America 2021. Santiago: ECLAC; 2022 [cited 19 December 2022]. Available from: https://oig.cepal.org/sites/default/files/social\_panorama\_ latam\_2021.pdf.
- 67. International Labour Organization. Impact of the COVID-19 crisis on loss of jobs and hours among domestic workers. Geneva: ILO; 2020. Available from: https://www.ilo.org/global/topics/domestic-workers/publications/factsheets/ WCMS\_747961/lang--en/index.htm.
- 68. Pan American Health Organization. COVID-19 pandemic disproportionately affected women in the Americas. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2022 [cited 13 December 2022]. Available from: https://www.paho.org/en/news/8-3-2022covid-19-pandemic-disproportionately-affected-women-americas.
- 69. Mascayano F, van der Ven E, Moro MF, Schilling S, Alarcón S, al Barathie J, et al. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the mental health of healthcare workers: study protocol for the COVID-19 HEalth caRe wOrkErS (HEROES) study. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. 2022 Mar 22;57:633–645. Available from: https://link.springer.com/10.1007/ s00127-021-02211-9.
- 70. Pan American Health Organization. Gendered health analysis: COVID-19 in the Americas. Washington, D.C.: 2021 [cited 13 December 2022]. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/55432.
- 71. Pan American Health Organization. COVID-19 health outcomes by sex in the Americas. From January 2020 to January 2021. Washington, D.C.: 2021 [cited 13 December 2022]. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/53372.
- 72. Pan American Health Organization. ANIMA: nueva serie de vídeos para reforzar las respuestas del sistema de salud a la violencia contra las mujeres. 2022 Jun 13. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2022 [cited 13 December 2022]. Available from: https://www.paho.org/es/noticias/13-6-2022-anima-nueva-serie-videos-para-reforzar-respuestas-sistema-salud-violencia-contra.
- 73. Pan American Health Organization. Health program of the Indigenous Peoples of the Americas. Action Plan 2005–2007. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2007. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/34128.
- 74. Laboratorio Etnográfico. Evaluación rápida de barreras de vacunación, en el marco del plan nacional de vacunación contra COVID-19 y la campaña de vacunación del Minsiterio de Salud Pública y Asistencia Social—MSPAS de Guatemala. Guatemala: Ministerio de Salud Pública y Asistencia Social; 2022.
- 75. World Health Organization. World report on the health of refugees and migrants. Geneva: WHO; 2022. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240054462.
- 76. Survey data: Kobo.
- 77. International Organization for Migration. Migrant inclusion in COVID-19 vaccination deployment Geneva: IOM; 2022 [cited 13 December 2022]. Available from: https://www.iom.int/sites/g/files/tmzbdl486/files/documents/iom-vaccine-inclusion-mapping-global-march-2022-external-final.pdf.
- 78. Pan American Health Organization. PAHO donates oxygen cylinders, oximeters, thermometers and COVID-19 diagnostic tests to the state of Amazonas and the municipality of Manaus. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2021. Available from: https://www.paho.org/en/news/1-2-2021-paho-donates-oxygen-cylinders-oximeters-thermometers-and-covid-19-diagnostic-tests.
- 79. Pan American Health Organization. Acceso a la vacuna contra el COVID-19 mediante el mecanismo COVAX. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020 [cited 13 December 2022]. Available from: https://www.paho.org/es/noticias/5-10-2020-acceso-vacuna-contra-covid-19-mediante-mecanismo-covax .
- Wouters OJ, Shadlen KC, Salcher-Konrad M, Pollard AJ, Larson HJ, Teerawattananon Y, et al. Challenges in ensuring global access to COVID-19 vaccines: production, affordability, allocation, and deployment. Lancet. 2021 Mar;397(10278):1023–1034. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0140673621003068.

- 81. ABC Color. Marito: "Covax no funcionó." Paraguay: ABC. 2021 Jul 26. Available from: https://www.abc.com.py/ nacionales/2021/07/26/marito-covax-no-funciono/.
- 82. Médecins Sans Frontières. COVAX: a broken promise for vaccine equity. Geneva: MSF; 2022. Available from: https:// www.doctorswithoutborders.org/latest/covax-broken-promise-vaccine-equity.
- 83. Lashley B. PAHO will begin procuring COVID-19 vaccines to expand access in Latin America and the Caribbean. Bridgetown: United Nations Barbados and the Eastern Caribbean; 2021 [cited 13 December 2022]. Available from: https://easterncaribbean.un.org/en/141499-paho-will-begin-procuring-covid-19-vaccines-expand-access-latin-americaand-caribbean.
- 84. Pan American Health Organization. Canada and PAHO join forces to advance COVID-19 vaccination of people in a situation of vulnerability across the Caribbean and Latin America. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2021 [cited 13 December 2022]. Available from: https://www.paho.org/en/news/27-5-2021-canada-and-paho-join-forces-advance-covid-19-vaccination-people-situation.
- 85. World Health Organization. Priorities for the health financing response to COVID-19. Geneva: WHO; 2020 [cited 13 December 2022]. Available from: https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/health-financing/health-financing-response-to-covid-19.pdf.
- 86. Pan American Health Organization. PAHO Incident Management System Team. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2022 [cited 19 December 2022]. Available from: https://www.paho.org/en/topics/health-emergency-and-disaster-preparedness.
- 87. Pan American Health Organization. Health and well-being. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2022 [cited 19 December 2022].
- 88. Pan American Health Organization. Current financial situation and adjustments to the Pan American Health Organization strategic priorities [Resolution CESS1.R2]. Special Session of the Executive Committee; 29 May 2020. Virtual session: Washington D.C.: PAHO; 2020 [cited 19 December 2022]. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/ handle/10665.2/52359.
- Pan American Health Organization. Emergency loan from the Revolving Fund for access to vaccines to the regional Revolving Fund for strategic public health supplies [Resolution CESS1.R1]. Special Session of the Executive Committee; 29 May 2020. Virtual session: Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020 [cited 19 December 2022]. Available from: https://iris. paho.org/handle/10665.2/52356.
- 90. Pan American Health Organization. Pan American Health Organization response to COVID-19 up to 31 December 2021. 2022 Jul 15. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2022 [cited 19 December 2022]. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/ handle/10665.2/56162.
- 91. Organization of American States. Post COVID-19: OAS Portal for Consultations, Forums and Repository. Washington, D.C.: OAS; 2022 [cited 19 December 2022]. Available from: https://www.oas.org/ext/en/main/covid-19/Repository/ acat/1/tag/inter-american-development-bank.
- 92. Interview data: PAHO Donor. 2022.
- Greiner AL, Nguyen L, Shamout M, Krishnan S, Stowell D. COVID-19 intra-action reviews: potential for a sustained response plan. Lancet Glob Health. 2021 May;9(5):e594. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/ S2214109X21000784.
- 94. Pan American Health Organization. Entender la infodemia y la desinformación en la lucha contra la COVID-19. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020 [cited 5 December 2022]. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/bitstream/ handle/10665.2/52053/Factsheet-Infodemic\_spa.pdf.
- 95. Pan American Health Organization. Preocupaciones, actitudes y prácticas previstas de los trabajadores de salud con respecto a la vacunación contra la COVID-19 en el Caribe. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2021 [cited 5 December 2022]. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/55100.
- 96. World Health Organization. Global surveillance for COVID-19 caused by human infection with COVID-19 virus: interim guidance, 27 February 2020. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/ 10665/331231.

- 97. Pan American Health Organization. Considerations for the implementation and management of contact tracing for coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) in the Region of the Americas. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020 Jun 2 [cited 19 December 2022]. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/52384.
- 98. Pan American Health Organization. COVID-19 and comorbidities in the Americas: hands-on tool to estimate the population at increased and high risk of severe COVID-19 due to underlying health conditions for the Americas. Washington, D.C.: 2021 [cited 19 December 2022]. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/53254.
- 99. Pan American Health Organization. Considerations on the adjustments of social distancing and travel-related measures in the context of the response to COVID-19 pandemic, 24 April 2020. Washington, D.C.: 2020. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/52407.
- 100. World Health Organization. Technical considerations for implementing a risk-based approach to international travel in the context of COVID-19: interim guidance, 2 July 2021. Geneva: WHO; 2021. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/WHO-2019-nCoV-Risk-based-international-travel-2021.1.
- 101. Leite JA, Gresh L, Vicari A, Gabastou JM, Perez E, Aldighieri S, et al. COVID-19 laboratory preparedness and response in the Americas Region: lessons learned. Simuunza MC, editor. PLoS One. 2021 Jun 29;16(6):e0253334. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0253334.
- 102. Pan American Health Organization. Strategy on regional genomic surveillance for epidemic and pandemic preparedness and response. 30th Pan American Sanitary Conference, 26–30 September 2022. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2022 [cited 19 December 2022]. Available from: https://www.paho.org/sites/default/files/csp30-r9-e-regional-genomic-surveillance\_0.pdf.
- 103. Pan American Health Organization. COVID-19 therapeutic options. Virtual Health Library. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2022 [cited 19 December 2022]. Available from: https://covid-therapy.bvsalud.org/.
- 104. World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe. Self-assessment tool for the evaluation of essential public health operations in the WHO European Region. Copenhagen: WHO; 2015 [cited 10 December 2022]. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/344398.
- 105. Pan American Health Organization. Ongoing living update of potential COVID-19 therapeutics options: summary of evidence. Rapid review. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2022 [cited 13 December 2022]. Available from: https://iris.paho. org/handle/10665.2/52719.
- 106. Pan American Health Organization. Response to the COVID-19 pandemic in the Americas: response strategy and donor appeal. January–December 2021. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2021 [cited 19 December 2022]. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/53540.
- 107. Politi D. With rich countries paying more for vaccines, the supply for Latin America is falling short, the W.H.O. says. The New York Times, 6 October 2021[cited 10 December 2022]. Available from: https://www.nytimes. com/2021/10/06/world/americas/covax-vaccine-latin-america.html.
- 108. United Nations Children's Fund. COVID-19 market dashboard. Statistics. New York: UNICEF; 2022 [cited 10 December 2022]. Available from: https://www.unicef.org/supply/covid-19-market-dashboard.
- 109. Usher AD. A beautiful idea: how COVAX has fallen short. Lancet. 2021 Jun;397(10292):2322–2325. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0140673621013672.
- 110. Mathieu E, Ritchie H, Ortiz-Ospina E, Roser M, Hasell J, Cameron A, et al. A global database of COVID-19 vaccinations. Nat Hum Behav. 2021;5:947–953. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01122-8.
- 111. Global Change Data Lab. COVID-19 vaccine doses donated to COVAX. Our World in Data. 2022 [cited 19 December 2022]. Available from: https://ourworldindata.org/grapher/covax-donations?country=+FRA~ESP~SWE~USA~CAN~NO R~NZL~GBR~DNK~CHE.
- 112. Pan American Health Organization. Summary of the status of national immunization programs during the COVID-19 pandemic, July 2020. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020 [cited 10 December 2022]. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/ handle/10665.2/52544.

- 113. Pan American Health Organization. Statement of assessed contributions due from member states, participating states and associate members as of 3 November 2022. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2022. Available from: https://www.paho. org/en/file/119102/download?token=YVoXk8Pk.
- 114. Pan American Health Organization. Annual report of the director of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau 2021. Working through the COVID-19 pandemic. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2021 [cited 10 December 2022]. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/54909.
- 115. World Health Organization. WHO SAGE values framework for the allocation and prioritization of COVID-19 vaccination. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/who-sage-values-framework-for-the-allocation-and-prioritization-of-covid-19-vaccination.
- 116. Báscolo E, Houghton N, del Riego A, Fitzgerald J, Jarboe R. Aportes del nuevo marco para las funciones esenciales de salud pública a la lucha contra la pandemia de COVID-19. Rev Panam Salud Publica. 2022 Aug 17;46:e8. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/56237.
- 117. Tetelboin Henrion C, Iturrieta Henríquez D, Schor-Landman C. América Latina sociedad, política y salud en tiempos de pandemias. Serie Estado, políticas públicas y ciudadanía. Buenos Aires: CLACSO; 2021 [cited 19 December 2022]. Available from: http://biblioteca.clacso.edu.ar/clacso/gt/20210312065632/America-Latina-Sociedad-politica-y-salud.pdf.
- 118. World Health Organization. Third round of the global pulse survey on continuity of essential health services during the COVID-19 pandemic: November–December 2021– interim report. Geneva: WHO; 2022. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/WHO-2019-nCoV-EHS\_continuity-survey-2022.1.
- 119. World Health Organization. Tracking continuity of essential health services during the COVID-19 pandemic. Global pulse survey on continuity of essential health services during the COVID-pandemic dashboard. Geneva: WHO; 2021 [cited 10 December 2022]. Available from: https://www.who.int/teams/integrated-health-services/monitoring-health-services/global-pulse-survey-on-continuity-of-essential-health-services-during-the-covid-19-pandemic/dashboard.
- 120. Pan American Health Organization. Financial report of the director and report of the external auditor. 1 January 2021–31 December 2021. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2022. Available from: https://doi.org/10.37774/9789275173657.
- 121. Pan American Health Organization. Financial report of the director and report of the external auditor. 1 January 2020– 31 December 2020. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2021. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/54488.
- 122. Interview data: PAHO Counterparts. 2022.
- 123. Pan American Health Organization. 15th session of the Subcommittee on Program, Budget, and Administration of the Executive Committee; 24–26 March 2021. Virtual session. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2021 [cited 10 December 2022]. Available from: https://www.paho.org/en/governing-bodies/subcommittee-program-budget-and-administration/15th-session-subcommittee-program.
- 124. Pan American Health Organization. Report No. 03/21, July 2021: Lessons learned from the PASB's recent telework experience. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2021.
- 125. Pan American Health Organization. Report of the Office of Internal Audit for 2021. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2022. Available from: https://www.paho.org/sites/default/files/ce170-23-e-report-office-audit-2021\_0.pdf.
- 126. Survey data: Gallup and Kobo.
- 127. Pan American Health Organization. Human resources management in the Pan American Sanitary Bureau. 170th Session of the Executive Committee; 20–24 June 2022. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2022.
- 128. Ugarte C, Alcala PA, Mauvernay J. Political will, coordination, and planning: key components for strengthening national response to public health emergencies and disasters in Latin America and the Caribbean countries. Am J Public Health. 2018 Sep;108(S3):S209–211. Available from: https://ajph.aphapublications.org/doi/full/10.2105/ AJPH.2018.304639.
- 129. Pan American Health Organization. PAHO/WHO report in the response to pandemic (H1N1) 2009. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2010.

- 130. Durski KN, Osterholm M, Majumdar SS, Nilles E, Bausch DG, Atun R. Shifting the paradigm: using disease outbreaks to build resilient health systems. BMJ Glob Health. 2020 May 17;5(5):e002499. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2020-002499.
- 131. Pan American Health Organization. Strategy for building resilient health systems and post-COVID-19 pandemic recovery to sustain and protect public health gains. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2022. Available from: https://iris.paho. org/handle/10665.2/55858.
- 132. Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean. Fiscal panorama of Latin America and the Caribbean 2021: fiscal policy challenges for transformative recovery post-COVID-19. Santiago: ECLAC; 2021. Available from: https://www.cepal.org/en/publications/46809-fiscal-panorama-latin-america-and-caribbean-2021-fiscal-policy-challenges.
- 133. López J. Daniel Ortega debe acatar recomendaciones de la OPS/OMS ante el Coronavirus. Onda Local. 2020 Mar 19 [cited 31 October 2022]. Available from: https://ondalocalni.com/noticias/853-luis-almaro-coronavirus-daniel-ortega-nicaragua/.
- 134. MiMorelia.com. OPS recomienda a México posponer elecciones ante Covid-19. 2021 [cited 31 October 2022]. Available from: https://mimorelia.com/noticias/ops-recomienda-a-mexico-posponer-elecciones-ante-covid-19.
- 135. World Health Organization. Consideraciones de salud pública relativas a las elecciones y actividades conexas en el contexto de la pandemia de COVID-19: orientaciones provisionales, 10 de diciembre de 2020. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2021 Dec [cited 31 October 2022]. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/340017.
- 136. Jones Jr R. PAHO suggests election rallies, rather than voting process presents more risk for COVID transmission. Nassau: Eyewitness News; 2021 [cited 31 October 2022]. Available from: https://ewnews.com/paho-suggests-electionrallies-rather-than-voting-process-presents-more-risk-for-covid-transmission.
- 137. Sullivan M, Meyer P. Latin America and the Caribbean: impact of COVID-19. Congressional Research Service. 2022 May 4 [cited 28 May 2022]. Available from: https://sgp.fas.org/crs/row/IF11581.pdf.
- 138. Seraj Ahmad FN, Khor SK, Lim J, Roth S, Dewi S, Becerra F. Southeast Asia needs a revolving fund for vaccines. Lancet Glob Health. 2022 Nov;10(11):e1557–1558. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/ S2214109X22004065.
- 139. Pan American Health Organization. Strategic Fund Annual report 2020. Ensuring access to essential medicines and public health supplies while supporting the COVID-19 response. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2021. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/54292.
- 140. Lal A, Lim C, Almeida G, Fitzgerald J. Minimizing COVID-19 disruption: ensuring the supply of essential health products for health emergencies and routine health services. Lancet Reg Health Am. 2022 Feb;6:100129. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34909753.
- 141. Pan American Health Organization. Pan American Health Organization response to COVID-19 in the Americas. 17 January to 31 May 2020. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2022 [cited 29 October 2022]. Available from: https://iris. paho.org/handle/10665.2/52453.
- 142. Georgetown University Center for Latin American Studies. Pan American Health Organization. Latin America and Caribbean COVID-19 map. Washington, D.C.: LACCOM; 2021 [cited 31 October 2022]. Available from: https://laccom.georgetown.domains/paho/.
- 143. Pan American Health Organization. Pan American Health Organization response to COVID-19 January–June 2022. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2022. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/56261.
- 144. World Health Organization. Emergency response framework (ERF). 2nd edition. Geneva: WHO; 2017 [cited 10 December 2022]. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241512299.
- 145. Survey data: Gallup.

- 146. Secretaría de Salud Mexicana. Secretaría de Salud diseña sistema electrónico para registro de personas que se aplicarán vacuna contra COVID-19. 31 January 2021 [cited 10 December 2022]. Available from: https://www.gob.mx/ salud/prensa/042-secretaria-de-salud-disena-sistema-electronico-para-registro-de-personas-que-se-aplicaran-vacuna-contra-covid-19?idiom=es.
- 147. World Food Programme. United Nations Humanitarian Response Depot (UNHRD). Rome: WFP; 2022. Available from: https://www.wfp.org/unhrd.
- 148. World Health Organization. List of National Regulatory Authorities (NRAs) operating at maturity level 3 (ML3) and maturity level 4 (ML4). Geneva: WHO; 2022. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/list-of-nras-operating-at-ml3-and-ml4.
- 149. Pan American Health Organization. The Constitution of the Pan American Health Organization. Washington, D.C.: PAHO: 1991. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/45985.
- 150. Comisión Interamericana de Mujeres y Organización de Estados Americanos. COVID-19 en la vida de las mujeres: razones para reconocer los impactos diferenciados. Washington, D.C.: CIM; 2020. Available from: https://www.oas. org/es/cim/docs/ArgumentarioCOVID19-ES.pdf.

The report on the evaluation of the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO) response to the COVID-19 pandemic in the Region of the Americas reflects the findings that covered the period from January 2020 to August 2022. It provides information on PAHO's support to its Member States in accordance with the World Health Organization COVID-19 Strategic Preparedness and Response Plan. The data collected during the evaluation was consolidated and analyzed at strategic, organizational, and operational levels. It focuses on PAHO as an organization, and whilst it does not assess Member States' responses to the pandemic, it provides information on how PAHO collaborated with and supported Member States during the response.

In addition to presenting information related to the COVID-19 pandemic in the Americas and PAHO's programmatic response, the report provides information on key achievements, on the enabling and limiting factors, gaps and lessons that have emerged from PAHO's response to COVID-19 pandemic, which serve to inform preparedness for and response to future public health emergencies. Finally, evidence-based recommendations are provided for corrective actions to strengthen future pandemic responses, while building a resilient recovery in the Region. These recommendations are focused on PAHO's governance and management, specialized regional mechanisms, diversified funding models, and use of new technologies.





World Health World Health Organization

